
 

Ffon/Tel: 01656 643643 Facs/Fax:01656 668126  Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk 

Negeseuon SMS/SMS Messaging: 07581 157014 Twitter@bridgendCBC  Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Test relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croseawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod I ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich dewis 
iaith. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 
 Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       

Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Gwener, 4 Medi 2025 

 
Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES 
(PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL) 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, Iechyd a Lles 
(Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Pwnc 2 yn Flaenorol) H Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion 
mynychu trwy Siambr y Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell 
Trwy Timau Microsoft.  ar Dydd Iau, 11 Medi 2025 am 10:00. 
 
AGENDA 
1 Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 

 
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2 Datganiadau o fuddiant 
 

Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion 
5 - 10 

I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 09/07/2025 
 

4 Adroddiad Blynyddol Drafft y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 2024-25 
11 - 88 

Gwahoddwyr: 
 
Y Cynghorydd Jane Gebbie - Dirprwy Arweinydd / Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol, Iechyd a Llesiant 

  

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


 
Claire Marchant - Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
 
Kelvin Barlow - Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol i Oedolion 
Laura Kinsey - Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol I Blant 
Sophie Moore - Rheolwr Grŵp – Atal a Lles    
Pete Tyson - Rheolwr Grŵp - Comisiynu   
Debbie Morgan – Rheolwr Grŵp, Strategaeth Busnes, Perfformiad a Gwella 
 

5 Adroddiad Blynyddol Sylwadau a Chwynion Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 2024-25 
89 - 124 

Gwahoddwyr: 
 
Y Cynghorydd Jane Gebbie - Dirprwy Arweinydd / Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol, Iechyd a Llesiant 
 
Claire Marchant - Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
 
Kelvin Barlow - Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol i Oedolion 
Laura Kinsey - Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol I Blant 
Debbie Morgan – Rheolwr Grŵp, Strategaeth Busnes, Perfformiad a Gwella 
 

6 Casgliadau ac Argymhellion
 

 
7 Diweddariad ar Raglen Waith

125 - 140 
 

8 Materion Brys 
 

I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn y 
dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â Rhan 4 (pharagraff 4) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cyngor yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

Nodyn:  Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion mynychu trwy Siambr y 
Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell Trwy Timau Microsoft. 
Bydd y cyfarfod cael ei recordio i’w drosglwyddo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  Os oes gennych unrhyw 
gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643159 
 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 
Dosbarthiad: 
 
Cynghorwr: 
S Aspey 
F D Bletsoe 
S J Bletsoe 
C Davies 
S Easterbrook 
P Ford 
GC Haines 
D M Hughes 



RM James 
P W Jenkins 
W J Kendall 
M Lewis 
J Llewellyn-Hopkins 
R Williams 



This page is intentionally left blank



PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES (PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL)  

 

This document is available in English / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg 
 

COFNODION CYFARFOD Y PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLESIANT 
(PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 GYNT) A GYNHALIWYD YN HYBRID YN SIAMBR Y CYNGOR – Y SWYDDFEYDD 
DINESIG, STRYD YR ANGEL, PEN-Y-BONT AR OGWR, CF31 4WB  AR DYDD MERCHER, 9 GORFFENNAF 2025 AM 10:00 
 
 

Presennol 
 

Y Cynghorydd F D Bletsoe – Cadeirydd  
 
C Davies GC Haines D M Hughes  
 
 

Presennol – O Bell  
 
S Aspey S J Bletsoe S Easterbrook P Ford 
M Lewis R Williams   
 
 
Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb 
 
RM James, P W Jenkins, W J Kendall and J Llewellyn-Hopkins 
 
 
Gwahoddedigion: 
 
Y Cynghorydd Jane Gebbie  Dirprwy Arweinydd / Aelod Cabinet dros Wasanaethau    
  
Claire Marchant Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles 
Kelvin Barlow   Pennaeth Gofal Cymdeithasol i Oedolion 
Michelle King    Rheolwr Grŵp – Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Cymunedol Integredig 
Jason Howells 
 
Matt Jenkins     Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Integredig Rhanbarthol Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
Julie Denley  Cyfarwyddwr, Gofal Sylfaenol, Iechyd Cymunedol a Meddwl – Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES (PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL)  

 

This document is available in English / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg 
 

 
Swyddogion: 
 
Meryl Lawrence Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Craffu 
Jessica Mclellan Swyddog Craffu 
 
 
Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb 
 
Dim.  
 
 

36. Cymeradwyo’r Cofnodion 
 

 

Y Penderfyniad Wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD:  
 
Cymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu ar Bwnc 2 dyddiedig 1 Mai 2025 fel 
cofnod gwir a chywir. 
 

Dyddiad Gwneud y Penderfyniad 
 

9 Gorffennaf 2025 

 
 

37. Cytundeb Partneriaeth Rhanbarthol 
 

 

Y Penderfyniad Wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD:  
 
Yn dilyn ystyriaeth a thrafodaethau manwl gydag Aelod o’r Cabinet, Swyddogion a gwahoddedigion, 
gwnaeth y Pwyllgor yr argymhellion canlynol ynghyd â cheisiadau am wybodaeth ychwanegol: 
 
Argymhellion: 
  

1. Ailadroddodd y Pwyllgor yr argymhelliad a wnaed ganddo ar 1 Mai 2025, gan fynegi pryder 
ynghylch nifer yr acronymau a ddefnyddir mewn adroddiadau sy'n achosi rhwystr i ddarllenwyr 
rhag deall adroddiadau yn llawn a'r termau a gynhwysir ynddynt, ac argymhellodd y dylai 

P
age 6



PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES (PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL)  

 

This document is available in English / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg 
 

adroddiadau yn y dyfodol gynnwys rhestr esboniadol o dalfyriadau i gynorthwyo'r Pwyllgor a'r 
cyhoedd. At hynny, argymhellodd y Pwyllgor y dylid ysgrifennu adroddiadau mewn Cymraeg 
plaen gan osgoi iaith ddianghenraid o gymhleth. 
 

2. Mynegodd y Pwyllgor bryder ynghylch nifer y lefelau o lywodraethu a nodir yn Ffigur 2 y Cytundeb 
gan bwysleisio sut y byddai'n golygu cyfarfodydd lluosog o'r un bobl ac argymhellodd y dylid 
ystyried gostwng nifer y lefelau ac, yn benodol, cael gwared ar y Bwrdd Arweinyddiaeth 
Integredig.  

 
Fodd bynnag, o ystyried y gallai llais defnyddiwr y gwasanaeth fynd ar goll pe câi lefel 
lywodraethu'r Bwrdd Arweinyddiaeth Integredig ei dileu, argymhellodd y Pwyllgor y dylid ymdrin 
â hyn mewn lefel arall o lywodraethu. 
 

3. Mynegodd y Pwyllgor bryder, er gwaethaf dibynnu ar randdeiliaid eraill, nad oedd llawer o 
gyfeiriad at sefydliadau trydydd sector a gwirfoddol yn y Cytundeb, a chafodd ei gynghori 
ynghylch yr heriau posibl o ddenu cyllid pe na cheid cyfeiriad atynt. Felly, argymhellodd y 
Pwyllgor y dylid disgrifio sefydliadau’r trydydd sector a’r sefydliadau gwirfoddol yn llawn yn y 
Cytundeb. 
 

4. Mynegodd y Pwyllgor bryder bod ‘Allbwn’ wedi cymryd lle ‘Canlyniadau’ yn y Fframwaith 
Canlyniadau a Pherfformiad a Mesur (Atodiad 1) ac argymhellodd y dylid mynd i’r afael â hyn er 
mwyn sicrhau bod yr ystyr yn gliriach. 
 

5. Roedd y Pwyllgor yn cydnabod y gwaith arloesol a thrawsnewidiol sy'n digwydd yng 
Nghyfarwyddiaeth y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles a bod model cyflawni'r Tîm Adnoddau 
Cymunedol yn cael ei efelychu fel arfer gorau ar draws yr awdurdodau lleol eraill yn y rhanbarth 
ac argymhellodd y dylid anfon llythyr at y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol yn cydnabod y gwaith ac yn 
diolch iddi hi a'i thîm. 
 

Gwybodaeth Ychwanegol y Gofynnwyd Amdani: 
 

6. Gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am i wybodaeth ynghylch y diwrnod gwybodaeth i Aelodau, sy’n cael ei 
drefnu gan y Bartneriaeth Ranbarthol ac sy’n tynnu sylw at y trefniadau gwaith rhanbarthol, gael ei 
rhannu gyda'r Aelodau unwaith y bydd y diwrnod wedi cael ei drefnu.  
 

P
age 7



PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES (PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL)  

 

This document is available in English / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg 
 

7. Gofynnodd yr Aelodau am i'r sleidiau PowerPoint a'r fideo a rannwyd gyda'r Pwyllgor yn ystod y 
cyfarfod gael eu rhannu gyda'r Aelodau.  
 

8. Gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am yr astudiaethau achos oedd yn dangos osgoi mynd i'r ysbyty mewn 
achosion o anghenion cymhleth a’r pryderon diogelu y cyfeiriwyd atynt gan y Rheolwr Grŵp – 
Gwasanaethau Cymunedol Integredig – Rhwydweithiau Cymunedol.  

 
9. Gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am fanylion aelodaeth y Bwrdd Arweinyddiaeth Integredig.  

 

Dyddiad Gwneud y Penderfyniad 
 

9 Gorffennaf 2025 

 
 

38. Adroddiad Enwebu Hyrwyddwr Rhianta Corfforaethol  
 

 

Y Penderfyniad Wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD:  
 
Enwebu’r Cynghorydd Della Hughes i gynrychioli Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu y Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol, Iechyd a Lles fel un wedi ei gwahodd i gyfarfodydd Pwyllgor y Cabinet ar Rianta 
Corfforaethol. 
 

Dyddiad Gwneud y Penderfyniad 
 

9 Gorffennaf 2025 

 
 

39. Diweddariad y Flaenraglen Waith  
 

 

Y Penderfyniad Wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD:  
 
Cymeradwyodd y Pwyllgor y Flaenraglen Waith (RhG) ddrafft yn Atodiad A yn amodol ar gynnwys yr 
argymhellion isod, nododd y Daflen Weithredu Monitro Argymhellion yn Atodiad B a nododd yr adroddid 
am y Flaenraglen Waith wrth gyfarfod nesaf y Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Corfforaethol er gwybodaeth 
ynghyd â rhai'r Pwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu eraill, yn dilyn eu hystyried yn y cylch hwn o gyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor. 
 

P
age 8



PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU GWASANAETHAU CYMDEITHASOL, IECHYD A LLES (PWYLLGOR TROSOLWG A CHRAFFU PWNC 2 YN FLAENOROL)  

 

This document is available in English / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg 
 

1. Gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am i’r Cytundeb Partneriaeth Rhanbarthol gael ei ychwanegu at ei 
Flaenraglen Waith i'w adolygu ymhen 12 mis. 
 

Dyddiad Gwneud y Penderfyniad 
 

9 Gorffennaf 2025 

 
40. Eitemau Brys 

 
 

Y Penderfyniad Wnaed 
 

Dim. 

Dyddiad Gwneud y Penderfyniad 
 

9 Gorffennaf 2025 

 
 
Er mwyn gwylio trafodaeth bellach a gynhaliwyd ynghylch yr eitemau uchod, cliciwch ar y ddolen yma os gwelwch yn dda 
  
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 12:40.  
 

P
age 9

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=395&MId=4752


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
11 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
DRAFT SOCIAL SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 

WELLBEING 

Responsible 
Officer:  

   
DEBBIE MORGAN 

GROUP MANAGER, BUSINESS STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE & IMPROVEMENT 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 
Procedure Rules. 

 

Executive 
Summary:  
 
 
 

The Social Services Annual Report 2024-25 is a statutory 
requirement providing the Council, the people of Bridgend 
County Borough, regulators and partners with an overview 
of the effectiveness of Social Services and Wellbeing in the 
county borough in the last year.  
 
The report reflects on 2024-25, highlighting achievements 
and challenges whilst outlining priorities for 2025-26. New 
report guidance has been introduced for the reporting  year, 
with performance being assessed across the 4 areas of 
People, Prevention, Partnership and Integration and Well-
being, with each area focusing on 2 quality standards. 
 
As well as the performance assessment section of the report, 
it also includes a Director’s summary, information on 
leadership, workforce, inspections and reviews and 
complaints and representations. 

 
The report highlights our key risks and financial resources 
noting the key challenges and pressures the Directorate 
and the Council face to deliver statutory services in 
fulfilling its statutory social services and wellbeing duties 
for the people of the county borough. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the draft Social Services Annual Report 2024-

25 (Appendix 1) to the Committee for scrutiny of its contents including analysis of 
performance, actions completed, impact made, areas for improvement and  priorities 
for 2025-26. This is an opportunity for pre-scrutiny prior to approval by Council on 
24th September 2025. 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 Following the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

(SSWBA), Welsh Government developed a performance framework which aimed to 
ensure local authorities report on and performance evaluate against the well-being 
outcomes of the SSWBA. The Act seeks to do this by: 

 

• transforming the way in which social services are delivered, primarily through 
promoting people’s independence and giving them a strong voice and control,  

• promoting partnership working; and 

• enhancing the preventative role of social care and health, setting out 
overarching well-being duties to reduce or delay the need for care and support. 

 
2.2 Initial guidance for the Social Services Annual Report was published in 2017, 

however, to reflect developments since 2017, including the new Performance 
Management Framework, as well as feedback from local authorities and 
stakeholders, in May 2024, Welsh Government and the Association of the Directors 
of Social Services Cymru issued the “ Local Authority Social Services Annual Report 
(Director’s Report) Guidance”.  

 
2.3 This new guidance comes into effect in 2025. This means reports reflecting the 2024-

25 financial year will need to follow the new guidance. The new guidance clearly sets 
out what is to be included in the report and how Welsh Government will measure 
performance. 

 
 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 As outlined in the Annual Report Guidance, the SSWBA requires local authorities, 

health boards and Welsh Ministers to promote the well-being of people who need 
care and support and carers who need support. It further adds that the Act seeks to 
ensure: 

 

• People have control over what support they need, making decisions about their 

support as an equal partner. 

• There is proportionate assessment that focuses on the individual.  

• Carers have an equal right to an assessment for support to those they care for.  

• Easy access to information and advice is available to all.  

• Arrangements to safeguard people are stronger.  

• A preventative approach to care and support needs.  

• Local authorities and health boards work in partnership to drive integration, 

innovation and service change including new forms of provision. 

Page 12



 

 

3.2 Welsh Government has now made the Annual Report an integral part of the 
Performance Improvement Framework, which focuses on eight quality standards 
under the four key areas of people, prevention, partnership and integration and 
wellbeing as noted in Table 1. These areas are addressed in the performance 
assessment section of the report with previous guidance measuring performance 
under six quality standards. 

 
Table 1 

 

Area Quality Standards  

1. People 1. All people are equal partners who have choice, voice 

and control over their lives and are able to achieve what 

matters to them. 

2. Effective leadership is evident at all levels with a highly 

skilled well qualified and supported workforce working 

towards a shared vision. 

2. Prevention 3. The need for care and support is minimised and the 

escalation of need is prevented whilst ensuring that the 

best outcomes for people are achieved. 

4. Resilience within communities is promoted and people 

are supported to fulfil their potential by actively 

supporting people who need care and/or support 

including carers to learn develop and participate in 

society. 

3. Partnership and 
Integration 

5. Effective partnerships are in place to commission and 

fully deliver fully integrated, high quality sustainable 

outcomes for people. 

6. People are encouraged to be involved in the design and 

delivery of their care and support as equal partners. 

4. Well-being 7. People are protected and safeguarded from abuse and 

neglect and any other types of harm. 

8. People are supported to actively manage their well-

being and make their own decisions so that they are able 

to achieve their full potential and live independently for 

as long as possible. 

 
 
3.3  The Annual Report Guidance gives clear instruction on how to structure the report 

and highlights the key areas to focus on, which as well as the eight quality standards 
within section 3 of the report, also includes key information on leadership, the 
workforce, financial resources, inspections and reviews as well as complaints and 
representations.  

 
3.4  The report must begin with a Director’s summary focusing on the following areas: 
 

Page 13



 

 

• main achievements. 

• key risks and challenges. 

• priorities and overarching objectives for 2025-26. 

 
3.5 Throughout the report there is evidence of key service developments made 

throughout the reporting year, the impact made and how we have engaged with the 
people that access our services. Examples of achievements included in the Director’s 
summary note: 

 

• a strengthened and stabilised workforce. 

• further embedding of the “signs of safety” practice model in Children and Family 

Services and the “outcomes focused, strengths based” practice model in Adult 

Social Care. 

• integration of the early help and edge of care services. 

• the remodelling of care and support at home. 

• the range of services provided by our prevention and wellbeing service to support 

people within a community setting. 

3.6 The most significant risks the Directorate faces and how they will be mitigated are 
also included in the Director’s summary. Examples include: 

 

• the increasing complexity of need linked to an aging population. 

• ensuring sufficient provision of care and support, including placement sufficiency 

for care experienced children. 

• the impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill 2025 and the challenging 

timescales and financial implications of the removal of profit for children’s social 

care. 

• the replacement of the current social services digital case management system. 

• increased pressures on our partners. 

3.7 Whilst specific priorities are noted in the performance assessment section, under the 
four areas of people, prevention, partnerships and integration and well-being; the 
directorate’s strategic priorities for 2025-26 are outlined in the Director’s summary: 

 

• Supporting workforce wellbeing, retention and recruitment to continue to achieve 

a highly motivated, well supported skilled workforce. 

• Embedding our models of practice and using our quality assurance and learning 

and development programmes to address variation in quality. 

• Enhancing our prevention, early intervention and edge of care services to support 

more people to live independently and well and for children to live safely with their 

own families. 

• Embedding our operating models in adults, children and families and prevention 

and wellbeing which have early help and prevention at their core. 

• Hearing and acting upon the voice of the people we work with and alongside. 

• Addressing deficits in the sufficiency of services, particularly children’s not for 

profit residential and fostering services and supported living, shared lives and 

extra care for adults. 

Page 14



 

 

• Understanding better current and future needs and projections for social services 

and wellbeing services, including the impact of new legislation and demographics, 

to align service and financial plans which mean we are as best placed as possible 

to achieve sustainable social services at a cost affordable to the Council. 

• Investing in partnerships with other public services, the third sector and 

community groups to improve outcomes for individuals and families in the most 

effective and cost effective way. 

• Implementing a new digital system which will modernise the way our workforce 

practice, whilst we support them to prepare for social care being at the fore of the 

Council’s digital strategy. 

3.8 It is important to note that all priorities are reflected in the Directorate’s 2025-26 
business plan and link to our 3-year strategic plans (“Think Family” in Children and 
Family Services” and “Building on Strengths, Improving Lives’ in Adult Social Care). 

 
3.9  In developing the Annual Report, engagement and consultation activity has taken 

place via a number of channels including People First Bridgend, the Bridgend Youth  
Forum, domiciliary care community meetings and the social services complaints and 
compliments process.  It is important the voice of the people we work with is heard 
so that areas of good practice are shared and areas for improvement addressed.  

 
3.10 Finally, it is important to note that the report acknowledges the support of the whole 

Council, our partners in South Wales Police, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health 
Board (CTMUHB) and other statutory partners, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg regional 
partnership, our cultural and leisure partners; Awen and Halo, and other third sector 
partners. It also pays tribute to the exceptional commitment to the most vulnerable 
people across the borough and the professionalism and commitment of the workforce 
across both statutory and preventative services. 

 
3.11 As a part of this process, accessibility checks have been completed on the current 

draft design which have identified a few areas of the design that require amendments 
in preparation for publishing. This will be completed with the designer following leave. 
These will not affect the content of the report. 

 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
            
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the SSWBA, supports the 

promotion of two of the seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015. By promoting an environment that maximises people’s physical and mental 
well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and their carers and 

Page 15



 

 

families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, the well-being goals 
of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to demonstrate how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals 
have been considered in this report. 

 

• Long Term: Social Services is needs led and the SSWBA focusses on 
sustainable prevention and well-being outcomes for the future. There is a 
requirement to meet the needs of people in the longer term and, due to increased 
contacts, rising demographics and increasing complexity, the continued 
improvement and transformation of services remains a priority. The prevention 
section of the report demonstrates how we are thinking long tern by supporting 
resilient communities. For example, our prevention and wellbeing service and 
their partners are ensuing people are connected to their communities and that 
carers have a range of support and services they can access to support them in 
their caring role. 
 

• Prevention:  The report highlights developments by the directorate in line with the 
SSWBA with the new guidance focussing on prevention as one of its 4 key areas 
for performance assessment. Key examples noted in report include the integration 
of early help and edge of care services in Children and Family Services providing 
timely support to prevent intervention by statutory services. In Adult Social Care 
the remodelling of the care and support at home service has enabled a more 
effective response to need to support people in maintaining their independence. 

 

• Integration: The implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to work 
with partners to ensure care and support for people and support for carers is 
provided with another area of the performance assessment section focusing on 
partnership and integration. Key examples included in the report note how the 
Integrated Cluster Network Teams in Adult Social care work jointly with CTMUHB 
to deliver and adapt services to people within the community. The Multi-agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) co-locates adult and children safeguarding and 
partners from police, health, education and probation. The prevention and 
wellbeing service work with third sector partners HALO and AWEN to deliver 
cultural, leisure and wellbeing services across the borough 

 

• Collaboration: The collaborative approaches noted in the report, are managed 
and monitored through various regional collaborative boards. These include the 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board (RPB) and the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board (CTMSB). Working regionally enables 
the directorate to strategically plan and deliver local services by optimising 
available resources. 

 

• Involvement:  Our most important stakeholders are the people who use our 
services, and it is important their voice is heard and acted upon. One of the 4 key 
areas within the performance assessment section, focusses on people and 
ensuring they have a voice, choice and control over their lives and what is 
important to them. Within Children and Family Services we have implemented the 
“Most Significant Change” model to gather feedback from people and understand 

Page 16



 

 

the impact we are making. In Adult Social Care the “Better Together Bridgend” 
partnership brings together people with a learning disability to plan service 
improvements with the Council and providers to work together to plan and co-
produce services. 

 

6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications arising from this report. 
 

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 How we support and continue to improve and strengthen our safeguarding 

arrangements is a key theme throughout the annual report and remains a key priority. 
 
7.2  Key safeguarding actions are noted within the “Well-being” section and include: 

 

• the implementation of the “no wrong door” approach across Children and Family 

Services to target early intervention to prevent situations getting worse. 

• and the introduction of several panels and groups to support our statutory 

safeguarding duties within Adult Social Care. These include the complex care 

panel, the self-neglect panel and the suicide and self-harm prevention group. 

 

7.3      The directorate’s safeguarding priorities for 2025-26 include: 

 

• the implementation of the Regional Exploitation Strategy. 

• ensuring learning from Single Unified Safeguarding Reviews and other in-depth 

analysis is systematically embedded through learning, training and development. 

• and monitoring the attendance and engagement at corporate safeguarding board 

meetings to ensure the Council is protecting children and vulnerable adults. 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 Whilst there are no direct financial implications from this report, the short, medium 

and long term sustainability of social services, well-being and prevention presents 
growing challenges on the Council to meet statutory responsibilities for the most 
vulnerable and deliver a balanced budget. Part 8 of the SSWBA requires the Head of 
Paid Service and the Corporate Director of Social Services to ensure Members have 
clear advice on the level of resources required for a local authority to effectively 
deliver its social services functions. 

 
8.2 The report highlights the significant issues in respect of the directorate’s budget to 

meet the need for social care services in Bridgend. Whilst the budget outturn position 
for Adult and Children’s Social Care in 2024-25 was an overspend of £1.009 million 
against a net budget of £102.916 million, this was only possible due to a one-off 
funding grant and without this grant, the outturn would have increased the overspend 
to £2.986 million. 

 

Page 17



 

 

8.3 With over 10% of the Social Services and Wellbeing budget being dependent on 
specific grant funding, there is a significant financial risk to the Council should these 
grants be reduced or withdrawn.  

 
8.4 The annual report also highlights key areas of financial pressure for the directorate 

including: 
   

• Residential placements within Children and Family Services. 

• The impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill (2025) on not for-profit 

providers. 

• Pressures in adult social care within learning disabilities, mental health, physical 

disabilities and older people’s services driven by increase in cost, volume of 

people supported and complexity of need. 

8.5 In February 2025, Council approved £8.8 million in budget pressures for 2025-26 as 
part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2025-26 to 2028-29 to support the 
directorate in addressing these ongoing pressures. The Social Services Improvement 
Board is overseeing actions to address the service and financial pressures. 

 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that the Committee consider the content of the Director of Social 

Services draft Annual Report for 2024-5 and provides feedback to be considered in 
preparation for the report being presented to Council on 24th September 2025. 

 
Background documents 
None 

Page 18



Social Services

BR I DG EN D COU NT Y  
BROU G H COU N CI L

CY N GOR BWRD EISTREF  
S I ROL  PEN -Y- BONT A R  OGWR

ANNUAL 
REPORT

2024-25

Appendix 1

Page 19



Contents
1.	 Directors Summary  �   3

2.	 Context  �   14

	 •   Leadership  �   17

	 •   Workforce  �   18

	 •   Financial Resources  �   21

3.	 Performance Assessment  �   22

	 •   People  �   23 

	 •   Prevention  �   40

	 •   Partnership & Integration  �   44

	 •   Well-being  �   56

4.	 Other Information  �   64

	 •   Inspections and Reviews  �   64

	 •   Complaints and Representations  �   66

	 •   Other Sources of Information  �   68

5.	 Glossary  �   68

Appendix 1

Page 20



1 D I RECTORS SU M M A RY

This is my fifth annual report as Corporate Director of Social Services 
and Wellbeing in Bridgend. Preparing this report is one of the most 
important duties of a Director of Social Services. The annual report sets 
out the Council’s effectiveness in delivering social services and wellbeing 
for our residents. It helps celebrate what is going well, acknowledge 
where we need to improve and set out priorities for the coming year.

This report is prepared as a statutory requirement under the Code of Practice issued under 
Part 8 of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act (2014). 

I must start by thanking our social services and wellbeing workforce - in the Council and 
commissioned services - who have gone above and beyond to make life better for our 
most vulnerable citizens. I am proud of how they have supported people with compassion, 
skill and professionalism. They focus on building relationships and taking time to listen and 
understand what matters to children, families, adults and carers. It is a privilege for us all to 
work with individuals and their families at some of the most challenging times of their lives. 

We have a clear purpose for social services and wellbeing in Bridgend:

“We exist to exercise our legal and moral duties to help those who need care and support 
in Bridgend to have the best possible life. We have clear strategic plans and priorities for 
children and families and adult social care and wellbeing in Bridgend.”

The environment we are working in is challenging with a high and growing number of 
contacts with children and family services and adult social care. Our population is growing 
and ageing. Poverty, age, disability and illness, domestic abuse and use of substances have 
a major impact on individuals and communities. Children and young people face challenges 
unknown to previous generations including a growth in safeguarding related cybercrime. 

Alongside changing needs, there is new progressive legislation to remove profit from 
children’s social care in Wales. The financial position of local government remains 
challenging. The proportion of local authority budgets spent on social services across 
Wales has increased lessening the proportion available to invest in preventative and 
wellbeing services which reduce the need for long term care and support. 

Despite the challenges, this report is optimistic. Successful workforce planning, succession 
planning, a focus on workforce wellbeing and learning and development means we have 
a well-supported, well-motivated workforce. We have reduced our reliance on agency 
workers which gives more continuity to the people we support. We have strong and 
effective models of practice and are reducing variability in standards. We have a range 
of services which are good quality and delivering positive outcomes and have plans to 
address gaps in services. We have effective early intervention and prevention and aim to 
support more people earlier and avoid people’s needs escalating. We have robust and 
effective relationships with partners, which we will continue to nurture and invest time 
in. These relationships have been fundamental in our improvement journey over the last 3 
years. They will be central to our continued transformation – as we aim to move our overall 
assessment of effectiveness from good to excellent.

3

Appendix 1

Page 21



In 2024-25 we have stabilised our workforce, 
embedded our signs of safety model of practice 
and integrated prevention and edge of care 
services. This has helped us have a positive 
impact for children and families in Bridgend. 

We have made significant and sustained 
improvements in 2024-25. We have progressed 
at pace from a local authority where there our 
regulator, Care Inspectorate Wales, had ‘serious 
concerns’ in 2022. We developed a ‘whole 
Council approach’ to making the improvements 
needed, took bold action, based on a strong 
understanding of the local data, and analysis of 
evidence of what works. Our key improvement 
actions were:

•  �Developed a clear business case and 
strategic plan, supported by investment, 
to strengthen the children’s workforce and 
early help services in September 2023, 
unanimously supported across the council. 

•  �Strong and effective governance including 
a cross-party improvement board chaired 
by the Leader of Council.

•  �A focus on the workforce – both innovation 

in securing a permanent workforce in 
the short term through international 
recruitment and sustainable investment in 
the ‘grow our own’ programme of internal 
succession planning and commitment and 
practice of compassionate leadership, 
workforce wellbeing and ongoing learning 
and development.

•  �A clear practice model accompanied by 
low social work caseloads which enable 
the workforce to build strong relationships 
with families, building on strengths, whilst 
acting swiftly to address danger.

•  �The integration of early help and edge 
of care services so children and families 
access the right support from the right 
person at the right time.

•  �Effective partnership working based on a 
clear purpose, appropriate professional 
challenge and strong mutual support.

•  �Strong data and intelligence, quality 
assurance and the support of an 
independent improvement partner. 

Children and  
Family Services

Our 3-year strategic plan for children and families ‘Think Family’ 
was published in September 2023, and focuses on:

•   �The voice of children and families 

•   �Our workforce 

•   �Our practice

•   �The impact of our services and interventions 

•   �Our response to families with complex needs

•   �Our work with partners

•   �Our intelligence and information systems 

4

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY
Appendix 1

Page 22



An improvement check in June 2025 considered 
the effectiveness of children’s services in 
Bridgend including progress against previous 
Care Inspectorate Wales recommendations and 
found:

“BCBC leaders have consistently prioritised 
children’s services, to support sustained and 
timely improvements. This has significantly 
strengthened the quality and delivery of social 
services functions. The local authority has 
moved from having a fragile workforce and 
critical deficits in capacity, to an overall position 
of stability. This is the most significant change 
made since 2022-23, which underpins the local 
authority’s capacity to drive forward and sustain 
improvements. This positive improvement has 
been achieved through sustained focus on 
workforce wellbeing and practice quality.”

In terms of impact, we have reduced the number 
and proportion of children and young people 
who experience care and support and require 
safeguarding interventions in Bridgend. We 
have helped more families in Bridgend live well 
together and raise their children to be resilient 
and live the lives that they want to live as adults. 
We still need to do more to focus a greater 
proportion of our resources on cost-effective 
preventative support for families with complex 
needs rather than expensive substitute care 
experiences. We are working with our partners 
to make sure more families get the right help at 
the right time and reduce the number of times we 
have to intervene in a crisis

It is important to acknowledge the progress 
made and celebrate the workforce who have 
improved outcomes for children and families 
in Bridgend. It is also important to avoid 
complacency both about the areas where we 
still need to improve and, the oversight and 
scrutiny required to assure ourselves regarding 
the quality of practice. The focus in the next year 
includes areas identified by CIW as requiring 
further improvement, as well as areas we have 
identified ourselves.  

We need to:

•  �Improve the sufficiency of foster carers 
and residential provision in Bridgend for 
our most vulnerable children. This includes 
opening 2 more residential homes for 
children.

•  �Continue to improve Bridgend’s fostering 
service, improving how we recruit, support 
and retain foster carers, match children to 
the right foster family and improve access 
to learning and development for foster 
carers.

•  �Reduce the variation in our practice and 
consistently record our work to a high 
standard. 

•  �Strengthen quality assurance and ensuring 
more children are actively involved in their 
own care plans and reviews. 

•  �Address gaps in our preventative 
services, particularly to meet the needs of 
adolescents for whom there is a higher risk 
of entry into the care system.

•  �Continue to improve practice and 
outcomes in our care experienced children 
and our fostering team, as they benefit 
from more recent workforce stability 
and consistency of management and 
leadership. 

•  �Work with partners to improve out of 
hours emergency duty arrangements, 
understanding of our practice model, the 
response to professional concerns, and 
safeguarding children from exploitation. 

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY

5

Appendix 1

Page 23



The strategic plan builds on our strengths 
– we have well established, highly 
performing, integrated teams with a range 
of health and social care professionals 
working closely together to meet the 
needs of ‘Mrs Jones’ in a way that is 
seamless for the individual and families. 

We work particularly effectively for individuals 
and families living with long term conditions and 
age-related frailty. Our focus is on maximising 
independence and reducing dependency. At the 
end of March 2025, Bridgend County Borough 
Council was supporting the second lowest 
rate of people in Wales in long term care home 
accommodation. 

Overall, the quality of adult social care services in 
Bridgend are also of a high standard. In 2024-25 
Care Inspectorate Wales undertook six regulatory 
inspections of Bridgend County Borough Council 
registered care homes and an inspection of the 
Council’s care and support at home service. 
Overall the inspections demonstrated that staff 
are highly trained and person centred in their 
practice and individuals and families can have a 

high degree of confidence in the quality of care 
provided. 

There has been a focus in the last year on 
remodelling care and support at home. More 
people have retained or regained skills following 
a period of ill health and prior to receiving a 
long-term package of domiciliary care in their 
own home. The majority of people who receive 
reablement have a positive outcome and their 
need for long term care is reduced or mitigated 
entirely. Less people have been delayed in their 
pathway of care following a hospital admission.

Adult safeguarding is also an area of strength. We 
have strengthened practice and ensured people 
get the right response from the right person at 
the right time. The team has worked effectively 
with partners to oversee improvements in how 
people in the secure estate in Bridgend are 
safeguarded. This is a complex area of work and 
the leadership of the Council’s team has been 
commended by partners. There has also been 
an innovative approach with partners to suicide 
and self-harm prevention. A consultation line 
has been introduced which ensures referrers 

Adult  
Social Care

Our 3-year strategic plan for adult social care ‘Building on Strengths,  
Improving Lives’ was published in November 2024 and focuses on:

•   �Operating Model 

•   �Outcomes-Focused Strengths-Based Practice Model 

•   �Transforming Services 

•   �Learning Disabilities 

•   �Community Mental Health 

•   �Lifelong Conditions or Complex Care Needs 

•   �Supporting Priorities including workforce, learning and development and ICT

6

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY
Appendix 1

Page 24



have timely access to information, advice and 
assistance and we have also improved the way we 
manage deprivation of liberty safeguards.

We know there are some areas of adult services 
where further improvements are needed. 
Our community learning disability team has 
experienced a number of workforce challenges 
and we have yet to fully embed a progression 
approach which builds on people’s strengths to 
maximise their independence. Our short term 
social work services – our Early Intervention 
and Prevention Hub and Hospital Social Work 
Team have also experienced difficulties in always 
having sufficient capacity to meet the levels of 
need presenting to them. We are working through 
focussed improvements in these areas and 
implementing plans to strengthen the workforce 
and practice.

Our priorities for improvement in 2025-26 are:

•  �Ensure people are only admitted to hospital 
where this is medically necessary and 

people move smoothly to their next care 
setting on discharge from hospital – working 
with Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board.

•  �Continue to transform the way we support 
people with learning disabilities. 

•  �Improve the arrangements for supporting 
young people and their families during the 
transition from childhood to adulthood.

•  �Ensure there is sufficient accommodation 
care and support services to meet the 
needs of all our population groups in 
a way that supports people to live as 
independently as possible for as long 
as possible. We will recommission care 
and support at home services, develop a 
business case with partners for additional 
extra care and supported living provision 
and expand shared lives provision.

•  �Improve the way that we understand the 
needs of, and support, informal carers. 

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY

7

In 2024-25 we integrated early help and 
edge of care services into the Social 
Services and Wellbeing directorate. 

Demand and referrals for early help have been 
increasing significantly. We have strengthened 
the early help offer and improved outcomes for 
families. New front door arrangements have 
helped us with early identification of risk, allowing 
teams to intervene before needs escalate. Earlier 
identification has allowed teams to undertake 
preventative work rather than reacting to crises. 
there has been a 67% reduction in the number of 
families stepping up to statutory services, which 
highlights the effectiveness of this early and 
preventative work. Impact measures have shown 

that 96% of families reported feeling more able 
to make positive lifestyle and behaviour changes, 
and 94% of families reported improved family 
resilience.

The prevention and well-being offer in Bridgend 
has continued to be sector leading in supporting 
the most vulnerable citizens of the county borough 
to be healthy, well and connected in 2024-25. We 
understand people are experts in their own lives 
and are committed to co-producing solutions with 
people and groups. There are some excellent 
examples such as the Bridgend Inclusive Network 
Group (BING) which deliver support and training 
and over time has become sustainable and our 
young carers ambassadors who support their 

Early Help, Prevention  
and Wellbeing

Appendix 1

Page 25



peers in our young carers network to access 
support and design wellbeing activities.  
There are examples of positive practice working 
with people of all ages in the county borough 
including:

•  �Local community connectors and 
community navigators who work with people 
across the county borough to support them 
to make meaningful connections and live 
well in their own communities, developing 
new community activities such as 
bushcraft where these don’t currently exist. 
Community connectors support individuals 
who are at the edge of needing statutory 
services; community navigators work with a 
wider range of people. 

•  �The carer’s wellbeing service signposted 
4650 carers to appropriate services in 
2024-25.

•  �The young carers networks which are 
engaging over 146 young carers in ‘we are 
valued’ days and has supported over 549 
through the young carers card.

•  �Our new youth hub which meets twice a 

week in Bridgend Resource Centre and 
provides social opportunities children and 
young adults with additional needs 

•  �Accredited training and supporting for 
people with meaningful occupation in 
Awen’s Wood-B and B-Leaf supported 
employment.

•  �Our healthy living partnership with Halo 
leisure trust which has received the highest 
level of industry accreditation and has 
supported autism friendly swimming and 
the Feel Good for Life programme for those 
living with dementia, people who are lonely 
and isolated and their carers.

•  �Our cultural trust partner Awen who provide 
a range of library, cultural and wellbeing 
services to support people to be well and 
connected to their community.

•  �Our active young people’s programme 
which engages children of different ages in 
sports, games, arts and creative activities.

•  �Our Bevan exemplar super agers 
programme which keeps us fit, active and 
socially connected as we grow older.

Workforce
Our workforce has been part of significant 
change programmes, embracing our 
models of social work practice in social 
services and wellbeing. 

We have had a strategic workforce board for 
3 years which has focused on retention and 
recruitment, workforce planning, learning and 
development, workforce wellbeing and culture. 
Our own staff survey evidenced this as did 
the Care Inspectorate Wales survey of the 
children’s services workforce found 86% staff 
would recommend working for us in Bridgend 

County Borough Council. We have achieved a 
significant reduction in agency social workers, 
reduced staff turnover, improved recruitment and 
have evidenced effective succession planning. 
We are not complacent – we understand that 
a proportion of our workforce are not yet very 
experienced and we are committed to supporting 
and nurturing them. Some very experienced 
colleagues and senior leaders are nearing 
retirement and any change at a leadership level 
needs to be carefully planned and managed to 
mitigate the risk that staff become unsettled. Our 
workforce continues to be our highest priority. 

8

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY
Appendix 1

Page 26



�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY

9

Social care costs are increasing due to new legal duties, a growing population, an 
ageing demographic and greater complexity of needs in younger adults and children 
and families and rising costs of providing care. The impact of covid lockdowns on 
the most vulnerable is still being fully understood. 

The budget outturn position for Adult and Children’s Social Care in 2024-25 was an overspend 
of £1.009 million against a net budget of £102.916 million. This means the directorate was within 
0.98% of the budget set. But without one-off grant funding we would have overspent by £2.986 
million. As so much of our budget ( over 10%) is made of specific grants, there is a high service and 
financial risk if these grants, which largely fund core services, were to be withdrawn or reduced.

Social care is the second largest area of Council spend after education. The social services and 
well-being budget represents 30.25% of the Council’s overall net revenue budget at £115.909m. 
The Council budget for 2025-26 built in additional funding following detailed planning between 
finance and social services and wellbeing colleagues. This was to reflect the costs of the real 
living wage for care workers, the costs of care experienced children and services for older adults, 
learning disabilities and mental health. 

Over 75% of care is provided by providers who the Council has entered into commissioning 
arrangements with. Legally, local authorities are required to understand the cost of care and reflect 
this in its commissioning arrangements. The impact of the real living wage, employer’s national 
insurance increases and other inflationary factors are resulting in the cost of care increasing. 

The Council also has a statutory duty to ensure there is sufficient provision of care and support 
to meet the needs of the population – areas such as fostering and residential care for care 
experienced children and specialist residential care for adults where there is insufficient capacity 
experience significant cost pressures. ‘Top-up’ fees are increasingly charged by adult residential 
and nursing home providers in addition to the standard fee paid by the local authority or families. 
These have risen and cause stress on family and local authority budgets. The Council has 
developed commissioning strategies which it is implementing to mitigate these risks including 
developing more in-house children’s homes, a strong focus on retention and recruitment of foster 
carers and plans to develop more extra care and supported living provision for adults. It should 
be noted that there is significant pressure on capital as well as revenue budgets and the social 
services directorate is very largely dependent on regional capital grants to progress our capital 
priorities.

The Code of Practice for Part 8 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act requires that ‘as 
a member of the corporate management team, a director of social services may be required to 
consider overall resource implications, including budgetary issues. The head of paid service 
and the director of social services have a responsibility to ensure councillors have clear advice 
on the level of resources required for a local authority to effectively deliver its social services 
functions’. In light of robust analysis and professional advice, the Council has supported pressures 
in Social Services as far as it has been able to in recent budgets, including an investment of £2 
million in the Children’s workforce in 2024-25 and £8.8 million in 2025-26  budget including £3.25 

Financial Performance, 
Risks and Issues

Appendix 1

Page 27



Children’s Placement Sufficiency

The Health and Social Care (Wales) Act 
(2025) received royal assent on 24 March 
2025. The focus of the legislation is 
removing profit from children’s social care 
in Wales which has created some additional 
instability in the children’s social care market 
during the transition period, with a number 
of residential providers electing to withdraw 
whilst others have not yet disclosed their 
longer-term intentions.

There are insufficient foster care families in 
Foster-Wales Bridgend and an ageing foster carer 
population. The number of new foster carers we are 
recruiting are less than those leaving the service. 
There are at any time a small number of children 
living in residential care who could be supported 
in foster care. In 2024-25, there were also a small 
number of children at any one time living in settings 
which are “operating without registration”. This is 
a significant risk as the safeguards of a registered 

provision are not in place. The financial implications 
of high-cost placements, registered and operating 
without registration, is very high. 

To manage this risk there is a renewed focus on 
our strategy to safely reduce the numbers of care 
experienced children. We are expanding our edge of 
care services which keep children safely living with 
their family. A detailed placement commissioning 
strategy has been developed which sets out the 
services that need to be developed to manage 
the transition to a not for profit children’s social 
care system over the next 5 years. A fostering 
remodelling project is enhancing the offer and 
support to Bridgend foster carers. The Council 
is developing further in-house provision for care 
experienced children. The short term ‘eliminating 
profit’ grant funding to support the impact of the 
new legislation is supporting the transition but this 
is currently due to end in March 2028 which may 
create a revenue gap. Further service and financial 
modelling is being undertaken. 

million investment in care experienced children and over £2 million to reflect the impact of the 
increases in the real living wage for care workers. 

There are significant ongoing financial pressures for Council to be aware of in future medium term 
financial strategies:

• �The impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill (2025) which will remove profit from 
children’s social care by 2030. We know the transitional and ongoing costs will significantly 
exceed the grant funding we have been given. This is evident in the Welsh Government’s 
Regulatory Impact Assessment. To mitigate this, we will continue to safely reduce the overall 
numbers of care experienced children and develop more in-house provision which achieves 
better outcomes and is more cost effective. 

• �The impact of demographics on need for social care –we will continue to mitigate needs for 
care and support through targeted prevention and reablement services but not all needs for 
care and support can be prevented. We need to continue our transformation programme in 
Bridgend. At a national policy level, a stainable funding solution for funding social services is 
required, which does not place overall local authority budgets at risk and result in reducing 
other services which are in themselves essential in preventing the need for care and 
support.

There are a number of other risks and issues being managed and mitigated in social services and 
wellbeing which are reflected in corporate and directorate risk registers. The most significant are:

10

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY
Appendix 1

Page 28



�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY

11

Levels of Contact into Social Care Services

The number of referrals to children and 
family services has continued to increase. 
South Wales Police are the highest referrer. 
Further work will be undertaken with key 
partners. 

The need for adult services also continues to 
grow as the population is increasing, and ageing. 
A new Early Intervention and Prevention Hub has 
been implemented from February 2025 which 
is channelling assessments through a new adult 
services front door, focusing on signposting and 

advice with less ongoing care and support plans. 
The level of contacts to this service has also 
increased and we need to ensure that service 
capacity always meets the level of demand.

There have been significant increases in levels of 
care and costs of care for people with learning 
disabilities in recent years. There have been 
pressures in the social work teams due to court of 
protection safeguarding work and agency workforce 
has increased. A transformation programme and 
outcome surgeries have been established to 
improve practice and commissioning.

Digital System Replacement

The Council is facing a number of challenges and risks in relation to a new system for 
its current safeguarding and case management IT System. 

A new system has been procured but there is a significant amount of work to be undertaken to move 
from the current WCCIS system to the new Mosaic system. This is an area of significant concern 
which will be closely monitored corporately through our corporate risk register throughout 2025-26.

Pressures on Partner agencies

Service and financial pressures are 
impacting all parts of public services and 
many organisations are making big changes 
to focus on their core business. 

There is a risk this means a greater expectation on 
Council services and gaps in the support available 
to people from other agencies. We need to work 
through changes with partners to ensure people 
continue to access the support they need, whilst 
being clear what the local authority’s responsibilities 

are and the expectations on other partners to fulfil 
their responsibilities. This works best were there are 
integrated service arrangements such as the MASH 
and integrated adult community teams.

Appendix 1

Page 29



Priorities for 2025-26

Supporting workforce wellbeing, retention and recruitment to continue  
to achieve a highly motivated, well supported skilled workforce.

Embedding our models of practice and using our quality assurance and 
learning and development programmes to address variation in quality.

Enhancing our prevention, early intervention and edge of care services to 
support more people to live independently and well and for children to live 
safely with their own families.

Embedding our operating models in adults, children and families and 
prevention and wellbeing which have early help and prevention at their core.

Hearing and acting upon the voice of the people we work with  
and alongside.

Addressing deficits in the sufficiency of services, particularly children’s not 
for profit residential and fostering services and supported living, shared 
lives and extra care for adults.

Understanding better current and future needs and projections for social 
services and wellbeing services, including the impact of new legislation 
and demographics, to align service and financial plans which mean we are 
as best placed as possible to achieve sustainable social services at a cost 
affordable to the Council.

Investing in partnerships with other public services, the third sector and 
community groups to improve outcomes for individuals and families in the 
most effective and cost effective way.

Implementing a new digital system which will modernise the way our 
workforce practice, whilst we support them to prepare for social care  
being at the fore of the Council’s digital strategy.

12

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY
Appendix 1

Page 30



Looking to the Future – 
Sustainably Improving 
at a Time of Challenge 
for Public Services
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a review of the last 

year, the progress we have made, the risks and issues we face and the 

areas where we will continue to improve. 

Despite challenging levels of demand our performance is good and compares well with other 

local authorities in Wales. Our workforce is stable, well-motivated and committed to the Council. 

We have a strong and highly motivated management and leadership team. We work well with 

partner agencies. Our reviews show improvements in the quality of our practice – and this is 

reflected in the inspections undertaken by Care Inspectorate Wales.

But there will always be areas which require improvement and we have focussed activity to 

deliver this. The risks set out in this report are considerable. The change of digital system in the 

next year presents a particularly significant risk. Our frontline workforce, managers and leaders 

all depend on an effective system to undertake their work and keep people safe. The financial 

risks to the Council remain challenging. We need to continue with a whole Bridgend community 

approach - one Council and partners - to work together to safeguard and improve outcomes for 

the most vulnerable. 

My final word is one of sincere thanks, to all Councillors, my colleagues across the Council and 

in partner agencies. Your support has been unwavering and fundamental in achieving a well- 

functioning and, for the most part, highly performing social services and wellbeing service for the 

people of Bridgend. The progress set out within this report could not have been achieved without 

your leadership, challenge and commitment. 

Diolch o galon,

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing

JULY 2025

�   D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY

13

Appendix 1

Page 31



2 CONTE X T

What do we do?
The Social Services and Wellbeing directorate is made 
up of statutory services - Adult Social Care, Children and 
Family Services, Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting. 
We also lead the Prevention and Wellbeing service which 
includes the healthy living partnership with Halo Leisure 
and the cultural partnership with Awen Cultural Trust. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Early Intervention & Prevention

Assessment and Care Planning

Safeguarding (Adult Protection)

Mental Health services

Substance Misuse

Residential & Nursing Care

Extra Care

Supported Living 

Domiciliary Care (Home care)

Reablement & Residential 
Reablement

Shared Lives 

Equipment, Adaptations & 
Telecare

Respite Care

Direct Payments

Day Care

Advocacy

CHILDREN AND  
FAMILY SERVICES

Early Intervention  
& Prevention

Assessment and  
Care Planning

Safeguarding  
(Child Protection)

Foster Care 

Residential Care

Care Leavers

Direct Payments

Respite Care

Advocacy

We work with other parts 
of the Council, partners, 
and the people of Bridgend, 
to promote wellbeing, 
connection and to safeguard 
and protect people with 
care and support needs. 

Our services We provide a range of services, including:

PREVENTION AND 
WELLBEING

Early Intervention 
& Prevention

Active 4 Life

Community Engagement

Aging Well

Carer / Young Carer 
Support

BAVO Partnership 
  •  �Building Community 

Resilience

Awen Partnership 
  •  Libraries 
  •  Theatres / Cultural Hubs 
  •  Work Based Initiatives

Halo Healthy Living 
Partnership 
  •  Life Centres 
  •  GP Referral Scheme 
  •  Falls Prevention 
  •  �Health and Wellbeing 

Membership
  •  �Free Swim Initiative

14

Appendix 1

Page 32

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/halo-leisure-centres/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/awen-cultural-trust/


�   C O N T E X T

Who do we support?
We work with the most vulnerable children 
and adults, their families and carers, to enable 
them to live safely and well. This is often in 
challenging circumstances resulting from age, 
disability, poverty, or risk of neglect and abuse.

This year, (as at 31st March) we were 
providing services to 1011 children 
and young people; and 1977 adults. 

The tables below shows the number of people receiving managed care and support  
(excluding those going through the assessment process, who are not yet in receipt of a care plan).

*   �These figures 
include 242 
children with a 
disability and 126 
care leavers.  
A child or young 
person can be in 
more than one 
category.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES� NUMBER OF PEOPLE SUPPORTED*

Care and Support 608
Child Protection 75
Care Experienced Children 333

** �The Adult Social 
Work and Early 
Intervention 
and Prevention 
Teams support 
adults aged 18+ 
including older 
adults, those 
with cognitive 
impairment, 
a physical 
disability and / or 
sensory loss or 
impairment.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE� NUMBER OF PEOPLE SUPPORTED**

Adult Social Work Teams 1388
Learning Disability 347
Mental Health 159
Early Intervention and Prevention Hub 72
Secure Estates 11

We also work with many more children and families and adults and carers preventatively. 

15

Appendix 1

Page 33



2024-25:  
The year in summary

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES ADULT SOCIAL CARE

24% INCREASE
14828 contacts received in the year 

7% INCREASE
6210 contacts received in the year 

31% INCREASE
2553 contacts provided with advice 
and assistance

36% INCREASE
2509 new care and support 
assessments completed in the year

1244 contacts provided with 
advice or assistance

58% DECREASE 
694 section 47 enquiries held

34% DECREASE
1576 new care and support 
assessments completed in the year

4% DECREASE
341 new care and support 
assessments that progressed to 
a care and support plan

9% DECREASE
387 new care and support 
assessments progressed to a 
care and support plan

7% DECREASE
in the number of adults with a care 
and support plan at 31st March*

4% DECREASE
in the number of adults in receipt of 
homecare as at 31st March 

6% DECREASE
 in the number of adults 
supported in residential or 
nursing care at 31st March

25% DECREASE 
in the number of children with a care 
and support plan at 31st March

37% DECREASE 
in the number of care experienced 
children at 31st March

60% DECREASE 
in the number of children 
on the child protection 
register  at 31st March

1011
2038

333
737

75 495

*  This figure includes 61 adults known to the Child Disability & Transition Team as they are aged 18+ years.  
(Please note these would also be included in the 1011 children with a care and support plan.)

�   C O N T E X T

16

Appendix 1

Page 34



Bridgend County Borough Council 

Delivering Together 
Our Corporate Plan 2023-28 

�   C O N T E X T  / /    LE ADERSHIP

Political 
& Senior 
Leadership
The Council has 51 Councillors 
who are elected every five 
years by the community. They 
represent public interest as 
well as individuals living in the 
ward in which they have been 
elected. They represent the 
people of Bridgend County 
Borough and set the overall 
Council strategy and budget 
framework.

The constitution sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions 
are made and the procedures to be 
followed. Each year, Council elects a 
Mayor to chair the Council, perform 
a civic role and promote the County. 
Council also appoints a Leader of 
the Council who appoints Cabinet 
Members, each with a responsibility 
for a specific portfolio of services. 
Cabinet is responsible for most major 
decisions, provides leadership, and 
proposes the budget framework and 
budget to Council.

Leadership
‘Delivering Together Our Corporate Plan 2023-28’ sets out  
the council’s priorities and how we will work with local people  
and partners to provide services over the next five years.

The plan was produced using feedback from staff, residents of all ages and 
backgrounds, users and providers of council services, elected members, partner 
organisations, and other local authorities.

The Council’s Corporate Management Board is led by the Chief Executive and includes 
the three Corporate Directors, the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer.

Governance & 
Accountability
The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
meet at least 4 times a year to scrutinise 
performance, budget and service developments, 
making recommendations on future policy and 
delivery of services. 

The Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting Committee, 
chaired by the Deputy Leader, meets quarterly to make 
important policy decisions on service provision for care 
experienced children and care leavers.

The Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing is 
a member of the Council’s Corporate Management Board 
(CMB) and fortnightly Cabinet / Corporate Management 
Board (CCMB). CCMB and scrutiny oversee the directorate’s 
progress and performance against each of the Council’s 
key objectives. This governance ensures robust corporate 
leadership and a clear link between the directorate’s strategic 
and operational priorities and the Council’s overall objectives. 

In the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate we monitor 
quality assurance, performance and management information 
monthly at team, service and directorate level. There is an 
in-depth quarterly performance and quality review of each 
group of services. This provides the Corporate Director 
and Heads of Service with robust and effective managerial 
oversight ensuring we are on-track to achieve the priorities of 
the Council’s corporate plan, the Directorate’s business plan, 
key statutory and local performance indicators and quality 
assurance activity. 

17

Appendix 1

Page 35

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/council-and-democracy/council-constitution/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/2pohxlek/corporate-plan-2023-28.pdf


Recruitment & Retention
Retention and recruitment of the workforce is our top priority. A well-motivated, 
well supported, highly trained workforce is essential to high quality services and 
positive outcomes for the people we support.

Our total number of staff increased by 7% over the last year and 12% compared to 
March 2023. Children and Family Services increased by 16 staff members due to service 
configuration, improved recruitment and retention and a number of Early Help and Edge 
of Care Services transferring to the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate between 
April and July 2024. 

We have implemented an effective retention and recruitment strategy and have 
significantly improved the workforce position across Social Services and Wellbeing, with 
improving recruitment, reduced vacancy rates and less reliance on agency workers. 
Since May 2023 the overall number of agency social worker staff has decreased by 
62% from 77 in May 2023 to 29 in May 2025. Our retention rate has improved from 81% 
during quarter 4 of 2023-24 to 86% in 2024-25. 

Sickness absence is higher than we would like with both Children and Family Services 
and Adult Social Care experienced an increase in the last year. Supporting staff wellbeing 
is important so we have promoted flexible working options and individual and team 
wellbeing. We work with human resources to manage sickness and absence through 
Council policies and ensure staff access the support they need. The importance of 
wellbeing is reflected in our staff survey with 93% of staff indicating that they know how 
to access support when needed and over 90% of staff feel supported by their manager. 

Workforce

SERVICE AREA
31st March 2024 31st March 2025

FTE Headcount FTE Headcount

Adult Social Care 592.01 765 571.39 734

Children and Family Services 245.06 289 352.43 405

Prevention and Wellbeing 28.21 33 25.73 30

Business Strategy, Performance and Improvement 67.12 71 72.74 77

Commissioning 12.62 13 9.62 10

Total 945.03 1171 1031.91 1256

�   C O N T E X T  / /  W O R K FO R C E

18

Appendix 1

Page 36



�   C O N T E X T  / /  W O R K FO R C E

Growing Our Own

Social Care 
Accolades 2025
In April 2022, we commenced a project to recruit 
international social workers to Children and Family 
Services. We recruited 13 workers who relocated 
between March 2023 and November 2024. 

The project has been recognised as excellent practice, 
winning a 2025 Social Care Wales award in the ‘developing 
and inspiring the workforce’ category.

Two staff members were also nominated and were 
recognised as highly commended finalists. Ffion Cole, 
Principal Officer, Children and Family Services for the 
Inspirational Leadership award and Casey Baker,  
Social Care Worker, Adult Social Care for the  
WeCare Wales award. 

More on why Ffion, Casey and the international recruitment 
project were nominated and recognised can be found here.

We work closely with schools and Bridgend 
College, providing positive information about 
careers in social care. We provide apprenticeships 
for people wishing to start a career in social 
care. We have a Social Services Practitioner 
programme which provides a pathway for people 
working in roles in social care to gain qualifications 
and, if they wish to do so, to progress towards the 
social work degree. Both programmes received 
positive feedback from managers.

Growing our own social workers helps 
make sure we have enough newly qualified 
social workers. We offer secondment and 
traineeship opportunities onto social work 
degree and master’s programmes and 
staff who qualify via these routes remain 
employed with us for longer. In 2024, 6 
staff members qualified as Social Workers 
and in 2025, 12 qualified and all were 
successful in securing a position with us.

19

Appendix 1

Page 37

https://socialcare.wales/the-accolades/2025-accolades


What Next?
We are helping a broader range of people 
to enter careers in the social care sector 
through apprenticeships, work experience, 
and collaboration with schools, colleges 
and universities. We are also improving our 
marketing of social care careers, showing 
it as an attractive career option with high 
job satisfaction and good progression 
opportunities. 

We intend to recruit people into social care roles 
based on their values, recognising that care is a 
vocation. This will help us develop a confident and 
healthy workforce and continue to reduce reliance 
on agency staff.

We have established our own Social Care Academi. 
The Academi offers staff, foster carers, carers 
and volunteers from across the Social Care sector 

access to learning and development opportunities. 
This includes e-learning, on-line and in person 
training enabling individuals to develop the skills and 
knowledge needed to work effectively. For example, 
residential care staff who provide physical care 
and support for individuals have attended training 
on manual handling, medication awareness, health 
and safety and first aid. Our Social Workers have 
accessed training such as Safeguarding Children 
and Adults, Court Skills, Childrens Rights and 
Participation, Recording skills & Mental Health  
First Aid.

Academi staff work with schools, colleagues, 
careers and employability services to promote 
careers in care. The support people considering 
working in care with pre-employment training and 
work placement opportunities. 

Staff Feedback
To understand the views and experiences of our workforce over the last year, we 
asked staff to complete a survey. Here is what they told us.

91%
Agree or strongly agree that they 
understand what is expected in  
their role

85% Either agree or strongly agree that 
they can make a difference in their role

69%
Agree or strongly agree that they 
have the right tools and support to 
effectively undertake their role 

79%
Agree or strongly agree that they have 
opportunities to contribute decisions 
within their team 

95%
Agree or agreed to a certain extent 
that they can easily access training 
relevant to their post 

58%
Feel they have the right opportunities 
available to progress their career in 
social care

79% Agree or strongly agree that they  
feel supported by their manager 

89% Agree or strongly agree that they feel     
supported by the colleagues

78% Reported their morale as either 
moderate, high or very high

70% Feel valued at work

93% Know how to access support  
if needed

84%
Would either recommend or maybe 
recommend working in social care  
in Bridgend

�   C O N T E X T  / /  W O R K FO R C E

20

Appendix 1

Page 38



�   C O N T E X T  / /  F I N A N C I A L  R E S O U R C E S

In 2024-25 we continued to 
experience both service and 
financial pressures in children and 
family and adult services. 

Independent residential 
placements are high cost and 
add pressure to the Children and 
Family Services’ budget. The 
overall number of care experienced 
children decreased over the year, 
but the number in residential 
placements remained static. But 
as of 31st March, we were funding 
19 placements when the budget 
only covers a maximum of 8. A 
very small number of placements 
are also “Operating without 
Registration” which also increases 
risk and financial pressures. 
Whilst these placements risks are 
managed they need higher staff 

ratios and are more expensive.

Children and Family Services, 
along with all local councils in 
Wales must write a Placement 
Commissioning Strategy and 
update each year, explaining how 
we will provide care, housing and 
support for care experienced 
children. This strategy must also 
show how we will reduce and 
eventually stop using for-profit 
care providers in line with new 
duties under the Health and Social 
Care (Wales) Act 2025. Although 
Welsh Government provides some 
funding, it does not cover all costs, 
which places additional financial 
pressure on us.

Within Adult Social Care there 
continues to be pressures in 

learning disabilities and older 
people’s services driven by 
complexity of need. This means 
that the people who access our 
services often have multiple needs 
that span a number of our services. 
An increase in our aging population 
also places additional financial 
pressure on services as more 
people need help and support 
for longer which increases costs 
linked to staff, time and additional 
resources to meet the demand.

To support us in addressing these 
ongoing pressures, in February 
2025, Council approved £8.8 
million in budget pressures for 
2025-26 as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2025-26 to 
2028-29:

Financial Resources

SSWB

2024-25 
Expenditure 

Budget 
£’000

2024-25 
Income 
Budget 

£’000

2024-25 
Net  

Budget 
£’000

2024-25 
Actual 

Outturn 
£’000

2024-25 
Actual 

Variance 
£’000

Older People (aged 65 and over) 44,527 (12,859) 31,668  31,082  (585)

Adults (aged under 65) 52,938 (11,876) 41,062 41,459 396 

Childrens and Families Services 31,365  (1,179) 30,186  31,384  1,198

Total 128,830 (25,914) 102,916 103,925  1,009

2025-26 BUDGET PRESSURE ALLOCATION

Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities £519,000

Mental Health Home Care £679,000

Learning Disabilities Home Care £325,000

Learning Disabilities Residential and Nursing Care Placement £438,000

Older People Direct Payments £369,000

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment  
Home Care £274,000

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Equipment £266,000

Older People Supported Accommodation £201,000

Ongoing pressures of Care Experienced Children £3.250 million

Implications of Real Living Wage on commissioned contracts £2.020 million

The Social Services Improvement 
Board is overseeing actions to 
address the service and financial 
pressures in the Children and Family 
Services and Adult Social Care 
budgets. Good progress has been 
made in the first year of the Children 
and Family Services 3 year strategic 
plan, approved in September 
2023. A separate plan to make 
adult social care and support more 
sustainable was approved by Cabinet 
in November 2024. This followed a 
similar plan to sustainably improve 
children and family services approved 
by Cabinet in September 2023.

As reported in the Revenue Budget Outturn 2024-25 to Council on the 25th June 2025, the 
net budget for Adult and Children’s Social Care was £102.916 million and the actual outturn 
was £103.925 million resulting in an over spend of £1.009 million.

21

Appendix 1

Page 39



3 PERFORM A N CE ASSESSM ENT

This section asks local authorities 
to address eight quality standards 
under four sections of People, 
Prevention, Partnership and 
Integration and Well-being.

This assessment is completed for both children 
and family services and adult services and 
describes how the local authority has aimed to 
achieve these standards throughout the year. 

The self-assessment approach asks local 
authorities to address the following four questions: 

Each section is split into an assessment of Children and Family Services, Adult Social Care and, where 
work has been taken across the whole of our Social Services and Wellbeing directorate the relevant 
section will start with an update called “Across Social Services and Wellbeing.”

At the end of each of the 4 sections you will also find our priorities for 2025-26.

What do we know about the 
quality and impact of what we 
are doing? 

What are we doing well and how 
can we do better? 

What are our priorities for 
improvement particularly over 
the coming year?

How do we know?  
e.g. what evidence from 
research, engagement and the 
metrics are we using to inform 
this assessment? 

What progress did we make 
on the areas for improvement 
identified in last year’s report?

What difference did we make? 

1.

3.

2.

4.

22

Appendix 1

Page 40



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Quality Standards

“All people are equal 
partners who have choice, 
voice and control over their 
lives and are able to achieve 
what matters to them” 

“Effective leadership is 
evident at all levels with 
a highly skilled well 
qualified and supported 
workforce working 
towards a shared vision” 

People

23

Appendix 1

Page 41



Voice  
and Control
People’s views play an important 
role in helping us understand 
where we have done well and 
areas where we could do better. 
Engagement and involvement are 
at the centre of everything we do. 

This year we have done a range of 
engagement and consultation exercises. 

Direct Payments
Direct payments help people have more flexibility and control in 
how their care and support is delivered.

The graph shows there was a 3% decrease in the number of adults receiving a direct payment 
at 31st March 2025, and an 18% increase in the number of children and young people. A review 
of direct payments has been completed and a policy and guidance developed. A clear and 
consistent approach to the use of direct payments is in place from January 2025.

Across Social Services

Domiciliary  
Care  

Community 
Meetings

People  
First

Positive 
Regulatory 
Inspections

Bridgend 
Youth  
Forum

Quality 
Assurance

Complaints & 
Complements

15 
 

Across Social Services 
 

Voice and Control 
People’s views play an important 
role in helping us understand 
where we have done well and 
areas where we could do better. 
Engagement and involvement are 
at the centre of everything we do.  

This year we have done a range of 
engagement and consultation 
exercises.  

 

 

Direct Payments 

Direct payments help people have more flexibility and control in how their care and support is 
delivered. 

 
The graph shows there was a 3% decrease in the number of adults receiving a direct payment 
at 31st March 2025, and an 18% increase in the number of children and young people. A review 
of direct payments has been completed and a policy and guidance developed. A clear and 
consistent approach to the use of direct payments is in place from January 2025. 

 

Advocacy Support 

Advocates help make sure that the rights, needs and voice of people are heard.  

Below is a table noting the number of “Active Offers” of advocacy support to children and 
adults during the year, and the number who then went on to receive support from an advocate. 

 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 
Number of 'Active Offers' of advocacy for children 
during the year  
 

78 71 54 

Of which, number of children where an Independent 
Professional Advocate was provided 70 64 39 

24

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 42



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Advocacy Support
Advocates help make sure that the rights, needs and voice of people are heard. 

The table shows a decrease in the offer of an 
advocate in both service areas compared to  
2023-24. 

The 24% decrease in children being offered an 
advocate is due to a decrease in the number 
of children becoming care experienced and 
those being subject to an initial child protection 
conference. Focused work to increase the delivery 

of the active offer for eligible children has been done 
and data has improved between September and 
March 2024.

Within adult social care our advocacy services have 
not had enough capacity to take on new referrals. 
To improve this position, we will undertake a review 
of the delivery of this contract to reflect current 
demands.

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Number of 'Active Offers' of advocacy for children during the year 78 71 54

Of which, number of children where an Independent Professional 
Advocate was provided

70 64 39

Number of adults where the need for an Independent Professional 
Advocate was identified

181 125 102

Of which, number of adults where an Independent Advocate was provided 173 87 67

We have worked across the directorate in the following areas to support effective leadership.

Workforce 
Development
A workforce development plan has been 
created to improve the experience of our 
workforce so they feel well supported 
and valued. We achieve the right balance 
of skills and experience in our teams 
and retain and recruit a high standard of 
practitioner to our service.

Our retention and recruitment strategy is 
working, providing a clear opportunities for the 
provision of mentoring support and training 
opportunities for managers. Mentoring support 
through Social Care Wales and our improvement 
partner has helped with our succession planning.

Management 
and Leadership 
Pathway
Our management and leadership 
development pathway and 
program is part of our support for 
all managers to develop their skills 
in leading teams and services.

We worked with our improvement partner 
to deliver a bespoke management and 
leadership development programme and 
first line managers have been offered 
the ILM Level 3 Award in Leadership and 
Management.

Below is a table noting the number of “Active Offers” of advocacy 
support to children and adults during the year, and the number 
who then went on to receive support from an advocate.

Supporting Effective Leadership 

25

Appendix 1

Page 43



Voice and 
Control
Understanding  
Family Engagement

CASE STUDY: 

Signs of Safety  
in Practice
A 14 year old Child A, was referred to 
Children and Family Services in 2023 due 
to concerns about exploitation, fractious 
family relationships and going missing. 
These circumstances saw A move from 
their parent’s care into local authority foster 
care, moving 4 times during 2023-24. A was 
known to use substances and there was 
continued concern for their safety and  
well-being. 

A was allocated a social worker and in December 
2024 the social worker and the safeguarding team 
asked for support to run a Signs of Safety family 
network meeting to move towards re-uniting the 
family. The consultant social worker supported the 
family and professionals to engage in a mapping 
exercise to consider what was working well, worries, 
complicating factors and next steps for A, to build 
a family led safety plan that worked for both A and 
their family.

During the meeting, family and professionals 
worked together to establish the risks and worries 
through “Danger Statements”, developing safety 
goals and identifying areas of strength and safety. 
The meeting was rich in discussion and by working 
jointly with A and their family, a co-produced plan 
was established to support A in moving home in a 
safe and planned way.

 By January 2025 A returned home to their parent’s 
care. They worked together to ensure the family 
felt equipped to keep A safe. The support offered 
by the social worker, the residential home and 
Youth Offending Service, supported the successful 
reunification and in April 2025 A was safely 
removed from the child protection register due to 
the positive progress made.

A’s story shows the positive outcomes that can 
be achieved through the collaborative, relational, 
strengths based social work which in Children and 
Family Services is achieved through the Signs of 
Safety model. The social worker has been praised 
by A’s Independent Reviewing Officer for being child 
focussed and relational in their social work practice.

Children 
and Family 
Services

We have focussed our quality 
assurance on understanding 
how well care and support plans 
provide evidence of how children, 
young people and their families 
participated in shaping their plans 
and that the plans focussed on 
what mattered to those involved. 
We concluded that our care and 
support plans evidenced the voice 
of the child and that both the child 
and family were clearly involved in 
their plans. 

We have embedded the ‘signs of 
safety’ model of practice. We have also 
sustainably reduced children’s social 
worker caseloads. This has supported 
practitioners to build relationships with 
children and families spending more 
time working directly with them. It helps 
them understand their strengths and 
connections and developing safety plans 
that are owned by those involved. Signs 
of safety places the family at the heart of 
decision making. An independent review 
has confirmed that we are providing 
the right support at the right time. This 
helps us understand the child and family 
even in situations where an immediate 
response to safeguarding is required.

26

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 44



Developing a Skilled and 
Supported Workforce
Supporting Practice Framework Implementation 

Story Panel

Over the last year we 
completed a training needs 
analysis. It looked at how 
our training programme 
focusses on the needs of our 
workforce to ensure the best 
possible support is provided 
to children and their families. 

This analysis has helped us to 
strengthen our practice and 
develop family safety plans that 
support sustainable long-term 
approaches and move away from 
short term service plans. 

Over 180 members of our 
workforce are now trained in our 
‘signs of safety’ practice model.

We now have a ‘story panel’ 
where stories can be shared 
to hear the lived experience 
of families. It allows us 
to reflect and review the 
effectiveness of what we 
do and the impact of our 
involvement. Below is an 
example of stories shared. 

Hearing these stories and lived 
experiences helps us to reflect 
and consider how effective our 
current policies are in promoting 
‘what matters’ conversations and 
positive outcomes that are led by 
the child and their family.

‘Most Significant Change’

The ‘Most Significant Change’ (MSC) model helps us gather 
feedback from people we work with to show how our services 
are making a difference. These stories tell us things we may 
miss with facts and figures alone and helps us understand how 
effective our services are and how to improve them in a more 
person centred way.

Within Children and Family Services we ran a pilot using the 
MSC model to support care experienced children and their 
families in voicing what matters to them to support reunification 
and build lasting long-term relationships. This pilot enabled us 
to understand the impact of our work, was positively received 
and will be rolled out further across the service. 

We have appointed a Signs of Safety Consultant Social Worker 
to embed this model across the service and a Workforce 
Development Officer who has provided internal training and 
will now focus on training partners. 

‘They started listening 
to me more. For a while 

I said I wanted to see 
my mum and dad more 

and wanted to see them 
alone. They started to 
listen to me, and then I 

started to live down here. 
I started to notice more 

changes when X became 
involved and when X 

brought me down here 
for the first time.’ 

‘I dislike social 
services – they took 
12 years away from 
me, they could have 

worked with my mum 
and dad.’ 

‘When they tell kids 
they have a place 

open, an extra week 
would be nice, instead 

of two days to pack. 
I have school and 

exams and was very 
stressful and does not 

help at all’  

‘I think they could 
have looked at the 
case a bit better.’

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

27

Appendix 1

Page 45



Voice and Control
To ensure the people of Bridgend have control over what matters to them, we 
design services alongside them and make sure they are targeted to the needs of 
local communities. 

Adult Social Care

Better Together Bridgend
Better together Bridgend is a partnership between people with a learning disability, 
supported by People First, support providers and the council. The partnership has 
co-produced a plan to improve services in Bridgend.

The group has a programme board chaired by a person with a learning disability.  
The workstreams of Better Together Bridgend include work on developing day opportunities  
by developing a hub and spoke model around the community hubs, extending the take up of 
annual health checks for people with learning disabilities, and support for parents to create  
a parents’ forum.

Having a Say Group 

The Having a Say Group began back in 2022, bringing together people with learning disabilities 
who are living in their own homes supported by staff working under the umbrella of BCBC 
Supported Living services. It began as an opportunity for an informal get together for people 
to socialise, see friends and re-establish their networks in person following the restrictions and 
isolation they felt during COVID but the group has evolved into strong, supportive networks. 
People plan social events and parties, invite other groups to come and share information about 
their services; these have ranged from charities and advocacy groups to BCBC’s safeguarding 
team and Contracts Monitoring team.

Through the meetings and events people have built meaningful connections and collaborative 
relationships; these inclusive approaches have helped people to place lived experiences at the 
heart of the discussions, decision-making and their own personal development. 

At each meeting people have the opportunity to share good news, celebrate achievements, and 
recognise the everyday successes that often go unnoticed; by sharing experiences they have 
developed environments that value encouragement and support. Alongside sharing positive 
updates, the group also provides a space for people to reflect on learning experiences. From 
overcoming barriers to navigating support systems, people are empowered to share their stories 
and help other learn. These open discussions help with people’s understanding and also spark 
conversations about how services can improve and better meet people’s needs. 

The minutes and action log are produced in easy read form.

The group is now supporting our safeguarding team with the development of communication and 
accessible information for vulnerable people living in Bridgend.

28

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 46



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

29

Appendix 1

Page 47



Strength Based / Outcome Focused 
Practice Model
We delivered training to support consistent implementation of our model of practice 
to ensure it is embedded across the service. This is reinforced in supervision and 
peer support. 

Fortnightly meetings are held to monitor the performance and impact of the model and make sure 
it is consistent across all areas of the service.

The Welsh 
Language

CASE STUDY: 

Mwy Na Geiriau /  
More than Just Words
Adult A’s first and preferred language is Welsh. As a 
result of this, A’s capacity assessment was completed 
in Welsh, where discussions with their family also took 
place in Welsh due to this being their preferred and 
first language.

A enjoyed interacting with the practitioner in Welsh, held their 
hand and was smiling throughout the assessment process.

The outcome of the assessment was that A lacked capacity 
regarding their hospital discharge plans but enjoyed the 
opportunity to interact with someone in the language they 
understood best. 

The family advised that A had only spoken to them in Welsh. 
As a family, they were also pleased to be supported by the 
practitioner through the medium of Welsh during the difficult 
time of navigating the hospital discharge process.

“Mwy Na Geiriau / More 
Than Just Words” is 
a strategic framework 
produced by Welsh 
Government, which 
along with the Welsh 
Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 promotes 
Welsh language 
and culture in social 
services, social care and 
health across Wales. 

It is important that the 
people we work with have an 
opportunity to communicate 
in their language of choice.

Developing a Skilled and 
Supported Workforce
Training and development have been targeted across a number of our services to 
ensure we are providing opportunities for staff to develop their skills and are suitably 
qualified to undertake their roles. Some areas of training delivered during the year 
are highlighted below.

30

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 48



Falls Prevention
Falls prevention training for 
support workers highlights the 
main causes of falls and their 
impact on older adults. It gives 
practical information and advice 
on what can be done to reduce 
the risk of falls. 

The training has been delivered to all 
our domiciliary care staff, carers in 
care homes and has been adapted 
to support community staff from 
third sector partners, Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations 
(BAVO) and Care and Repair. 
Training is currently being delivered 
to independent domiciliary care 
providers in the area, with training 
being provided to 325 people during 
the year. 

Telecare/ Technology 
Enhanced Care
The telecare e-learning module is now 
mandatory and forms part of the induction for 
all staff ranging from carers to social workers. It 
has enabled staff to be more aware of telecare 
and to recognise equipment when they are 
in a person’s home so that they can contact 
the telecare team if they identify any technical 
issues. The module also gives guidance on how 
to complete a telecare referral correctly so that 
delays can be avoided. 

The telecare team have been pro-active in setting up 
monthly ‘just checking’ drop-in sessions for practitioners 
so that diagnostic data can be used as part of the 
assessment process to right size packages of care. 
Meetings have also been set-up with all the social work 
teams to help raise the profile of technology enabled care 
to support our frontline services to free-up care capacity.

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

People: 2025-26 Key Priorities
ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES

Co-design and support community based health 
and wellbeing activities across both Awen and Halo 
partnerships.

Work with carers who have a caring reasonability's 
for loved ones, family members with a dementia 
diagnosis to develop a carers networks and 
understand what is needed.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

Continue to implement our workforce plans to 
make sure we keep continue to build on good 
process in the recruitment and retention of staff.

Continue to train and support our staff to use the 
signs of safety model of practice across all areas of 
the service.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Complete an evidence based review 
of the Bridgend Resource Centre and 
review capital and revenue opportunities 
for optimal use of community buildings 
across the borough.

Deliver a comprehensive rolling training 
and development programme to support 
the consistent implementation of the 
adult social care model of practice, 
to ensure it is embedded across the 
service.

Develop a business justification case for 
a ‘core and cluster’ model of supported 
living for people with learning disabilities 
at the Sunnyside site.

31

Appendix 1

Page 49



Quality Standards

“The need for care and support 
is minimised and the escalation 
of need is prevented whilst 
ensuring that the best outcomes 
for people are achieved” 

“Resilience within communities 
is promoted and people are 
supported to fulfil their potential 
by actively supporting people 
who need care and/or support 
including carers to learn develop 
and participate in society” 

Prevention

32

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 50



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Promoting Resilient 
Communities 
Our 3 year strategic plans for children and families and adults emphasise the 
importance of prevention and early intervention in keeping families together, 
supporting independence and connection to friends, family and community.

Our Prevention and Wellbeing Service and Early Help and Edge of Care Services, our healthy 
living, cultural trust and third sector partners play an important role in helping us support people 
within their communities by working with to stop problems getting worse and people needing long 
term care and support from social services.

Resilient and  
Connected Communities
The ‘Building Resilient and Co-ordinated Communities’ programme supports 
individual and community well-being. It is a cross sector programme with Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO) and the broader third sector, to 
support individual and community well-being. This partnership approach has 
secured Regional Partnership investment to address areas such as loneliness and 
isolation, connecting people to support within communities, developing carer well-
being and building community networks of common purpose (e.g. disability, older 
adults).

Local Community Connectors (LCCs) form part of our Prevention and Wellbeing Service. 
They aim to support a person’s independence by providing support to avoid or delay the 
need for statutory care by promoting individual strength and resilience. They recognise and 
support the value of individual gifts, skills and assets, the powerful and positive role of families 
and relationships and the contribution that local communities can make as an alternative to 
professional health and social care services.

Across Social Services

33

Appendix 1

Page 51



Carer Wellbeing 
We offer a range of services to support carers across the borough.

•  �The Bridgend Carers Wellbeing 
Service, delivered by the 
charity TuVida, supports unpaid 
carers in Bridgend.  It provides 
a range of services including 
advice on caring, access to 
breaks, support groups, free 
training, carer grants, and 
health and wellbeing support. 
The service aims to help carers 
manage their caring role while 
maintaining their own health 
and wellbeing. Over the year 

the service received 553 
referrals, with 1522 carers 
supported or signposted to a 
relevant service.

•  �The Halo Carers respite 
programme delivered 9 
community sessions, providing 
18 hours of replacement care 
and had 60 attendances. 

•  �Over the year, Cwmpas have 
supported 83 unpaid carers to 
access local support. 

•  �The peer mentoring project run 
in partnership with Bridgend 
Carers Centre for young 
carers aged 7 to 25. It gave 
57 young carers the chance 
to make new friends, feel like 
they belong and be less lonely. 
All young carers told us they 
feel better in themselves, with 
improved mental health, more 
confidence, higher self-esteem 
and improved life skills. 

Over the next year we will create a strategic carers group within Bridgend to ensure the views 
of all unpaid carers are heard and acted upon to co-produce a carers strategy. The groups will 
include representatives from the Council and carer representatives from 3rd sector organisations.

Resilient and Connected Communities:

2024-25 Summary
THE BUILDING RESILIENT AND CO-ORDINATED 
COMMUNITIES PROGRAMME:

Signposted 2288 people to relevant services 

Supported 564 people to make new friends or 
improve their support networks.

LOCAL COMMUNITY CONNECTORS:

Supported 272 organisations to develop  
or deliver preventative opportunities based  
on “what matters” conversations

Noted 137 people attending network meetings

Reported 587 people had increased  
social connections

NEXT STEPS:

Build stronger cohesive partnerships 
across the 3rd sector

Hold workshops with referring partners 
to ensure the right people are being 
referred to the right service

Strengthen engagement with early help 
services to help inform and shape the 
family support offer

Ensure capacity to support the needs of 
those signposted to the community

34

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 52

https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/


�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Young 
Carers
The Bridgend Young Carers 
Network is a partnership between 
the Council, Bridgend Carers 
Centre, Whitehead Ross, Tu-Vida, 
Awen, Halo, Bridgend Inclusive 
Network Group, BAVO, Bridgend 
College and primary and secondary 
schools across the borough. 

The network began its journey in 2022 
and has continued to grow, providing a 
platform for young carers and young adult 
carers to have their voices heard and 
needs addressed. It is led by young carer 
ambassadors aged 11 to 25 years who 
play a vital role in leading activities and 
generating interest in joining the network. 

The group has grown from 3 to 17 
ambassadors all playing a crucial role in 
co-designing and supporting the voice 
of other young carers to be heard and 
acted on, whilst breaking down barriers 
for young carers to thrive and reach their 
full potential. While many young carers 
excel at home, perform well academically 
and maintain strong friendships, others 
face significant challenges and require 
additional support. 

One of the main obstacles they encounter 
is finding the time and space to focus 
on their own health and well-being. The 
Bridgend Young Carer Network organises 
termly events that bring young carers 
together to share experiences, learn from 
one another, and make new friends. 

Young carers and care-experienced 
parents are being identified earlier and 
supported in ways that help them stay 
healthy, manage responsibilities, and 
remain in education or work. These 
community-focused supports are helping 
build resilience and reduce pressure on 
statutory services.

Support for 
Young Carers

NEXT STEPS 
To further support young carers we will:

Create a series of short advocacy films for 
schools to improve school-based staff’s 
awareness in this area

Continue to strengthen relationships with 
young carers and adult and parent carers 
groups.

Supported by the Healthy Living 
Partnership

•  �294 Young Carers are accessing  
a Halo Membership.

•  �549 Young Carer ID cards  
have been issued.

17 Young Carer Ambassadors in 
schools across the borough.  
167 primary school children are 
involved, and 381 comprehensive  
and young adult carers. 

154 Young Carers attended  
“We are valued” days, supported  
by educational settings.

35

Appendix 1

Page 53



Young Carers Event
The Young Carers Network currently supports 146 young carers. In March 2025 
they held an event which not only offered an opportunity for young carers to 
gather information to help with their caring role but gave them time for themselves. 

It is also provided an opportunity for Young Carers to have time away from their responsibilities, 
their caring role, school and any other pressure they may be experiencing. 

36

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 54



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Preventing the Escalation 
of Care & Support 
Early Intervention and Prevention

Children and  
Family Services

Early Help and Edge of Care joined Children and Family Services between April and July 2024. 
New referral processes were implemented in September 2024 in line with our ‘no wrong door’ 
principle of people accessing the right support from the right person at the right time.

For more information on the impact of Early Help, please refer to the Well-being section of this report.

Early Help is a preventative service which 
focusses on spotting and addressing issues at the 
first opportunity. It helps build trusted relationships 
and provides the right support at the right time to 
reduce more intensive support at a later date. The 
service provides a range of support.

Parenting

Managing 
Challenging 
Behaviour  
(0-25 yrs)

Disability 
Support

Domestic 
Violence

Play  
Therapy

Support for 
Young Carers

Benefits /  
Debt 

Management

Employment

Mental Health 
& Emotional 
Well-being

Early Help 
Services

37

Appendix 1

Page 55



Edge of Care provides services to families who are already in receipt of care and support to help them make 
the necessary changes to prevent children from becoming care experienced, focussing on 6 key areas.

Edge of Care 

EDGE OF CARE SERVICES ANALYSIS OF EDGE OF CARE:  
2024-25

CONNECTING FAMILIES 

97 cases in total

85 families received support

96% of cases successfully supported 

BABY IN MIND

28 families 

28 families received support

82% of cases successfully supported 
through trauma-informed support

INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICE

22 cases in total

86% of cases successfully supported

RAPID RESPONSE

61 cases in total

95% of cases successfully supported 

222 referrals were received by  
Edge of Care during the year  

92% of families who engaged  
with the service were successfully 
supported to prevent children  
and young people from entering care

RAPID RESPONSE
Short term support for children  
and families in crisis

BABY IN MIND
Intensive pre and post birth support 
for families and wider networks to 
ensure the baby can remain in the 
care of the family safely

DADS SUPPORT WORKER
One to One or group support to 
develop fathers’ relationships with 
their children

CONNECTING FAMILIES
Medium term support for children 
and families where there are 
concerns about children’s safety

INTEGRATED  
FAMILY SUPPORT
Long term support for families 
affected by trauma

RISE
Long term support for families whose 
children have been placed into care 
and subsequently adopted

38

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 56



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Contacts to  
the Service

Care and Support  
Assessments

However, whilst contacts have increased the 
proportion of contacts where advice and assistance 
was required has decreased from 19% of all 
contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% in 2024-25. This 
demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on 
early intervention and prevention via non statutory 
(social services) support. 

With early help co-located within MASH and locality 
safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure children and 
families get the right support from the right service 

has increased in the last 12 months. To demonstrate 
this between January to March 2025 there were 237 
referrals received into Early Help which equates to a 
22.8% increase when compared to the same period 
in 2024.

We have identified a need to separate referrals 
and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a referral 
makes our figures appear greater than other local 
authorities, as a number of referrals can be related to 
the same incident. 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the 
effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening tool 
which has assisted clearer decision making alongside 
our drive for early intervention via preventative 
approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were 
able to be supported outside of statutory services 
compared to 43% in 2023-24.

Following a recent independent review of front 
door arrangements, it was confirmed that practice 
and decision making is safe and reflects our model 
of practice. We have identified a range of areas 
including threshold, decision-making and joint 
working for improvement. 

Over the last year the number of 
contacts received by Children and 

Family Services increased by 24%. 

Over the year we completed 1576  
new care and support assessments for 

children and young people which is a 
34% decrease compared to 2023-24. 

37 
 

 

 

Contacts to the Service 

Over the last year the number of contacts received by Children and Family Services increased 
by 24%.  

 

However, whilst contacts have increased the proportion of contacts where advice and 
assistance was required has decreased from 19% of all contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% 
in 2024-25. This demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on early intervention and 
prevention via non statutory (social services) support.  

With early help co-located within MASH and locality safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure 
children and families get the right support from the right service has increased in the last 12 
months. To demonstrate this between January to March 2025 there were 237 referrals 
received into Early Help which equates to a 22.8% increase when compared to the same 
period in 2024. 

We have identified a need to separate referrals and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a 
referral makes our figures appear greater than other local authorities, as a number of referrals 
can be related to the same incident.  

 

37 
 

 

 

Contacts to the Service 

Over the last year the number of contacts received by Children and Family Services increased 
by 24%.  

 

However, whilst contacts have increased the proportion of contacts where advice and 
assistance was required has decreased from 19% of all contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% 
in 2024-25. This demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on early intervention and 
prevention via non statutory (social services) support.  

With early help co-located within MASH and locality safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure 
children and families get the right support from the right service has increased in the last 12 
months. To demonstrate this between January to March 2025 there were 237 referrals 
received into Early Help which equates to a 22.8% increase when compared to the same 
period in 2024. 

We have identified a need to separate referrals and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a 
referral makes our figures appear greater than other local authorities, as a number of referrals 
can be related to the same incident.  

 

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

39

Appendix 1

Page 57



Preventing the Escalation 
of Care & Support 

Home Care Remodelling:  
The Support at Home Journey
We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness 
of short-term interventions for people in the community to reduce or 
eliminate the need for longer-term care at home.

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase 
care capacity and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people 
who appeared to require care and support via the Support at Home Assessment 
Team. By mapping people’s current provision, we were able to create 3 v locality 
support networks. Each network comprises of a Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators 
each supported by a number of dedicated direct care staff. The new structure was 
introduced in October 2024. 

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to 
identifying and providing support. It has supported people to maintain their 
independence by providing an opportunity to access reablement services, and, 
where care and support is required ensure it is proportionate to the person’s needs. 
During 2024-25, 509 people completed a period of reablement, an increase of 35% 
when compared to 2024-25 where 377 people completed a period of reablement.

Next steps are, provide further training to upskill care staff in improved reablement 
practices and pursue a vision for a multi-disciplinary service at the front door of 
adult services to increase the earlier interventions.

Adult Social Care

Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain 
independent where possible. To promote independence a number of 
initiatives were introduced across our community based services.

40

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 58



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Bed to Chair:  
A Rehabilitation Project for  
Adults with Complex, Long-term Conditions
It was recognised that some people who require therapy led reablement required 
more support.

To address these gaps, we have provided community based support for people most at risk of 
admission to hospital or long-term care via reablement interventions.

The project has had a positive impact both on individuals and the service. By increasing capacity 
at the early stages of the referral process and providing more timely intervention, not only have 
people retained independence and improved their wellbeing but their risk of being admitted to 
hospital was reduced, which will reduce the reliance on long term care and support

There were 495 people supported by the local authority in care home placements at the end of 
March 2025 compared with 524 at the end of March 2024 which demonstrates the outcomes 
from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly positive 
given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend

CASE STUDY: 

Care Home Avoidance
Adult B lives in sheltered accommodation and was referred to a Social Worker for admittance 
to a care home due to increasing self-neglect resulting in significant health problems. B 
was declining care from the current care agency and was at risk of being evicted from their 
sheltered accommodation.

B was discussed in the Multi-disciplinary Team and an assessment focussed on what mattered to B. A plan was 
put in place to allow them to remain in their sheltered accommodation and reduce the risks. This included: 

•  �a Therapy Technician program designed by the Occupational Therapist.

•  �a recliner chair purchased.

•  �a physiotherapy program commenced on strength-based work

•  �and a mobility aid ordered and strength built to access the toilet independently.

This meant that B’s care calls were able to be reduced from 4 to 2 per day, the district nurse support was 
withdrawn and through the Social Worker, the Care Agency was changed and a new program of care designed 
introducing reablement approaches.

This approach meant that B was able to remain in their home and be as independent as they could be. This was 
a much better outcome for B as well as making saving on care home fees for the local authority. 

41

Appendix 1

Page 59



Contacts to  
the Service

Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early Intervention 
and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front Door. 

Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the increase 
in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Door ensures only those contacts 
requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service.

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH.  
The reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments. 

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met.

There was a 7% increase  
in new contacts received during  
2024-25 compared to 2023-24. 

Care and Support  
Assessments

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and 
support assessments for adults were 

completed, which is an increase of 37% 
when compared to the previous year. 

40 
 

from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly 
positive given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend 

 
Contacts to the Service 

There was a 7% increase in new contacts received during 2024-25 compared to 2023-24.  

 
Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early 
Intervention and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front 
Door.  
 
Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the 
increase in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Foor ensures only 
those contacts requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service. 
 

Care and Support Assessments 

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and support assessments for adults were completed, which 
is an increase of 37% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH. The 
reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is  positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments.  

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met. 

 

40 
 

from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly 
positive given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend 

 
Contacts to the Service 

There was a 7% increase in new contacts received during 2024-25 compared to 2023-24.  

 
Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early 
Intervention and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front 
Door.  
 
Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the 
increase in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Foor ensures only 
those contacts requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service. 
 

Care and Support Assessments 

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and support assessments for adults were completed, which 
is an increase of 37% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH. The 
reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is  positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments.  

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met. 

 
42

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 60



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

The Reablement 
Service
As stated earlier, the total number of reablement 
packages provided during the year rose by 35%, 
as a result of the remodelling of the Support at 
Home service which is described above.

Delayed 
Pathways of 
Care
The number of people delayed in their 
transfer of care on the ‘discharge to recover 
and assess’ pathway has decreased from 
104 in 2023-24 to 70 in 2024-25. 

This information is a count of people on a set 
census day each month who are still in hospital 48 
hours after a clinician has determined that they are 
medically fit to return home. These improvements 
have been achieved despite our workforce working 
across multiple hospital sites due to the major 
works required at the Princess of Wales Hospital.

Whilst there has been a positive impact for those 
people whose needs were maintained there has been 
a small decrease in those whose needs were reduced 
or avoided. The service has observed that the level of 
need of the people accessing reablement has increased 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Reablement Packages that 
mitigated the need for 
support

67% 67% 56%

Reablement Packages that 
reduced the need for support 12% 14% 17%

% of Reablement packages 
that maintained the need for 
the same level of support

15% 14% 16%

% of Reablement packages 
that neither reduced, 
maintained nor mitigated the 
need for support

7% 5% 11%

Prevention:  
2025-26  
Key Priorities
ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES

Preventative services to connect people 
to community based support. 

Bridgend Carers Wellbeing Service 
to support referrals and conduct what 
matters conversations.

Strategic group created to support unpaid 
carers and identify objectives within the 
carers action plan.

Community based activity offers for carers 
developed with Halo and Awen and 3rd 
sector partners.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

Implement our commissioning strategies 
for Family Support and Children with 
disabilities.

Reduce the number of care experienced 
children and reunify children with their 
families whenever it is safe to do so.

Implement our placement commissioning 
strategy and reduce our use of 
unregistered placements.

Continue with the remodelling of fostering 
services so that we retain the carers we 
already have and recruit into the local 
authority.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Strategic group created to support unpaid 
carers to improve the way we work with 
adult carers.

Carry out a review of the assisted 
recovery in the community service in 
partnership with CTMUHB and other 
stakeholders.

43

Appendix 1

Page 61



Quality Standards

“Effective partnerships are 
in place to commission and 
fully deliver fully integrated, 
high quality sustainable 
outcomes for people” 

“People are encouraged to 
be involved in the design and 
delivery of their care and 
support as equal partners” 

Partnership and Integration

44

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 62



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Regional Arrangements 
We have a number of regional partnerships that work across the whole of the service.

We work closely with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board (CTMUHB), Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and other partners in the Regional 
Partnership . The aim of the Regional Partnership is to improve the wellbeing, health and social care services 
of people living across the 3 areas. The Deputy Leader of BCBC is the chair of the Regional Partnership

To ensure we have effective arrangements in place to protect all people of all ages from harm, with our 
regional partners we are a member of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board.

At a local level, several of our services are integrated with key partners. 

Local Arrangements
At a local level, several of our services are integrated with key partners. 

The Bridgend Multi-Agency Safeguarding Team (MASH) co-locates our Children and 
Family Services and Adult Safeguarding teams with a number of agencies including South 
Wales Police, education and probation to provide a collaborative approach to safeguarding 
across the borough. More information on Bridgend MASH can be found on our website.

In Adult Social Care our Integrated Cluster Network Teams work jointly with CTMUHB to 
deliver services to people within the community. Our integrated approach for adults is 
based across 3 ‘networks.’ These bring together a range of social care and community 
health professionals to meet the needs of people with chronic and long-term conditions. 

Each network covers a geographical area of the county aligned with our GP surgeries. 
This ensures that people receive integrated care within their communities which can adapt 
as their needs change. Taking a multidisciplinary approach means that we can respond 
to issues that arise quickly, preventing things getting worse. Taking a holistic approach to 
meeting people’s needs and working closely with their families ensures they don’t need 
to repeat their story to multiple professionals and ensures they have greater choice and 
control in the way their care is delivered. 

Across Social Services

45

Appendix 1

Page 63

https://ctmregionalpartnershipboard.co.uk/
https://www.cwmtafmorgannwgsafeguardingboard.co.uk/En/Home.aspx
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/


A MESSAGE FROM OUR PARTNER:

“Trust and confidence in the child protection arrangements in Bridgend faced 
considerable pressure following several high-profile child deaths. Bridgend 
Children’s Services played a pivotal role in this response and, in my view, deserve 
significant recognition

Upon identifying that certain aspects of the arrangements required improvement, they engaged 
fully and transparently with partners. While performance data can often be a sensitive matter, 
Bridgend was proactive in discussing in granular detail the areas that needed attention. This 
openness allowed partners to provide constructive feedback and gain a comprehensive 
understanding of the interdependencies at play.

In keeping with the commitment to trust and transparency, there was positive engagement with 
practitioners across all agencies. This inclusive approach ensured that challenges were openly 
discussed, and all practitioners had the opportunity to contribute to the development of solutions.

While there is always room for improvement, and we should continually strive to deliver the best 
possible service to our most vulnerable, Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) quickly 
adopted the stance that such progress must be built on a foundation of trust, confidence, and a 
shared understanding of the barriers, challenges, and strategic goals.”

Detective Superintendent
SOUTH WALES POLICE

Third Sector 
Arrangements
Our Prevention and Wellbeing Service works with third sector partners, 
Awen Cultural Trust and Halo Leisure in the delivery of leisure, cultural and 
wellbeing services. These are key to supporting preventative services for 
children, young people, adults their families and carers.

Our partners have had a successful year:

•  �In June 2024, Halo’s Healthy Living Partnership, including the Council and other 
partners, received an excellent rating following an assessment by QUEST. QUEST 
is a quality assurance scheme for the sport and leisure industry measuring national 
standards and for service planning. Receiving this rating demonstrates BCBC and 
Halo’s commitment to providing high-quality services and customer satisfaction.

•  �Awen libraries which is managed the Awen Cultural Trust in Partnership with the 
Council was named Welsh Library of The Year at the 2025 British Book Awards. The 
award recognises libraries who bring the world of books to the wider community.

46

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 64



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Addressing the Gaps  
in Social Care
In April 2024, Cabinet approved three 
commissioning strategies across the key 
population areas, which set out our priority 
areas and commissioning intentions over 
the next 5 years. 

The strategies were developed using analysis 
from Population Needs Assessments and Market 
Stability Reports produced in 2022/23, as well as 
local data to identify key trends about the people 
of Bridgend and our services. This data has 
enabled us to understand how our current services 
are performing and to project future service 
requirements over the coming years. 

Some of the key areas of work identified in 
the commissioning strategies included the 
development of a Placement Commissioning 
Strategy in Children and Family Services as well as 
a detailed Accommodation-Based Service review, 
and a review of Daytime Opportunities within Adult 
Social Care

A Children and Families Placement Commissioning 
strategy has been submitted to Welsh Government 
and our key priorities include:

•  Enhancing our Residential Provision

•  �Increasing Supported lodgings and 
Supported accommodation options

•  �Reducing our independent high-cost 
residential use.

•  �Eliminating Operating Without Registration 
use

We have also started a project to remodel our 
fostering services. The aims of this are to:

•  �Increase the  number and diversity of Foster 
Wales Bridgend carers.

•  �Improve carer recruitment conversion and 
reduce terminations.

•  �Enhance carer support, wellbeing and 
retention.

•  �Reduce reliance on Independent Foster 
Agencies and residential placements.

•  �Embed carer voice through consistent 
communication and Foster Carer charter 
delivery.

Within Adult Social Care, we completed an 
accommodation mapping exercise, the findings 
of which were approved by Cabinet in March 
2025. Key priority areas identified include the 
development of a new extra care service in the 
south of the county borough, and to ensure 
service accommodation provision (both internal 
and commissioned) is able to meet increasing 
complexities and increasing dementia rates moving 
forward. 

The key next steps are to finalise business cases 
in these priority areas in order to help secure 
any capital and revenue available to support the 
developments needed. 

There has also been a review of daytime 
opportunities in Bridgend, which have been 
approved by Cabinet, where the following priority 
areas were identified. 

•  �A progressive and enabling service, enabling 
people to progress/realise their potential or 
move to their next stage of care

•  �Meaningful occupation for younger adults 
going through transition and adults of 
working age 

•  �Carer respite and high-quality care, support 
and meaningful activity for those with the 
most complex needs 

•  �Community connection to meet the social 
needs of people with care and support needs

Over the next year we will continue to develop 
and mobilise children’s residential care as set out 
in the business justification case and Placement 
Commissioning Strategy and continue to improve 
the way we support foster carers to improve our 
retention and recruitment of foster carers.

47

Appendix 1

Page 65



Effective Partnerships
Mental Health Support for Children 
and Young People

Children and  
Family Services

We developed a multi-agency action plan with CTMUHB, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr 
County Borough Councils to improve mental health support for children and young people.

This has led to better joint working between the health board and local authorities. We are jointly 
developing an approach that ensures children and families access emotional wellbeing support from the 
right service at the right time. This regional approach will be termed SPACE and is intending to go live in 
January 2026.

CASE STUDY: 

Working with Health to Safeguard from Harm
Child B was hospitalised following self-harming themselves. Their parent was extremely 
concerned about how to safeguard B from any harm with worries that a further attempt would 
be made to harm themselves again. 

Health and Social Services worked together to hold risk management meetings and be clear about what risks 
were evident and how they were being managed. Health clearly outlined their risk assessment and rationale 
about why community support was the best course of action for B. 

It was a concerning situation, but partners worked well together with clear roles and responsibilities. B remains 
with a family member and is being supported by Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and social 
services to recover from their experiences and safeguard from harm.

Homelessness
We have developed plans to improve the response to care leavers who 
experience homelessness. Working closely with our housing partners 
we intend to develop a joint protocol to address and try and prevent 
these issues from occurring in the future. 

We have also been developing additional supported accommodation options for care 
leavers to ensure smooth transitions for children and young people into adulthood. 

48

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 66



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

People As Equal Partners
Family Support Services Commissioning 
Strategy and Young People

Due to increased demand on our statutory services, our improvement partner 
reviewed current services and local needs. 

They identified clear areas of focus to enhance preventative services and alleviate pressure on 
statutory support and ensure children and families access the right support at the right time.

As part of this review, a Family Commissioning Strategy was developed which clearly sets out 6 
key areas for Early Help, Edge of Care and partner agencies to focus on over the next 2 years. 

The strategy will support collaboration with communities and local organisations 
to build a broader network of support for families, in ways that are more familiar 
and rooted in their own communities. We are starting to see stronger relationships 
between local services, voluntary groups, and the families they support

1. STREAMLINED SERVICES

Integrate Early Help, MASH,  
and Social Work into a single  
front door

Develop clear referral routes and 
aligned access, assessment, and 
planning pathways

Promote a "no wrong door" 
approach for families and 
professionals

2. �MORE INTENSIVE TARGETED 
SUPPORT

Expand Tier 3 services for 
families with complex needs

Equip Family Support staff with 
skills to deliver sustained, high-
impact intervention

Reduce reliance on statutory 
services by offering earlier 
intensive help

5. �SUPPORT FOR 
NEURODIVERSE CHILDREN  
& MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS

Collaborate with NHS to 
invest in support for complex 
neurodevelopmental and 
emotional needs

Create intensive family support 
pathways tailored to these young 
people

Reduce pressure on families and 
prevent breakdown

4. �SUPPORT FOR OLDER 
CHILDREN & ADOLESCENTS

Address rising demand related to 
family conflict, exploitation, and 
school exclusion

Develop flexible and responsive 
support offers, including  
out-of-hours provision

Build capacity to reduce 
unplanned care entry for 
teenagers

3. �PARENTING SUPPORT 
REFORM

Shift from general parenting 
programmes to targeted, 
evidence-based interventions

Increase coaching-style, one-to-
one support for families at risk

Commission new models and 
partners to deliver intensive 
support

6. �FAMILY PARTNERSHIPS  
& PRACTICE MODEL

Embed trauma-informed, 
strengths-based approaches and 
Signs of Safety

Promote true partnership working 
with families, reducing over-
reliance on services

Strengthen understanding of the 
local support system among staff

FAMILY COMMISSIONING STRATEGY: KEY PRIORITIES

49

Appendix 1

Page 67



Bridgend Youth Voice Forum
Bridgend Youth Voice is a forum for care experienced young people and care 
leavers aged 12 to 21 years. It acts as a sounding board to the Council and its 
partners for service improvement on all issues for care experienced children, 
young people and care leavers. 

The forum is facilitated by TGP Cymru who are commissioned by us to deliver specialist 
independent participation support and to champion the views and rights of our children and 
young people. They are supported by our Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer. 

The forum also collaborates with the Children’s Commissioner for Wales, Voices from Care 
Cymru, Children in Wales, Foster Wales and Welsh Government on a range of initiatives to 
improve the lives of children in care. The forum is valued by our young people, carers and staff.

To understand our impact over the year we asked our Youth Forum three important questions. 

What has gone well with people or things  
that have happened?

•  �Supportive Social Workers, Personal  
Advisors and Foster Carers

•  �Feel listened to 

•  �Supported to undertake activities that  
matter and are important

What has not gone so well?

•  �Feel there are different rules in place for us 
compared to other young people

•  �Feeling pressured to accept support 

•  �Feeling unaccepted by peers

How can the support be improved and what ideas/
solutions do you have?

•  �Less red tape to reduce the stigma of being care 
experienced

•  �More understanding that we do not have to stay in 
the local area

•  �Not being introduced as the “new kid” at school 
and ensuring the right educational support is in 
place

•  �A regional forum to provide opportunities to meet 
with other care experienced young people 

•  �Advocacy champions in schools/teams to ensure 
all children and young people know their right to 
advocacy

“This is so important for these young people to 
have these forums have 
definitely enhanced our 
boys’ confidence. This 
is very important and 
makes a huge difference 
to young people!”

“I feel accepted even 
though I have autism, 

and I feel I can influence 
important decisions.”

“I feel like I have 
a place to make 

changes for young 
people in care.”

“Forum gives me a 
place where I feel 

accepted, and my voice 
is listened to.” 

“I can be myself and 

discuss my mental 

health openly.”

50

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 68



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Effective Partnerships
Adult Social Care

Hospital Discharge
In partnership with the Health Board 
we have improved how we work 
together to manage discharges from 
hospitals more effectively. The aim 
of the plan was to support people to 
recover and regain skills to minimise 
poor discharges which result in return 
to hospital or can result in someone 
losing their independence at home. 

We achieved this aim by:

•  �working within the Discharge to Recover 
and Assess (D2RA) framework and 
timelines.

•  �phasing implementation of  Enhanced 
Community Care Level 4 capacity within 
the Community Resource Team.

•  �collaborating with the Regional 
Partnership  to develop and implement an 
optimal model for community services.

•  �and, utilising the local authority escalation 
plan to facilitate focussed whole system 
activity to assist CTMUHB in improving 
their position at times of high pressure.

WHAT IS LEVEL 4 ENHANCED 
COMMUNITY CARE?

It is a model that helps us work with key 
partners to support…

•  �an integrated health and social care 
approach to avoid crisis and escalation of 
health and care needs where feasible.

•  �community services to promote faster 
recovery from illness, prevent unnecessary 
acute hospital admissions, support timely 
discharge and maximise independence.

•  �step up support to prevent hospital 
admission or step-down support to enable 
people to leave hospital early, while still 
receiving the treatment, care and support 
they need.

•  �people  to be cared for in their own homes 
or usual place of residence.  

•  �the use a combination of technology and 
face-to-face support, remote consultation, 
remote monitoring and/or remote 
intervention

Housing
The council is currently working in partnership with a registered social landlord and 
the health board to develop a range of supported housing options close to a Wellness 
Centre as part of a new development. 

This involves the development of a core and cluster support arrangement which will provide tenants 
with person centred and flexible support. The accommodation options include, supported living and 
targeted support in one or two bedroom flats. A business case has been produced which explains 
how the core and cluster arrangement will operate and how staffing resources will be used to help 
people live independently.

51

Appendix 1

Page 69



Supporting 
Autism Spectrum 
Disorder and 
Neurodiversity
We are key partners in the Regional 
Neurodivergence Improvement 
Programme. Leading on an ambitious 
agenda to improve access, inclusion 
and support for Neurodivergent adults. 

The group’s remit includes mental health and 
emotional wellbeing, leisure and community-
based support, criminal justice system and 
substance misuse, staying safe, employment 
and housing.

The Substance 
Misuse Service
Substance Misuse services in Bridgend 
are delivered in 4 tiers, which are:

•  �Tier 1: Prevention & Early 
Identification/Intervention. 
Consists of a range of drug-
related interventions that can be 
provided by generic providers, 
depending on their competence 
and partnership arrangements 
with specialised substance misuse 
services. 

•  �Tier 2: Advice & Support Services. 
Interventions are provided by 
specialist substance misuse 
providers and include a range of 
harm reduction interventions, and 
interventions that engage, retain, 
and support people in treatment. 
Support for families and concerned 
others are also considered to be 
tier 2 interventions.

•  �Tier 3: Specialist Treatment 
Services. Specialist provisions 
including all clinical functions, 
substitute prescribing programmes 
and community detoxification.

•  �Tier 4: Services provide substance 
misuse Inpatient Detoxification 
and Residential Rehabilitation 
programmes.

Tier 1 and 2 services are provided by an 
independent sector group who works in 
partnership with the Council and Health Board. 
Tier 3 services are a partnership between the 
Council and Health Board to provide social 
work, nursing and clinical services. All these 
partners are based in the same building and 
work together to offer a range of substance 
misuse services from a hub base which is 
accessible to the public.

The Mental Health 
Operational Group
The Mental Health Measure 
Operational Group (MHMOG) 
meets once a month to ensure all 
partners are meeting the statutory 
requirements outlined in the Mental 
Health Act Measure (2010) and Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act 2014. It provides an example of 
effective partnership working with our 
neighbouring Local Authority’s and 
healthcare partners. 

We aim to enhance and offer high quality 
services for those in need of mental health 
care. We are working together to make care 
more joined up and personal, so it is easier 
to get the right support when needed. The 
group facilitates decision-making, training 
opportunities, and open communication 
between partners.

52

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 70



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

People As Equal Partners
Social Opportunities Panel
A panel has been developed to support people to access the right preventative 
service for them, reduce duplication and enhance access to social opportunities.

The panel ensures decisions around access to activities is equitable, transparent and make 
best use of available resources. 

The panel helps practitioners offer more of the right support, based on what people actually 
need. It cuts out duplication and makes sure everyone gets an opportunity to connect with 
others and feel included, no matter where they live or who is helping them.

The panel has helped us utilise services more effectively by bringing together support from 
social care, health and community based services. It also helps us focus on the specific needs 
of different areas of the borough, especially where people face more challenges like poor 
health, poverty, or limited access to services.

CASE STUDY: 

Social Opportunities Panel 
Adult C lives with dementia. They like to be 
active which can result in them becoming 
exhausted and increase their risk of falls. 
C is slow to respond to family members 
instructions and is becoming verbally 
aggressive towards their family, which is 
having an impact on them maintaining their 
carer role.

C’s case was presented to the social opportunities 
panel to support them in achieving their well-being 
outcomes, which was to be active in the community. 
Support was provided for C to safely attend activity 
based groups. The Local Community Co-ordinator, 
Halo and Occupational Therapist worked together 
to find suitable groups and an Occupational Therapy 
Technician is supporting C to attend.

To increase social opportunities further, a request 
was made to panel for C to attend day services at 
the Integrated Dementia Service. The request was 
granted and C attends day services, enjoys groups 
activities and engaging with others.

The support provided has enabled C to achieve 
their outcomes by maintaining their interests, whilst 
ensuring their safety and well-being. C’s carers are 
also supported to have a break from their caring 
role, resulting in time to recuperate and do things 
which are important to them. The support provided 
to C has brought their carers a sense of relief and 
reassurance, allowing them to continue in their 
caring role.

53

Appendix 1

Page 71



Enhancing  
Sensory 
Support
Our sensory team has worked 
to improve sensory support, 
working with groups across 
the borough as well as visiting 
people at home to hear their 
voices. This work identified that:

•  �by being present at 
groups, the team can 
provide information and 
advice to a wider group 
of people, making people 
aware of the wide range of 
support available to them.

•  �demonstrating the use 
of or replacing specialist 
equipment at these groups 
or during visits reduces 
the need for people to 
contact our services. 

•  �working with families 
and carers ensures they 
are also supported. For 
example, referring them 
to relevant organisations 
such as the Carers Centre. 

•  �we can create “buddying 
up” opportunities for 
people who are newly 
diagnosed and lack 
confidence to attend 
groups. The team 
accompanies them to the 
group until they become 
confident in attending 
themselves.

We regularly make connections 
between groups and other services 
and organisations, for example Falls 
Prevention, Wales Council for the 
Blind, Eye Clinic Liaison Officer and  
the Alzheimer’s Society.

People First Bridgend 
People First Bridgend is a third sector 
organisation who support adults with learning 
disabilities and autism in Bridgend. They 
empower people they support to understand and 
exercise their rights, access services and fully 
participate in their communities. More information 
on People First Bridgend can be found here.

We have strong partnership arrangements in place with 
People First Bridgend and to understand if we had made 
an impact over the year we met with representatives from 
People First, both staff and those that use their services, 
to ask 3 questions.

What has gone well with the people that support you or 
the things that have happened in the last year?

•  �I feel supported by helpful staff and managers

•  �I am supported to attend People First meetings

•  �I now feel listened too and support needs are being met

•  �BAVO provide advice, support and activities within the 
community

•  �Support from the Autism Worker within the ARCs

What has not gone well with the people that support 
you or the things that have happened in the last year?

•  �Lack of information on crisis intervention

•  �Allocated workers not always aware of advocacy 
support

•  �Support for the LGBTQ+ community

•  �Communication with allocated worker

•  �Flexibility of available support

How can the support be improved?

•  �Breaking down barriers for timely preventative support

•  �Advocacy training / awareness for workers

•  �Advance planning for key life events such as a change 
in worker or move to new accommodation

•  �Funding to support educational / training needs 

•  �Transport availability to participate in community based 
events

•  �Improved communication with allocated worker

54

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 72



Partnership and Integration:  
2025-26 Key Priorities

ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES

Partnership working with BAVO to meet people’s needs via the third sector 
and navigators to have “what matters” conversations to support people to 
connect to communities and to be clear about the different needs that can be 
met by navigators and local community coordinators.

Partnership working with 3rd sector Networks groups including Bridgend 
Inclusive network group, Bridgend young carers network group to develop 
new opportunities.

Work with Town & Community Councils to support universal Active4Life 
opportunities during school holidays.

Consultation and engagement on identified priorities and areas of focus 
within Library Services, Culture and Community Hub strategy for future 
development.

Review our out of hours Social Services arrangements.

Review the operating model of children with disabilities and transition.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

Implement the threshold guidance with partners so that we are all clear about 
our roles and responsibilities and ways accessing services.

Develop an agreed approach to multi-agency training and practice.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Continue to implement our 3-year strategic plan.

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

55

Appendix 1

Page 73



Quality Standards

“People are protected and 
safeguarded from abuse and 
neglect and any other types 
of harm” 

“People are supported to actively 
manage their well-being and 
make their own decisions so that 
they are able to achieve their full 
potential and live independently 
for as long as possible” 

Well-being

56

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 74



People are Protected 
and Safeguarded 

No Wrong Door
We are working to ensure a 
“No Wrong Door” approach 
across the service. It brings 
professionals together to make 
sure people get the support 
they need, without delay to 
prevent situations getting 
worse. 

We respond quickly when a concern 
is raised, every referral is looked at 
within 24 hours and have worked 
with partners to lessen anxiety and 
have a shared understanding of risk 
thresholds. For those that require 
support early help services are able 
to provide support. 

The “Signs of Safety” approach is 
becoming part of everyday practice. 
To support this, we have partner 
agency Signs of Safety champions 
and hold reflective sessions and 
case de- briefs to develop a 
common understanding on how 
we manage risk and implement 
thresholds.

Preventing and  
Responding to Exploitation
We have had a local exploitation panel in operation 
since November 2024. During the year, we 
completed actions to ensure we have the right tools 
in place to prevent and respond to cases of child 
exploitation.

•  �Workshops to inform a local multi-agency development plan.

•  �The plan is now operational, setting out clear actions and 
a governance structure to support implementation of the 
strategy in Bridgend.

•  �We are working with Cwm Taf Regional Safeguarding Board 
partners to build on the work we have done in Bridgend 
and ensure all new processes are embedded by September 
2025.

•  �To strengthen co-production, we have upskilled our 
workforce and multi-agency partners on exploitation.

We have an exploitation screening tool that is utilised across 
teams to identify risks associated with exploitation. The senior 
practitioner of our exploitation service has delivered training to 
teams across Children and Family Services. We have worked 
closely with schools, the Youth Justice Service and South 
Wales Police to identify areas of concern linked to exploitation 
and provided interventions in those areas.

Children and  
Family Services

We experienced a 24% rise in the number of contacts to Children and Family 
Services. But even with more people getting in touch, fewer children and young 
people are now going through formal assessments, and the number of children 
on the child protection register or in care has reduced.

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

57

Appendix 1

Page 75



Children 
Safeguarding 
Enquiries

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision 
in a child protection strategy meeting, we continue to 
promote the regional escalation of concerns process 
(CRISP). During the year we have not received any 
CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy 
meetings.

We continue to undertake work with partner 
agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to 

attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, 
impact on families and learning. 

To further support professionals, having a shared 
understanding we have set up a consultation phone 
line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, 
get advice and plan next steps quickly and safely and 
does not replace the usual safeguarding processes 
which still need to be followed.

The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct 
result of the greater stability of our workforce and 
the changes we have made in strategy meetings 
and decision making. We are now taking a more 

proportionate responses to supporting children and 
families in line with Wales Safeguarding Procedures.

57 
 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
 
The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

 

 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

Child Protection 
Registrations

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the 
high number on the register in March 2023 and 
is a result of more proportionate decision-making 
regarding children’s safety in addition to improved 
working with early help services. The number 
of children on the child protection register has 
decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at 

March 2025.

We continue to reduce the number of children 
registered and to provide reassurance around our 
decision making we have completed an audit and 
commissioned an independent review and share the 
outcomes with our partners.

The number of children added to the 
Child Protection Register during the 

year has decreased by 55% when 
compared to the previous year. 

57 
 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
 
The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

 

 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

57 
 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
 
The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

 

 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

58

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 76



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Care 
Experienced 
Children

The effectiveness of the strategy is demonstrated by the 10% decrease in care experienced children, 
reducing from 370 as at March 2024 to 333 as at March 2025. We will continue this work in 2025-26.

In November 2024 we renewed our reduction strategy 
to decrease the number of care experienced children. 

The strategy focuses on prevention, family support and 
reunification enabling us to work with families to build to 

build long life connections which, where possible, enable 
care experienced children to safely return home.

58 
 

We continue to reduce the number of children registered and to provide reassurance around 
our decision making we have completed an audit and commissioned an independent review 
and share the outcomes with our partners. 

Care Experienced Children 

In November 2024 we renewed our reduction strategy to decrease the number of care 
experienced children. The strategy focuses on prevention, family support and reunification 
enabling us to work with families to build to build long life connections which, where possible, 
enable care experienced children to safely return home. 

 

 

The effectiveness of the strategy is demonstrated by the 10% decrease in care experienced 
children, reducing from 370 as at March 2024 to 333 as at March 2025. We will continue this 
work in 2025-26. 

 

Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 
The Early Help and Edge of Care services completed their  move into Social Services and 
Wellbeing in July 2024. and by early 2025, had been working with the wider statutory services 
for six months , giving time to fully settle in. Hence, January to March 2025, provided a good 
timeframe to analyse and evaluate the impact of how the service had supported, children, 
young people and their families, which as noted in the analysis was extremely positive. 

Supporting 
People to 
Manage their 
Wellbeing
The Early Help and Edge of Care 
services completed their move 
into Social Services and Wellbeing 
in July 2024, and by early 2025, 
had been working with the wider 
statutory services for six months, 
giving time to fully settle in. 

Hence, January to March 2025, 
provided a good timeframe to analyse 
and evaluate the impact of how the 
service had supported, children, young 
people and their families, which as 
noted in the analysis was extremely 
positive.

KEY ACTIVITY DATA DEMONSTRATED AN 
INCREASED DEMAND AND ENGAGEMENT WITH 
EARLY HELP SERVICES:

237 referrals received, an increase of 23% 

152 assessments completed,  
an increase of 13%

REPORTED OUTCOMES

96% of families felt more able to make  
positive lifestyle and behaviour changes

94% of families noted improved family 
resilience

91% of individuals noted better emotional 
wellbeing and family relationships

88% of parents felt more confident supporting 
their child’s development

87% of individuals noted improved personal 
resilience

ANALYSIS OF EARLY HELP:  
JANUARY TO MARCH 2025

59

Appendix 1

Page 77



Complex Case 
Partnership Panel
The Complex Case Partnership 
Panel is a multi-agency mechanism 
for working together to safeguard 
individuals in the community who 
present with a significant level of risk 
to themselves or others.

The aim of the partnership is to provide a 
mechanism for partner agencies to decide 
and agree on how to best protect individuals 
and the public in a co-ordinated manner.

Self-Neglect Panel
The Self Neglect panel is a multi-
agency approach to protection and 
risk mitigation for adults who neglect 
their health and wellbeing. 

The panel applies to adults only, however, 
where children are at risk of harm because of 
the adult’s self-neglect, a referral will be made 
to Children and Family Services. The protocol 
is triggered in cases of complex self-neglect 
where serious harm has or is likely to occur 
and existing case management processes 
have failed to deliver any reduction in risk.

People are 
Protected and 
Safeguarded 

Adult  
Social 
Care

We have established a number of 
panels and groups to support our 
statutory safeguarding duties.

Suicide and Self Harm 
Prevention Group
This group has been established to improve 
prevention, awareness, knowledge and 
understanding around the prevention of 
suicide and self-harm amongst individuals 
and agencies who frequently encounter 
people at risk of suicide and self-harm.

The group consists of partners including health, 
social care, education, the environment, housing, 
employment, the police, the criminal justice system, 
transport and third sector.

The group has developed a clear pathway for 
supporting concerns and referrals in this area.

Parc Prison 

A significant amount of work has been carried out with 
HMP/YOI Parc to ensure the ongoing safeguarding of 
its prisoners. This has started with building positive 
working relationships with the safety team and wider 
colleagues within the prison. A review of internal 
safeguarding processes was carried out to ensure 
alignment with All Wales Safeguarding Procedures.

There was a further review of the delivery and 
safeguarding training to ensure effective practice and 
alignment with the procedures. Both safeguarding 
and professional concerns training was provided to 
the senior operational and management staff along 
with wing managers to develop an awareness of their 
statutory responsibilities. This was met positively 
and now safeguarding forms part of all new recruits’ 
induction along with ongoing training to wider prison 
staff in their ‘lockdown Wednesdays’.

Following an increase in deaths within Parc, a range 
of plans have been introduced, including a forum 
to consider the needs of those who have made a 
significant attempt of suicide. This has highlighted 
that there are positive mechanisms in place within the 
prison to safeguard and support prisoners. 

HM inspectorate of Prisons carried out the inspection 
in January which was very positive of the social 
work team stating, ‘the local council carried out 
timely social care assessments and needs were 
appropriately identified and met.’

Over the past 12 months, there has been significant 
improvements both within the working relationships, 
and safeguarding practice within PARC and we 
continue to build on this. 

60

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 78



�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

Adult Safeguarding Enquiries

The above graph demonstrates the impact of these 
consultations with a 23% decrease in the number of 
reports made to the Adult Safeguarding Team over 
the last year. The number that progress to enquiry 
are appropriate. Those that do not proceed are due 
to the service being satisfied that appropriate actions 
are already in place or the person does not give their 
consent to proceed. 

To strengthen arrangements further, a daily allocation 
meeting has been established to discuss referrals and 
agree next steps and a weekly monitoring system has 
also been introduced to escalate issues. Next steps 
are to complete a deep dive to establish causes of 
delay within the system.

To reduce the number of referrals where outcomes determine the person is not at 
risk, we implemented a new consultation process with key partners. The process 
encourages professionals, who have concerns about an individual, to contact the team 
to have a conversation before determining if an Adult at Risk (AAR) referral needs to 
be made. We respond to all consultations within 24 hours.

61 
 

 

The above graph demonstrates the impact of these consultations with a 23% decrease in the 
number of reports made to the Adult Safeguarding Team over the last year. The number that 
progress to enquiry are appropriate. Those that do not proceed are due to the service being 
satisfied that appropriate actions are already in place or the person does not give their consent 
to proceed.  

To strengthen arrangements further, a daily allocation meeting has been established to discuss 
referrals and agree next steps and a weekly monitoring system has also been introduced to 
escalate issues. Next  steps are to complete a deep dive to establish causes of delay within 
the system. 

 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

In 2024-25 we received 557 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
assessment  to Adult Social Care, a 6% increase from 524 the previous year. At the 31st March 
2025, there were 21 people awaiting an assessment, which is the same as the 31st March 
2024, with 22 on the waiting list.  

To strengthen our processes further, in January 2025, 27 staff members (24 from Adult Social 
Care and 3 from Children and Family Services) received Best Interest Assessor training. In 
Adult Social Care these staff now take turns completing one assessment every three months 
which is helping us to manage our waiting list.” 

 

Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 
Integrated Dementia Support Service 

This service supports people with cognitive impairment and their families to help build 
resilience and maintain independence. The service provider has extensive knowledge and 
proven experience in providing a person centred support, developing strategies and 
techniques to support independent living, provision of information and signposting. 

This service helps individuals to achieve positive outcomes through identification and 
recognition of their own strengths and capabilities, their personal, community and social 
networks. It helps them maximise these strengths to enable them to achieve their desired  

 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
In 2024-25 we received 557 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
assessment to Adult Social Care, a 6% increase from 524 the previous year. At the 
31st March 2025, there were 21 people awaiting an assessment, which is the same as 
the 31st March 2024, with 22 on the waiting list. 

To strengthen our processes further, in January 2025, 27 staff members (24 from Adult Social Care 
and 3 from Children and Family Services) received Best Interest Assessor training. In Adult Social 
Care these staff now take turns completing one assessment every three months which is helping us to 
manage our waiting list.

61

Appendix 1

Page 79



The Safeguarding 
Team 
The safeguarding team use the 
strengths based, outcome focussed 
model. 

The lead co-ordinators identify the individual’s 
outcomes and ensure their voice is heard. A 
recent referral was made for an elderly person 
who was a high risk victim of domestic violence, 
had a diagnosis of dementia and additional 
health needs. An urgent, multi-agency 
response was required to safeguard them from 
further harm. 

As a result of discussions including the Police, 
domestic violence advocate, social worker and 
lead co-ordinator, the person was admitted to 
hospital as a social admission. A code word 
was implemented to ensure only safe people 
were able to visit. This short term plan ensured 
their safety whilst longer term plans could be 
made, considering their outcomes, views and 
wishes. 

Integrated Dementia 
Support Service
This service supports people with 
cognitive impairment and their 
families to help build resilience and 
maintain independence. The service 
provider has extensive knowledge 
and proven experience in providing a 
person centred support, developing 
strategies and techniques to support 
independent living, provision of 
information and signposting.

This service helps individuals to achieve 
positive outcomes through identification 
and recognition of their own strengths and 
capabilities, their personal, community and 
social networks. It helps them maximise 
these strengths to enable them to achieve 
their desired outcomes, thereby meeting their 
needs and improving or maintaining their 
wellbeing.

Supporting People to  
Manage their Wellbeing

62

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E
Appendix 1

Page 80



Well-being:  
2025-26 Key Priorities

ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES

Support Super Agers activities in local community settings to improve 
physical and mental wellbeing.

Develop a low cost offer for the 60 plus age group linked to the Welsh 
Government Free Swimming Initiative.

Deliver chronic condition pathways as part of the National Exercise Referral 
Scheme and in partnership with health services.

Provide supported access to leisure activities for targeted population groups 
via membership provision, utilising external support.

To monitor attendance and engagement at corporate safeguarding board 
meetings to ensure the Council is protecting children and vulnerable adults.

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

Implement the Regional Exploitation Strategy, including multi-agency  
training and shared learning forums.

Review our standards for recording the work that we do and  
associated guidance.

Ensure our quality assurance activity considers the standards of our 
assessments and plans and helps us share good practice.

Promote children’s engagement on meetings including child protection 
case conferences and produce records that are consistent with national 
procedures.

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Ensure that learning from Single Unified Safeguarding Reviews (SUSRs)and 
other in-depth analysis is systematically embedded through learning, training 
and development and follow up quality assurance and review with partners.

�   PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E

63

Appendix 1

Page 81



4 OTH ER I N FORM ATION

Inspections and Reviews
Every year Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertake inspections and/ or  
improvement checks of health and social care services to ensure we are  
delivering good quality services that protect the safety and wellbeing  
of those that use our services.

During 2024-25 CIW completed 10 inspections across our regulated residential  
and direct care services. 

Children and Family Services

All inspections were positive with key findings 
highlighting a number of strengthens including:

•  �strong evidence of children, young people and 
families being involved in the development of 
care plans to reflect what matters to those 
involved. 

•  �children and young people being supported to 
make choices and have control in their day-to-
day life. 

•  �and good governance arrangements in place 
for management oversight.

One priority action notice was issued in respect 
of Sunnybank and 6 areas of improvement, 2 for 
Harwood House and 4 for Golygfa’r Dolydd. 

The priority action notice issued to Sunnybank was 
in relation to planning for transitions when young 
people were moving. CIW have since confirmed  
that they are satisfied with our response and  
action taken.

The key areas for improvement included:

•  �care and support to be provided as outlined in 
personal plans.

•  �the process for completion of agency checks 
to be strengthened.

•  �premises and equipment should be suitable 
for the needs of all children and young people.

A full report on the scope and findings of these 
inspections was presented to Cabinet Committee 
Corporate Parenting on 10th January 2025. The 
report also notes actions taken to address the areas 
for improvement.

Further to the report being submitted to Cabinet 
Committee Corporate Parenting, two further 
inspections were completed at Bakers Way and 
Hillsboro. These inspections were also positive with 
no areas for improvement noted.

Three inspections were completed in respect of residential establishments in Children and 
Family Services. Harwood House, Golygfa’r Dolydd (Meadow’s View) Assessment and  
Emergency Service and Sunnybank.

64

Appendix 1

Page 82

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s34158/CSC CIW Inspection Report.pdf


�   OT H ER I N FO R M AT I O N

Adult Social Care

Again, the inspections of our residential 
based services were positive with 
key findings highlighting a number of 
strengthens including:

•  �people are supported and 
encouraged to make decisions 
about their care and daily 
routines.

•  �care and support is provided in 
an environment that enhances 
people’s wellbeing.

•  �a good standard of hygiene and 
infection control is maintained to 
reduce risks of cross infection.

•  �and regular quality audits and 
checks are in place to ensure 
the service continues to meet 
people’s needs.

Key strengths highlighted in the 
inspection of our in-house domiciliary 
care service:

•  �people have a voice, feel 
included, involved, and happy 
with the service they receive.

•  �people understand what care 
and support opportunities are 
available to them.

•  �and there is a positive culture 
embedded throughout the 
services.

It is positive to report that whilst 
no priority action notices were put 
in place for any of the Adult Social 
Care services inspected, 1 area of 
improvement was noted: personal plans 
to accurately reflect care and support 
needs.

A full report on the scope and findings 
of these inspections was presented to 
Cabinet on 8th April 2024.

All areas for improvement are monitored 
on a quarterly basis via our Regulatory 
Tracker (part or our quarterly corporate 
performance monitoring and feeds into 
our annual Corporate Self-Assessment) 
with actions reported to the Council’s 
Governance and Audit Committee. 
Learning from inspections are 
embedded in key actions and priorities 
to support continued improvement.

Five inspections were completed in respect of residential 
establishments across Adult Social Care: Ty Cwm Ogwr Residential 
Home, Ty Llwynderw Extra Care establishment, Breakaway Short 
Stay Service and Ty Ynysawdre Extra Care establishment.  
Our in-house Domiciliary Care Service was also inspected.

65

Appendix 1

Page 83

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s34760/CIW ASC Cabinet Report 8 April 2025.pdf


Complaints and 
Representations
Complaints about social services 

are handled according to the Social 
Services Complaints Procedure 
(Wales) Regulations 2014, and the 

Welsh Government guidance, “A 
Guide to Handling Complaints and 
Representations by Local Authority 
Social Services.” These frameworks 

allow people to raise concerns about the 

services they receive ensuring they are 

addressed fairly and promptly.

Over the last year the overall number of complaints 

received has decreased by 12%. The theme of 

complaints varied with the most reported areas 

being lack of support, staff conduct and lack of 

communication which accounted for 48% of all 

complaints received. 

Our aim, where possible, is to provide a good local 

resolution for the people, their families and carers 

who use our services and 95% of complaints 

received were resolved either informally outside 

of the statutory process or at stage one (informal 

stage) of the statutory process. 

The remaining 5% of complaints were investigated 

via the stage two (formal) statutory procedure. This 

involves an independent investigator looking into the 

complaint and completing a report of their findings 

which may lead to recommendations for ways in 

which we can improve. 

A process is in place to regularly monitor complaints 

not only to identify areas of good practice but to 

ensure the recommendations and learning outcomes 

from stage two complaints are implemented. In 

response to stage two complaints received, here is a 

summary of learning outcomes implemented:

SERVICE AREA LEARNING OUTCOME 

Across Social 
Services

•  �The Compliments and Complaints Resolution Team have strengthened 
consent procedures, staff training and guidance, and communication with 
complainants during periods during of staff absence. 

•  �Communication, transparency, and person-centred approaches have been 
strengthened to ensure learning from complaints informs practice.

Children and 
Family Services

•  �Implemented case consultations for early management guidance and 
intervention.

•  �The Care Experienced Children’s Team have Improved recording of section 
47 outcomes. 

•  �The Children and Disability Transition Team have strengthened assessments, 
communication, and family engagement. 

•  �The Fostering and Safeguarding Teams have Improved training, record-
keeping, and oversight of allegations against foster carers. 

66

�   OT H ER I N FO R M AT I O N
Appendix 1

Page 84

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf


�   OT H ER I N FO R M AT I O N

Adult  
Social Care

•  �Reviewed information provided to families on the role of social workers to 
ensure it is clear and easy to understand.

•  �The Community Learning Disabilities Team has improved timeliness of 
decision-making, family involvement, and case allocation. 

The Citizen Voice Body 

The body operates under the name “Llais” which translates as “Voice” becoming 
operational on 1st April 2023. Llais is an independent body providing free Advocacy 
support to members of the public who wish to raise a concern, which includes 
providing advice and information on the most appropriate course of action. 

During 2024-25, we received 5 complaints from Llais advocates, 4 related to 
Children and Family Services and 1 to Adult Social Care. 

More detailed information on complaints and representations in Bridgend can be 
found at “Social Services Representations and Complaints Annual Report.”

The Citizen Voice Body promotes public engagement in the planning, design and delivery 
of services. It helps make sure health and social care services in Wales are high quality and 
responsive to people’s needs. 

67

Appendix 1

Page 85



Other Sources  
of Information

GlossaryBRIDGEND COUNCIL

Delivering Together Our Corporate Plan 2023-28

Council Constitution

Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate

Bridgend Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

Corporate Self-Assessment

Audit Wales Reports

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board

Awen Cultural Trust 

Halo Leisure

BAVO Bridgend

People First Bridgend

Care Inspectorate Wales

Social Care Wales

TuVida Bridgend: Carer's Wellbeing Service

Bridgend Carers Centre

Llais Wales

BRIDGEND COUNCIL

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

More than just words: Welsh language plan in 
health and social care

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014

A Guide to Handling Complaints and 
Representations by Local Authority Social Services

Advocacy  Advocates in social 
care are independent from the local 
authority (local council) and the 
NHS. They are trained to help people 
understand their rights, express their 
views and wish.

Assessment  A meeting / discussion 
to help us to determine how someone 
is coping and what care and support 
they may need.

Care Experienced Children   
Care experienced is an umbrella term 
which can mean children / young 
people who are: 

•  �Looked after at home through a 
Care Order 

•  �Looked after away from home in 
a residential children’s house, in 
a foster placement or in a kinship 
placement (Looked After or Non-
Looked After) 

•  �Previously looked after, where at 
some point in their lives they have 
had any of the above experiences. 

The child / young person may never 
have been formally looked after.

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
CIW is the social care provider 
regulator. They will register, inspect 
and take action to improve the quality 
and safety of services for the well-
being of the people of Wales.

Care Leavers  In Wales, care leavers 
are individuals who have been in 
the care of the local authority for 
at least 13 weeks since the age of 
14 and have left care on or after 
their 16th birthday. The support 
provided to care leavers is intended 
to be equivalent to what a child who 
has not been looked after might 
reasonably expect from their parents.

Care and Support Plan  
A care and support plan is a 
document that sets out what has 
been discussed during a social care 
needs assessment and what is going 

5

68

�   OT H ER I N FO R M AT I O N  |   G LOS SA RY
Appendix 1

Page 86

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/2pohxlek/corporate-plan-2023-28.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/council-and-democracy/council-constitution/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/corporate-self-assessment/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/audit-wales-reports/
https://ctmregionalpartnershipboard.co.uk/
https://www.cwmtafmorgannwgsafeguardingboard.co.uk/en/home.aspx
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/awen-cultural-trust/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/halo-leisure-centres/
https://www.bavo.org.uk/
https://www.peoplefirstbridgend.co.uk/
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/
https://socialcare.wales/
https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/
https://www.llaiswales.org/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-the-essentials.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/wellbeing-of-future-generations-wales-act-2015/
https://www.gov.wales/more-just-words-welsh-language-plan-health-and-social-care
https://www.gov.wales/more-just-words-welsh-language-plan-health-and-social-care
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/welsh-language-wales-measure-2011
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf


�   G LOS SA RY

to happen as a result. It is a plan 
which a local authority is required to 
prepare and maintain under section 
54 (1) of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

Direct Payments  Direct payments 
are issued to individuals to allow 
them to pay for their own care. They 
are a way that local authorities can 
help to meet individual’s eligible need 
for care and support, or a carer’s 
need for support. They are a way for 
people to arrange their own care and 
support.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS)  The Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) is a legal 
procedure in the UK designed to 
protect vulnerable people in care 
settings. It applies to adults who 
lack the mental capacity to give 
consent to their care arrangements 
and need to be deprived of their 
liberty. DoLS ensures that those 
who cannot consent to their care are 
protected when their arrangements 
deprive them of their liberty. It will 
be replaced by Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) in the future.”

Domiciliary Care / Domiciliary 
Support Service / Home Care  
Domiciliary care, also known as “care 
at home”, refers to a broad range of 
care services provided in a person’s 
own home. It can include assistance 
with day-to-day living and certain 
health care issues for the elderly.

Extra Care  The provision of a 
domiciliary care package to an 
individual living in supported living/
accommodation.

Information Advice and 
Assistance (IAA)  Refer to contacts 
and referrals – consent and level 
of information recorded – link to 
proportionate assessment.

Independent Reviewing Officer 
(IRO)  An IRO is someone who 
makes sure that care experienced 
children are looked after properly and 
that their care and support plans are 
right for them.

Mwy Na Geiriau / More than words  
More than just words is a strategy 
and delivery plan to aim to improve 
the quality of care for individuals 
living in a bilingual country. 

Prevention and Early Intervention  
Prevention and early intervention are 
forms of support aimed at improving 
outcomes for people or preventing 
escalating need or risk. They are also 
sometimes referred to as early help 
or preventative services.

Reablement / Rehabilitation / 
Interim care  This short-term care is 
sometimes called intermediate care, 
or aftercare. Reablement is a type of 
care that helps people relearn how to 
do daily activities, like cooking meals 
and washing. It is provided by local 
authorities with the aim of mitigating 
the need for long term care and 
support.

Resident / Citizen  A person whose 
usual residence is within the local 
authority boundary.

Reunification  Reunification refers 
to when a care experienced child or 
young person safely returns home to 
their family. Reunification only takes 
place once it has been determined 
that it is safe and the best outcome 
for the child or young person.

Residential Care Home / Nursing 
Home  A residential care home 
provides accommodation and 24-
hour personal care and support to 
the older people and others who 
may find it difficult to manage daily 
life at home. Both a residential care 
home and nursing home provide 
care and support 24 hours a day, 
however the main difference is that 
a nursing home is able to provide a 
higher level of care. Nursing homes 
have qualified nurses on-site around 
the clock to provide medical care as 
needed whereas residential homes 
help people with personal care and 
support them to engage in physical 
activity. 

Safeguarding \ Adult Protection 
\ Child Protection  Safeguarding 
sometimes referred to as adult 
protection or child protection is about 
protecting children and adults from 
abuse or neglect and educating 
those around them to recognise the 
signs and dangers.

Secure Estate  A secure estate is 
a facility where individuals (adults 
or children and young people) 
may be housed or detained due 
to legal restrictions. Examples of 
a secure estate include prisons, 
young detention accommodation or 
an approved premises. The  Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act 2014 places a duty on local 
authorities to assess and meet the 
care and support needs of individuals 
within a secure estate.

Shared Lives / Adult Placement 
Scheme  Shared Lives Schemes, 
also known as adult placements, are 
a family-based way of supporting 
a vulnerable person’s housing 
needs. This type of supportive 
accommodation can be the ideal 

stepping stone on the way to 
independent living. This sharing 
arrangement is often referred to as 
‘shared lives’

Sheltered Accommodation   
Is housing for older or vulnerable 
people who want to live 
independently but with some support 
nearby. It usually includes a private 
flat, a warden or support staff, and 
emergency help if needed.

Social Care Wales (SCW)   
SCW is the workforce regulator. 
As part of this they register and 
set standards for the care and 
support workforce and develop 
the workforce. SCW also has an 
improvement remit, by which they will 
share good practice, set priorities for 
research and provide information for 
the public and other organisations.

Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014  The Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 is a law that aims to improve 
the well-being of people who need 
care and support, and carers who 
need support, and to transform social 
services in Wales.

Supported Living / Accommodation  
Supported living accommodation 
is a type of housing that provides 
personal care, support or supervision 
to help people live independently. 
The care and support are separate 
from the housing contract. The 
accommodation can be shared or 
single, depending on the needs and 
preferences of the occupants.

Telecare  A service that uses 
technology to help people live 
independently and stay safe. 

Third Sector  The third sector refers 
to charities, community groups and 
not-for-profit organisations that help 
people and improve communities.

Transition  The period of 
changeover/ move in being 
supported by Children and Family 
Services to being supported by Adult 
Social Care.

Unpaid Carer  An unpaid carer is 
someone who provides care and 
support to family members, friends, 
or neighbours who are affected by 
disability, physical or mental ill-health, 
frailty, or substance misuse. The 
carer does not need to be living with 
the person they care for.

Young Carer  A young carer is an 
unpaid carer who is up to the age of 
18. They may be providing care and 
support to parents, siblings or other 
family members.

69

Appendix 1

Page 87



Appendix 1

Page 88



 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUITINY COMMITTEE 
 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
11 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
SOCIAL SERVICES REPRESENTATIONS AND 

COMPLAINTS ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR, 

 SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 

Responsible 
Officer:  

 
SARAH TRIPP, COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

RESOLUTION MANAGER 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

 
There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 

Procedure Rules.   
 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The Social Services Representations and Complaints Annual 
Report for 2024/25 provides a review of the effectiveness of 
the social services complaint’s procedure and a summary of 
statistical information relating to the complaints and 
representations dealt with during the reporting period.  
 
The report includes - 

• numbers of complaints and representations received 

and resolved at each stage; 

• adherence to timescales; 

• the nature of the complaints and representations, and;  

• a summary of the lessons learned and actions taken 

by the Authority in relation to the complaints and 

representations received. 

The report also provides a cross-section of feedback across 
the Directorate in the form of comments and compliments. 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to the Committee the draft 2024/25 Annual 

Report on Social Services Representations and Complaints for consideration of its 

information, analysis and future objectives before it is presented to Cabinet for 

approval on 23rd September 2025. The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Members will be aware that there is a requirement for local authorities to have in place 

procedures for considering any representations or complaints made in relation to the 

discharge of their Social Services functions.  This Annual Report relates to Social 

Services representations and complaints received that have been handled in 

accordance with the Welsh Government Complaint Guidelines “A Guide to Handling 

Complaints and Representations by Local Authority Social Services” which came into 

effect on 1st August 2014. The guidance supports the implementation of the Social 

Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations 

Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014. The Regulations outline a two-stage process 

in line with the Health Services Complaints Procedure. 

 

2.2   The key elements of the Social Services Representations and Complaints Procedure 

are to: 

 

• respond to Stage 1 complaints within 15 working days of the date of resolution 

(10 working days permitted to meet/discuss with the complainant to achieve a 

resolution). 

• complete Stage 2 independent complaint investigations within 25 working days. 

• work collaboratively with colleagues within the Directorate and in other 

Directorates of the Authority, the NHS and liaise with external bodies such as the 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and Care Inspectorate Wales to provide 

a ‘seamless’ complaints service. 

• monitor performance of complaints handling, learning from complaints and using 

this learning to improve services for everyone who uses them. 

 

Where complainants have exhausted the complaints procedure, the complainant has 

the right to refer their concern for consideration by the Public Services Ombudsman 

for Wales. 

 

2.3 From the Annual Report, members will note that a strong emphasis is placed not just 

upon complaints, but also on the comments and compliments providing a balanced 

view.  Services across the Directorate are keen to learn from the information gathered 

and use this to inform service improvements as well as future service developments. 

 

2.4 The Annual Report also contains management information relating to complaints 

addressed in accordance with the Authority’s Corporate Complaints Procedure, 

together with information relating to the majority of complaints being addressed and 

resolved informally (prior to reaching Stage 1 of the complaints procedure).  This 

important and significant work ensures concerns are resolved efficiently, with an 

agreed resolution whilst preventing complainants from being subjected to the formal 

complaints procedure unnecessarily.   

 

Page 90



 

2.5 Statistical information relating to the processing of Member Referrals is provided in 

the Annual Report.  The Representations and Complaints Procedure does not 

preclude the right of an individual to approach their local Councillor, Member of the 

Senedd or Member of Parliament who all undertake an important role in handling 

concerns and queries that individual constituents may have.  Member Referrals can 

range from comments and queries to complaints. 

 

2.6 The Annual Report also includes information arising from a cross-section of feedback 

generated from user/carer engagement exercises undertaken by a range of service 

areas. 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The Annual Report contains statistical information in relation to the representations 

and complaints received during 2024/25 for both Adult Social Care and Children and 

Family Services.   

 

3.2 The number of representations (complaints, comments and compliments) received 

during the reporting period is broken down as follows: 

   

27 Statutory Complaints 

143 Concerns resolved outside of the complaints procedure 

374 Compliments / Comments 

  

 This is a decrease in the overall number of complaints received over the last year: 

170 in 2024/25 compared to 182 in 2023/24 and 191 in 2022/23. The report shows 

an increase in the number of compliments received compared to the previous 

reporting periods; 374 compliments received in 2024/25 compared to 362 received in 

2023/24 and 257 received in 2022/23. Complaints staff continue to encourage all staff 

across the Directorate to record and log all compliments received. 

 

3.3 An analysis of performance demonstrates that the Directorate continues to achieve 

an early resolution for the vast majority of complainants.  The number of complaints 

resolved by this approach in 2024/25 was 143 (84%), in comparison to previous 

years, which was 141 (77%) in 2023/24 and 142 in 2022/23 (74%), demonstrating an 

improvement in performance. This evidences the continued focus on swift and 

effective complaints handling via a local, citizen centred, approach. 

  

3.4 During 2024/25, 11 complaints were received by the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales; 9 were regarding Children and Family Services, while 2 pertained to Adult 

Social Care. Notably, none of these cases proceeded to investigation. This 

represents a decrease from 16 complaints in 2023/24, but is fairly consistent with the 

10 complaints received in 2022/23. 

 

3.5 During 2024/25, 3 complaints were addressed by the Corporate Complaints 

procedure. These complaints pertained to Children and Family Services and involved 

Page 91



 

a subject access request, issues with residential financial charging, and a data 

breach.   

 

3.6 During 2024/25, a total of 27 complaints were addressed in accordance with the 

Statutory Social Services Complaints Procedure; equating to 16% of all complaints 

received. 18 were resolved at Stage 1, and 9 progressed through to Stage 2. Stage 

2 is the formal investigation stage requiring the appointment of an Independent 

Investigator. Information provided within the report suggests that there is a higher 

level of complexity in cases that proceed through the formal Stage 2 process. 

 

3.7 The report highlights how the Directorate applies lessons learned from complaints 

within its service areas. During this reporting period, a notable example includes 

collaborating with senior leaders and management to address recurring issues and 

trends. This involves following up on the completion of corrective actions and 

monitoring the implementation of impartial recommendations from Stage 2 

Independent Investigating Officers. The complaints department also work alongside 

the Quality Assurance Officer to integrate insights from complaints into broader 

service improvement plans. 

 

3.8    The report also highlights a wide range of feedback from people who use social care 

services which is used to inform service development. The Annual Report details a 

cross section of the feedback received for a range of services across the Directorate. 

 

3.9 The number of Member Referrals received for both Adult and Children and Family 

Services during the reporting period was 131; 101 of which were in relation to Adult 

Social Care and 30 in relation to Children and Family Services. This is a decrease of 

3% from 135 members referrals received in 2023/24. 

 

3.10 Independent advocacy support services across Adult Social Care and Children and 

Family Services continues to be a priority, and the annual report provides details of 

advocacy activity across both service areas, together with a summary of comments 

and outcomes achieved. 

 

3.11 The majority of the work carried out within the Social Services Representations and 

Complaints Procedure is undertaken in consultation with Legal services, and there is 

a strong working relationship between the social services complaints staff and the 

Council’s legal department. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 

preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 

impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 

strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 

unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

Page 92



 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1  The report assists in the achievement of the following corporate 5 ways of working 

under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

Involvement The report provides a comprehensive overview of the 
feedback and concerns expressed by people who use social 
services during the reporting period 2024/25. It offers 
valuable insights into the perspectives and experiences of 
individuals accessing social services.  
  

Long term There will be a positive long-term impact from this report by 
transparently addressing representations and complaints. 
The report lays a foundation for continuous improvement in 
service delivery. It also promotes accountability and 
highlights areas for refinement, fostering a culture of long-
term responsiveness and accountability. 
  

Prevention The report supports the council’s objective to help people and 
communities to be healthier and more resilient.  Our 
community engagement encourages self-sufficiency and 
collaborative solutions, reducing the need for extensive 
reliance on resources. 
  

Integration This report is integrated across the Directorate in both Adult 
Social Care and Children and Family Services as set out 
above and is required under the Social Services Complaints 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014. 
  

Collaboration The guidance that underpins this report has an emphasis on 
achieving service user satisfaction. Staff across the 
Directorate have worked collaboratively with the people of the 
county borough to ‘put things right’ and secure positive 
outcomes for individuals and families wherever practicably 
possible.  
  

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications as a result of this report.   

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 All staff have a duty under the Council’s  Safeguarding Policy to safeguard and 

promote the wellbeing of children, young people and adults at risk of abuse or neglect, 

to ensure that effective practices are in place throughout the Council and its 

commissioned services. The complaints department support safeguarding activity by 

ensuring that any complaints containing safeguarding concerns are referred to the 

relevant safeguarding teams in a timely manner. 

Page 93



 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that the Committee consider the draft Annual Report on Social 

Services Representations and Complaints for 2024/25 and provide feedback in 

preparation for the full report being presented to Cabinet on 23rd September 2025 for 

approval. 

 

Background documents 
 
None 

 

Page 94



APPENDIX 1 
 
 

 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES  
REPRESENTATIONS AND 

COMPLAINTS  

ANNUAL REPORT 
2024 / 2025 

 
 

 

 

 

September 2025 

Page 95



APPENDIX 1 

SOCIAL SERVICES  
REPRESENTATIONS AND COMPLAINTS 2024/25 

 
CONTENTS 

 
 

1. Introduction 

 
2. Summary of the Complaints Procedure 

 
3. The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

 
4. Member Referrals 

 

5. Complaints and representations received from the Citizen 

Voice Body “Llais” 

 
6. Engagement and Feedback  

 
7. Statistical Information 2024/2025 

 
8. How complaints were Resolved and Lessons Learned 

 
9. Achievements in 2024/2025 

 
10. Objectives for 2025/2026 

 
11. Equalities 

 

 

Page 96



APPENDIX 1 
  
1. INTRODUCTION 

 

This report covers the period 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025 and relates to representations 

and complaints received by the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate regarding 

services and support provided by Adult Social Care and Children and Family Services.   

 

Local Authority Social Services are required to maintain a procedure for considering 

complaints and representations (comments and compliments).  Any member of the public, 

including a child who has received or was entitled to receive a service from Social Services 

may make a complaint.  The purpose of this report is to provide a review and statistical 

analysis of the complaints, comments and compliments received by Social Services during 

the reporting period.   

 

This is the tenth Annual Report relating to representations and complaints received by the 

Directorate which have been handled in accordance with the Welsh Government Complaint 

Guidelines “A Guide to Handling Complaints and Representations by Local Authority Social 

Services” which came into effect on 1st August 2014. The guidance supports the 

implementation of the Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and 

the Representations Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014. The Regulations introduced a 

two-stage process which replaced the previous three stages and also brings the process for 

Social Services into line with the NHS Complaints Procedure. 

 

2.       SUMMARY OF THE STATUTORY COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE 

 

“A guide to handling complaints and representations by Local Authority Social 

Services” (Welsh Government).  

 

Stage 1 – Local Resolution: An emphasis is placed upon swift resolution of the majority of 

complaints.  An offer to discuss the complaint with the complainant must be made to attempt 

to resolve matters.  This discussion must take place within 10 working days of the date of 

acknowledgement of the complaint.  Where this approach leads to mutually acceptable 

resolution, the Local Authority must write to the complainant with details of the terms of the 

resolution within 5 working days of the date on which the complaint or representation was 

resolved. 

 

Stage 2 – Formal Investigation: Appointment of an Independent Investigator is made and 

for complaints relating to Children and Family Services an Independent Person must also 

be appointed to oversee the investigation process.  Collaborative arrangements have been 

established (on a reciprocal basis) with neighbouring Local Authorities to share details of 

Independent Investigating Officers and Independent Persons able to undertake 

investigations. 

 

The investigation must be completed, and a full written response issued to the complainant 

within 25 working days.  Where this is not possible, the Authority must write to the 

complainant to explain the reason for the delay and ensure the response is issued as soon 

as possible and no later than 6 months from the date of receipt of the complaint. 

 

 Page 97



APPENDIX 1 
3. THE PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES 

 

Where complainants have exhausted the complaints procedure, they have the right to refer 

their concern for consideration by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW).   

 

The PSOW provides an external independent service for the purpose of considering 

complaints made by members of the public in relation to all Local Authority services, 

including Social Services.  The PSOW also has jurisdiction to examine and determine 

complaints of injustice as a result of maladministration on the part of the Local Authority. 

 

The Ombudsman will normally require complainants to have sought redress, in the first 

instance, via the Local Authority’s complaints procedure prior to accepting and investigating 

a complaint of maladministration on the part of the Local Authority. 

 

During 2024/2025, 11 complaints were received by the PSOW’s Office, 9 of which related 

to Children and Family Services, 2 in respect of Adult Social Care.  None were progressed 

to investigation.  

 

4.         MEMBER REFERRALS  

 

The Representations and Complaints Procedure does not preclude the right of an individual 

to approach their Local Councillor, Assembly Member or Member of Parliament.  They 

undertake an important role in handling concerns and queries that individual constituents 

may have. Collectively, these are called Member Referrals and can range from comments 

and queries to complaints. 

 

If an Elected Member considers it to be inappropriate to deal with a concern, the matter can 

be referred for consideration under the Complaints Procedure.  With effect from 2017, only 

those referrals received from Elected Members have been recorded by Democratic 

Services.  Cabinet Members may liaise with Assembly Members and Members of 

Parliament to complete referrals but this data is no longer recorded. 

 

During 2024/2025, Member referrals were received as follows:-   

 

Table 1 

 

2024/2025 Number of Referrals 

Adults and Prevention & Wellbeing 101 

Children and Family Services 30 

Total 131 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 98



APPENDIX 1 
5. COMPLAINTS AND REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM THE CITIZEN 

VOICE BODY “LLAIS” 

 

The Citizen Voice Body (CVB) promotes public engagement in the planning, designing and 

delivery of services and plays a key role in ensuring health and social care services in Wales 

are of a high quality and are responsive to the needs of citizens. The CVB operates under 

the name “Llais” and became operational from 1st April 2023. Llais is an independent body 

which provides a free Advocacy service to support members of the public who may wish to 

raise a concern. Llais also provide advice and information on the most appropriate course 

of action. During the reporting period, 6 complaints were received from Llais advocates; 5 

of which related to Children and Family Services and 1 in respect of Adult Social Care.   

 

6. ENGAGEMENT AND FEEDBACK 

            

In addition to receiving comments and compliments from service users and their 

relatives/carers, the Directorate also issues a range of feedback questionnaires from across 

service areas.  A cross-section of the feedback during 2024/2025 is set out below: 

 

Adult Social Care 

 

The Telecare survey is forwarded to all people who have accessed a Local Authority 

Domiciliary Care Service and have an active Care and Support Plan.  

 

Between 1st April 2024 and 31st March 2025, 785 surveys were distributed, of which, 165 

responses were received. This is a 21% response rate, which is a decrease from the 

response rate of 34% in the previous year. 

 

General comments provided include:  

 

I have mobility issues and a great fear of falling and could be on the floor for hours. 

Telecare is like a security blanket. 

Excellent services and everyone helpful and considerate. 

A from your organisation recently visited my mum to set up the emergency response 

system.  Everything went perfectly but I just wanted to say what a great job A did in 

explaining the system and how it all works.  We all found him very concise, very 

knowledgeable and very helpful!  A is certainly a credit to your team and I would be 

grateful if you could pass on both mine and my mother’s thanks. 

Happy with the peace of mind that you are on call. 

The chap who was here was very polite and patient. Spent a long-time explaining 

things to us - he was so thorough. He was very pleasant too. He tidied up after 

installing the key safe. 

We are grateful. We only set the fall watch off by mistake, but the response time was 

impressive. Thank you. 

 

The Early Intervention and Prevention Hub provides all contact for adult health and social 

services. Both the public and professionals can access the hub, which provides: 
Page 99



APPENDIX 1 
• information, advice and assistance including direction to third sector and community 

services when they are the best places to address well-being needs; 

• and multi-disciplinary triage including mental health services and urgent community 

response for people who need assessment or immediate service. 

Comments include: 

 

I really appreciate all the support from you for us as a family. 

You have been so lovely and you have been so nice, you have been very 

understanding, I was dreading making this call but you have listened to me. 

Honestly B this is life changing I can’t thank you enough for everything you have done. 

C is very helpful, she has been excellent, helpful and supportive. She is professional 

and is approachable. Her communication is always clear, and she has tried her best to 

get the best package of care for us and I really appreciate it. She’s punctual and if she 

promises to do something, she always follows it up and keeps me in the loop and 

notifies me of things. 

I can’t thank you enough for being so kind and listening to me and helping me. 

 

The Commissioning for Complex Needs team play a crucial role in effectively engaging 

with all stakeholders and individuals to ensure support is provided in line with each person’s 

outcomes and aspirations. The team offer proportionate, evidence based, strengths based, 

outcome focused assessments and reviews, which enable people to achieve their 

aspirations whilst maximising resources. 

 

Comments provided include:  

 

Thank you for keeping me updated, we have been to Tenby for a couple of days and 

have just got home, it will be sad seeing you go, you have been a great help to us all 

and we will miss you, thank you for everything you have done to help us. 

Just a little email to let you know about a compliment given today around good practice 

and professional standards in relation to conduct for a NHS Continuing Healthcare 

Assessment, carried out in Brocastle. Extremely stressful time for family, good outcome, 

son had an awful experience with his father going through the same process beforehand 

but felt for his mother it was conducted very professionally. 

Thanks for all your help and support for D and myself at both meetings, which was really 

important for D’s future happiness and independence. 

Thank you for your help on this also. Your support along with E has been invaluable. 

 

Bryn Y Cae is a purpose built residential home, which provides residential and respite care 

for older persons with assessed care and support needs. The service provides short term 

reablement placements for up to 6 weeks to prevent hospital admission or step down; this 

is an integrated service provided by the local authority and the health board. It has 37 

bedrooms; 9 of which are within the dementia unit of the home, 22 are in the frail elderly 

units and 6 are on the re-enablement unit. The dementia unit has nine bedrooms, all of 

which have en-suite facilities. They come furnished or residents can choose to bring in their 
Page 100



APPENDIX 1 
own furniture. Staff at Bryn Y Cae encourage families to assist their relative to personalise 

their room as much as possible.  There is an assisted bathroom and separate shower room, 

a reminiscence room, large lounge/activity room and one quiet lounge. There is also a dining 

room with access to a secure garden area. Staff at Bryn Y Cae are committed to supporting 

residents to lead a fulfilled life as possible, in an environment which: 

• Places value on individual beliefs, choices and aspirations. 

• Promotes maximised independence and community integration. 

• Provides a safe, nurturing and homely environment, 

 

Comments provided include:  

 

To everyone on the butterfly unit. Thank you all so much for your care in looking after 

everyone on your unit. 

F told me how absolutely wonderful all the staff have been since G has been there. She 

said they were all really caring but not just to G but to the whole family and they really 

appreciated it. 

Thank you for everything you do for Mum and making it such a joy for her at this time if 

her life. We can't thank you enough. 

Thank you for the incredible job you do looking after our loved ones. You all have 

compassion, patience, and an exceptional level of dedication. We cannot express how 

grateful we are knowing your looking after all residents (especially H). Hoping you all 

have a wonderful Christmas. Best Wishes. 

The home is wonderful; I can’t praise you and your team enough. 

 

 

Children and Family Services 

 

The West Locality Safeguarding Hub work with children from pre-birth to 18 years of age. 

The team manage care and support, child protection, Public Law Outline and court cases. 

The team work closely with children and families and partner agencies to facilitate plans in 

an attempt to facilitate positive change for families. The team analyse and manage risk to 

ensure children remain at home where it is safe for them to do so.  

Comments include:  

 

Just a big thank you for getting who I am and who I could be and for being patient. I’m 

really grateful and thankful for all your help. All I can say is I got a house, my son, my 

life back and I just need my grandchildren back and I be completely happy. But again 

thank you I, I don’t know how you do a job like you do.’ 

Page 101



APPENDIX 1 

As you know J has been a huge part of our lives since February and she has been 

outstanding. J has everything a family could ever need in a social worker, she's 

professional but also very down to earth, non-judgemental, supportive and goes above 

and beyond in all aspects of her work. As you know we as a family have been involved 

with children's services on and off for years. We've had some awful social workers, 

some ok but only just, others that whilst have been nice they've been for their 

mandatory visit and that's it for another 2 or 6 weeks. J however, checks in several 

times a day even when she probably isn't required to, she has a passion for her job 

that you rarely see and above all she's very compassionate and empathic and shows 

that social workers are actual human being's too rather than "robots"  who come in, find 

fault and leave again. My confidence in my parenting regularly takes a tumble but she's 

always there reassuring me and making me feel better about myself. Again, as you are 

aware I find it very difficult to converse with people causing a massive reluctance in her 

engaging. However, J has made a lot of headway with K and K often seeks out J when 

she's distraught and in need of someone to speak to. K has made it clear that when J 

leaves, she will not work with anyone else and unfortunately, I believe this to be true. I 

fear that this will set K back even further and will be detrimental to her mental health 

and her trust issues with people, she needs consistency and right now other than 

myself, J is the only other person giving her that. My other children all love J too and 

love seeing her and speaking with her. I have voiced my concerns to the multi-agency 

disciplinary team and the majority, if not all are extremely concerned as to what K will 

do and how she will cope with no longer having J. K is nowhere near ready to come 

away from her. Finally, I'd like to finish by again saying how amazing J is, she is a great 

asset to your team and I know that she will go extremely far in life. She's got everything 

and more required in a social worker. I'm begging and pleading that you keep her on 

the team for not only K's sake but also the massive difference she will make to the lives 

of many families in the future, and you will have the pleasure of saying - she's one of 

my team and I knew from the off she would make a massive difference 😉. 

I just wanted to say how impressed I have been by the [local authorities] support for L 

and her parents and in particular M’s work on this case. [The Judge] was very 

complimentary about his work on this case, and I just wanted you to be aware. There is 

so much criticism out there I just wanted you to know that others do recognise and 

appreciate all the hard work that you do. 

Would just like to say you've made a good impression on N, she doesn't talk fondly of 

many adults but she always points out that you actually talk about her, her general life 

& interests etc & seem to listen to what she says. Thank you 

 

Bridgend County Borough Council's Child Disability and Transition team supports 

disabled children and young people, including those in care, as they transition into 

adulthood. This team provides support, including financial assistance for meeting care 

needs, and aims to facilitate smooth transitions from childhood to adulthood. 

 

Comments include:  

 

I just wanted to say thank you for everything you did for me and don't say it's your job 

because you went above your job to help me so thank you. Page 102



APPENDIX 1 

Hope you have the best Christmas because that is what you make mine. You truly are 

the best and extremely awesome. 

We hope you and your family have a fantastic festive period. Thank you for all your 

amazing work. I know he and we really appreciate it. 

You were very supportive of staff and O was always on the end of the phone if we 

needed anything. You also had a very good relationship with P which I felt kept him in a 

good place and ultimately had a very good outcome. 

 

The Kinship Care & Permanence team supports kinship carers, birth parents, and children 

in special guardianship orders. They provide financial support, home visits, advice, support 

groups, fostering training, and placement support. The team also assists with 

communication with other organisations and birth parents.  

 

Comments include:  

 

Thank you for today. Please pass on to Q also. We felt listened to, heard and 
understood, it’s been a long time since we have felt appreciated. Have a wonderful 
Xmas x 

I visited a carer yesterday, R, and she said that the support you are providing to the 
young person in her care is brilliant, and she couldn’t speak highly enough of you. I just 
wanted to email to say thank you for the work that you do, it is appreciated and makes 
such a difference to our carers and young people. 

I just wanted to share how positive the support from fostering has been over recent 
weeks. As you know there are challenges in both teams but it certainly feels like a joint 
approach to address matters rather than it being a [social work team] issue, so thanks S 
for your hard work and support. I also want to say how impressed I am of T. She is so 
helpful, upfront and child focused. She has been a great support on several cases 
recently.  

I would like to say that since U has worked with V he is a changed child, he has really 
helped him. We are really sorry to see him leave us. He has been a very good asset to 
myself and W. Thank you very much. 

 

  

Page 103



APPENDIX 1 
Adult Social Care - Statutory Independent Professional Advocacy (IPA) 

Providers 

Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) commissions a ‘Hub & Spoke’ service model 

for advocacy which includes: 

• Bridgend Voice & Choice (BVC) Advocacy Contact Hub: PromoCymru; 

• Specialist Learning Disability Provider (statutory and non-statutory): People First 

Bridgend, and; 

• Specialist Communications/Accessible Support Provider: Mental Health Matters 

Wales 

Performance Data 

During the 2024/25 reporting period, the BVC Advocacy Hub received an average of 35 

contacts per quarter, which was down from an average of 50 per quarter the previous year. 

Whilst the volume of connected contacts has varied, peaking in 2021 and 2022, there has 

been a marked and consistent increase in the proportion of contacts resulting in formal case 

records. This suggests that although overall contact demand has not maintained the 

numbers seen between 2021 and 2022; the helpline is now dealing with a greater proportion 

of contacts requiring intensive advocacy intervention. 

Professionals remained the primary source of helpline enquiries, emphasising their crucial 

role in facilitating advocacy access, but potentially demonstrating that wider knowledge of 

the role and rights to advocacy is needed. 

Referrals and contacts to the BVC Hub are triaged and referred to the most appropriate 

support service. During the reporting period, 47% of BVC helpline cases were referred for 

Independent Professional Advocacy (IPA), ensuring those with statutory advocacy needs 

received specialist support. 33% of cases involved signposting or transfer to other specific 

specialist services. 80% of all cases received relevant information and/or advice, indicating 

that the vast majority of service users benefited from tailored guidance, either as a 

standalone intervention or alongside further support. Across 2024/25, BVC signposted 

cases to a total of 48 individual organisations.  

Overall, whilst connected contacts have declined in volume; the significant rise in conversion 

rate demonstrates fewer, but more complex, cases required intensive support. 

Most BVC helpline enquiries relating to the adult social care process centred around 

requests for information, advice, and assistance usually indicating service users wanting to 

enter the care and support process. Care and carer assessments, as well as care and 

support planning, also saw increased activity mid-year, mirroring the heightened activity on 

the helpline from professionals seeking advocacy support in navigating and accessing 

services during this period. Safeguarding and care reviews remained steady across the 

year, whilst complaints and child protection issues, though less frequent, were present 

throughout. 

 

 

  

Page 104



APPENDIX 1 
Children and Family Services – Statutory Independent Professional Advocacy (IPA) 

Provider 

Tros Gynnal Plant (TGP) is an established and long-standing advocacy provider in the 

Bridgend area, under a regional contract for Cwm Taf Morgannwg led by Rhondda Cynon 

Taf County Borough Council.  

Active Offers & Issue-based Advocacy (IBA) 

During the year, 133 children and young people accessed the Issue Based Advocacy (IBA) 

service, presenting with 172 issues. This represents a decrease of 12 young people 

compared to 145 who accessed the service in the previous year. Of the 133, 58 were 

accessing the service for the first time, down from 76 first-time users in the previous year.  

There was also a small decrease in Active Offers (AO), with 66 received this year, compared 

to 71 last year. A total of 132 children and young people were eligible for the AO during the 

year, a 49% reduction from 262 the previous year. Of those eligible, 66 were referred for 

AO, meaning that 50% of eligible individuals received a referral, compared to just 27% the 

previous year. While this increase is encouraging, we recognise that further improvement is 

needed.  

To improve this, TGP have delivered presentations to social work teams to increase the 

understanding of the local authorities’ responsibilities in promoting the AO. Additionally, TGP 

distributed literature via email outlining referral pathways, the AO and the advocacy process. 

These efforts have had a positive impact, as several IBA referrals were received as a direct 

result.  

The decrease in the number of children and young people in the child protection arena 

accessing advocacy services may, in part, be attributed to the decline in young people 

becoming eligible for the AO.  

 

7. STATISTICAL INFORMATION 2024/2025 

 Number of Representations Received and Timescales 

Table 2  

Total Number of Complaints and Representations Received  

Statutory Complaints Procedure – 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025 

 

Complaints 

Adult Social 

Care 

Children and 

Family 

Services 

Informal (resolved outside of the formal 

complaints procedure) 

41 102 

Stage 1 7 11 

Stage 2 3 6 

Total Complaints 170 

Compliments 

Adult Social 

Care 

Children and 

Family 

Services 

252 122 

Total Compliments 374 Page 105



APPENDIX 1 
 

A total of 182 complaints were received in the previous period 2023/24. The table above 

shows a decrease in complaints received during this reporting period, – 6.5% compared 

to the previous year. 

 

A total of 362 compliments were received in the previous period 2023/24. The table above 

shows an increase in compliments received during this reporting period, + 3% compared 

to the previous year. 

  

Timescales 

 

98% of all complaints were acknowledged by the complaints department within 2 working 

days during this reporting period.  

 

At Stage 1, the complainant should be contacted within 10 working days of the 

acknowledgment date by the individual investigating the complaint. This person is usually 

the relevant manager responsible for the service area related to the complaint. After 

resolving the complaint, a written response should be provided on behalf of the Local 

Authority within 5 working days of the discussion or meeting. 

 

During the reporting period, 16.6% of complaints led to a meeting or telephone call held 

within 10 working days. It's pertinent to acknowledge that this figure reflects mutual 

availability; as there are times when managers may be busy or on leave, or the dates offered 

may not be suitable for the complainant, leading to the meeting occurring later than 10 

working days. 

 

Overall, 67% of Stage 1 complaints were resolved within the timescales outlined in the 

complaints policy. This is the percentage of complaints that received a written response 

within 5 working days following the telephone discussion or meeting. If no meeting or call 

took place, compliance is calculated based on those who received a written response within 

15 working days from the start date of the complaint. This is an increase from the 47% 

completed within timescale in the previous year. 

 

At Stage 2, the guidelines specify that an investigation must be completed, and a full written 

response issued to the complainant within 25 working days of the start date. Unfortunately, 

no Stage 2 complaint investigations were completed, and reports issued within this 

timeframe. This is consistent with the previous year. The complexity and seriousness of the 

complaints that reach this stage have resulted in investigations exceeding the 25-working 

day limit. The severity and intricacy of the issues investigated during the reporting period 

necessitated thorough and detailed investigations, requiring more time to ensure all aspects 

are carefully considered. 

 

Several independent investigations during the reporting period involved interviews with 

former staff members who have since left the local authority. In these cases, the complaints 

department must co-ordinate with Human Resources (HR) to obtain contact details and 

encourage the voluntary participation of former staff members, which can take additional 

time. As former staff no longer have access to social work systems, they must rely on their 

recollections of events, making it more challenging to obtain the accurate and detailed 

accounts needed for the investigation. 
Page 106



APPENDIX 1 
 

Another factor contributing to delays in completing complaint investigations is the complexity 

of the complaints themselves. A significant proportion of complaints are highly detailed and 

involved multiple complex issues. During the reporting period, 41% of complaints covered 

multiple issues, which is relatively consistent with the 46% reported the previous year. While 

we strive to meet the timescales outlined in our complaints policy, the complexity of these 

complaints necessitates a thorough approach to ensure meaningful and positive outcomes 

for complainants. Additional time is required to ensure all aspects of each complaint are fully 

considered and addressed. 

 

Additionally, 14% of complaints involved multiple teams within the local authority, an 

increase from 9.5% the previous year. This necessitates co-ordination among various 

service managers, further prolonging enquiries and the investigation process. 

 

When assessing compliance with timescales, it is essential to consider the substantial 

increase in complaint volumes during the 2022/23 reporting period. That year saw a 158% 

rise in complaints compared to the previous year. Although there was a slight decrease of 

5% in 2023/24, followed by another decrease of 6.5% in 2024/25, the overall number of 

complaints remains significantly higher than when Welsh Government last reviewed the 

application of these timescales in 2014. 

 

Despite these ongoing challenges, there has been an improvement in the timeliness of 

responses to Stage 1 complaints, reflecting the directorate's ongoing efforts to streamline 

processes, enhance coordination, and provide more timely responses to those raising 

concerns. While progress at Stage 1 is encouraging, it is clear that further work is needed 

to ensure compliance with timescales. To support this effort, we are reviewing internal 

workflows with the goal of refining and accelerating our processes, especially in light of the 

complexity of complaints received. 

 

To support adherence to timescales at Stage 2, we are actively working to expand the pool 

of available independent investigators. This includes sharing information about both new 

and experienced investigators with neighbouring local authorities, as well as exchanging 

insights into the quality of investigatory work conducted (while maintaining complainant 

confidentiality). Additionally, we are exploring opportunities to attract qualified candidates to 

these roles. This would help alleviate pressure on existing resources, support adherence to 

timescales, and ensure the continued delivery of high-quality investigations. 

 

Overall Analysis 

 

Early Resolution of Complaints 

 

In line with the Welsh Government Guidance “A guide to handling complaints and 

representations by Local Authority social services” Bridgend County Borough Council, 

wherever possible, focuses on early resolution of complaints, with 84% of complaints 

resolved informally during this reporting period (pre the complaints procedure). This is an 

increase from the 77% of complaints resolved informally in 2023/24. The high percentage 

continues to reflect the Directorate’s commitment to achieving early resolution for 

complainants.  

 
Page 107



APPENDIX 1 
Some of the feedback and comments received in relation to staff working within the Social 

Services Complaints Department are as follows: 

 

Well done W, [the] recognition of the professional way you lead complaints for us is very 

well deserved. 

X, you’ve been exemplary. 

Further to today’s quarterly performance meeting, can I express my gratitude to Y for 

supporting me in my role to make sense of emerging themes across the Directorate and 

subsequent triangulation with Compliments and Complaints data. Y is consistently 

responsive to information requests and more recently set up regular meetings between us 

to ensure that we evaluate the findings we critically reflect on to improve quality across 

the Directorate and promote excellence wherever possible. 

Once again, I appreciate your help. 

Thank you for responding so quickly. 

  

Complaint Outcomes (Statutory) 

 

In-line with Welsh Government guidance on “A guide to handling complaints and 

representations by local authority social services” complaints resolved at the local resolution 

stage are only closed by mutual consent, with all parties confirming that a resolution has 

been agreed. The three most common themes during this reporting period were: 

 

• Lack of support (18%) 

• Staff conduct (16%) 

• Lack of communication (14%) 

 

Further information on themes can be found on Page 17 and 18 of this report. 

 

Stage 2 complaints are investigated by an Independent Investigating Officer (IIO) 

independent from the Council. Complaints relating to Children and Family Services must 

also be overseen by an Independent Person (IP).  

 

The outcome of Stage 2 complaints resolved within the reporting year are as follows: 

 

 

 

Page 108



APPENDIX 1 
Table 3.  

Complaint Outcomes (St. 2 – Statutory Complaints Procedure) 

Outcome Adult Social 

Care 

Children and 

Family Services 

Total 

Not Upheld 1 3 4 

Partially Upheld 1 3 4 

Upheld 1 0 1 

Total 3 6 9 

 

The following complaints were upheld following independent investigation: 

 

Children and Family Services 

 

Lack of Care and Support Package.  

The Independent Investigating Officer (IIO) concluded that there was no Care and 

Support package in place despite the allocation of Direct Payments. The Child Disability 

and Transition team did not implement appropriate support. 

No Carer’s Assessment for Parents.  

The investigation established that parents received no support as carers. The Child 

Disability and Transition team did not act on a referral for a Carer’s Assessment. 

Funding Change from a Commissioned Service to Direct Payments.  

The IIO found no clear rationale in records or in the information elicited at interview for 

the proposed change. 

Proposed Transition Despite Stable Placement.  

The IIO concluded that the current placement at Ty Teulu was successful, yet Bridgend 

Resource Centre was proposed to complainants in care planning. The IIO concluded 

that this was inconsistent with the young person's needs. 

Respite Not Offered.  

The investigation identified there was no updated discussion of respite since 2021, and 

that respite needs were not considered in recent care and support planning. 

Inadequate Support Following Allegation Against Foster Carer.  

The IIO found gaps in process, communication, and record-keeping. The investigation 

established that support was insufficient and that the safeguarding process was 

mishandled. 

Failure to Support Child During Investigation.  

The IIO found evidence of delayed contact and a lack of support. The investigation 

concluded that the child was not properly supported and the safety plan was not 

reviewed. 

Page 109



APPENDIX 1 

Disputed Strategy Meeting Communication.  

The IIO established during staff interviews that there were conflicting statements made 

about police contact. The complaint was upheld due to poor communication and follow-

up. 

Poor Safety Planning.  

The IIO found no evidence of adequate safeguarding documentation and 

communication was lacking. 

Lack of Transparency in Safeguarding Process.  

The IIO concluded that the complainant was not kept informed of the process. There 

were communication failures; the IIO concluded that the complainant should have been 

appropriately informed of the process and there were missed opportunities for support. 

Loss of Foster Carer's Records.  

The IIO found inconsistencies around record submission and management. The 

investigation established that the foster carer records were mishandled and that the 

record keeping practices were inconsistent with policy. 

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Lack of Communication About Activities.  

The IIO found that the complainant did not receive email updates on son’s activities at 

Bridgend Resource Centre.  

Decision on Direct Payment Top-up Delay.  

The IIO established that following the notice given from the previous provider, the family 

were not offered timely alternatives. The IIO concluded that the communication delay 

was unacceptable; the family were left with no options and were required to fund the 

direct payment top-up for the new provider. 

Assessment Process Delays.  

The IIO established that there was a delay in assigning a knowledgeable social worker. 

The delays were due to staffing issues. 

Bridgend Resource Centre (BRC) lacking in Capacity and Suitability.  

The IIO established that, following the notice given from the previous provider, the new 

provider (BRC) was not appropriate for the complainant’s son’s needs and there was no 

availability for the required five days a week. 

Unresolved Funding Issues and Reduced Direct Payment hours.  

The investigation established that, following closure of the previous provider, there was 

uncertainty regarding the new placements funding. This resulted in a lack of stability or 

clarity for the complainant’s son’s care. 

Improper Transition Planning.  

The IIO established that a move to Bridgend Resource Centre was suggested without 

proper assessment or planning, causing the complainant and family uncertainty. 

Page 110



APPENDIX 1 

Misinformation received During Assessment Process.  

The IIO found that the agency social worker misinformed the family and failed to 

appropriately coordinate the case. The IIO found that there was an inadequate 

understanding of policies and poor communication. 

 

Social Services Complaints 

  

Delay in Stage 1 Complaint Handling.  

The IIO found a delay in requesting daughter’s consent and confusing communication. 

Additionally, the sign off process contributed to delays and complainants’ frustration. 

 

Corporate Complaints Procedure 

 

There are situations where certain aspects of a complaint do not fall under the Social 

Services Statutory Complaints Procedure; in these cases, the Authority’s Corporate 

Complaints Procedure is utilised instead. During the 2024/25 period, the Local Authorities’ 

Corporate Complaints team received 3 complaints related to Social Services, which were 

appropriately addressed according to the Corporate Complaints Procedure. The first 

complaint concerned a Subject Access Request (SAR) made under the Data Protection Act. 

The complainant expressed concern that information she expected to be recorded was not 

provided. The second complaint came from the director of a young person’s residential 

home and was regarding the council's lack of response to the company’s proposed price 

increase. The third complaint, which was Upheld, involved a data breach in Children and 

Family Services. The Council Annual Complaints Report details these complaints, along 

with others received across various directorates, in accordance with the Corporate 

Complaints Policy. 

 

Complaint Themes 

 

The nature of all complaints received to the directorate varied, and included: 

 

Table 4. 

 

Themes of complaints received 2024/25 Percentage % 

Lack of support 18% 

Staff conduct 16% 

Lack of communication 14% 

Failure to act in a way the complainant 

believes council should have 
9% 

Case management/review decisions 7% 

Breach of confidentiality 5% 

Request 5% 

Factual Inaccuracies/False Accusations 4% 

Other 3% Page 111



APPENDIX 1 

Frequent changes of staff 3% 

Delays 2% 

Child/Adult protection process/outcome, 

decision for registration or de-registration 
2% 

Removal and reduction of service 2% 

Safeguarding concerns raised 2% 

Court order not followed 1% 

Issue with assessment 1% 

 

Complaints regarding a lack of support 

 

As seen in Table 4, the largest proportion of complaints received during this period (18%) 

centred around a perceived lack of support in various areas critical to our responsibilities 

under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. This theme reflects a range of 

concerns expressed by service users, carers, and families regarding the adequacy of the 

assistance provided.  

 

In Adult Services, complainants reported struggling to manage their caring responsibilities 

and often felt overwhelmed and unsupported. Family members also voiced concerns about 

the level of involvement and support provided to their vulnerable relatives, believing that 

social services should be doing more to meet their needs.  

 

In Children and Family Services, a recurring issue was the lack of support for families of 

disabled children and those caring for children with challenging behaviours. Parents 

described feeling isolated and under-supported in meeting their children's needs. Foster 

carers, including those in general placements and kinship arrangements, also raised 

concerns about the level of support they received in maintaining their caring roles. These 

concerns included the need for emotional support, particularly for carers facing allegations 

or involved in child protection procedures. At times, the lack of support referred to was 

financial. Additionally, complaints during the reporting period were received from or on 

behalf of young people leaving care who required assistance with finances, housing, or 

obtaining important documents.  

 

This feedback highlights the importance of timely intervention across both Adult and 

Children and Family Services. Addressing these concerns remains a key priority for the 

directorate as we continue to work on improving the quality and responsiveness of the 

services we provide. 

 

  

Page 112



APPENDIX 1 
Complaints regarding staff conduct 

 

During this reporting period, 16% of complaints received related to the conduct of individual 

staff members. Complaints pertaining to the conduct of staff members are handled by the 

appropriate line manager in accordance with the Council’s internal HR policies. These 

polices are designed to ensure that appropriate action is taken, when necessary. The 

relevant line manager who handles the complaint must take the concerns seriously, and 

thoroughly evaluate every concern raised relating to the conduct of their staff. The 

complaints department hold a record of staff names to support the identification of any 

reoccurring concerns and are able to highlight this to the appropriate managers. In 

compliance with legal confidentiality obligations inherent in each employee’s contract of 

employment and the Data Protection Act (2018), the Council must not disclose the results 

of any investigations to a complainant.  

Complainants may also be advised that they are entitled to raise a concern directly with the 

regulatory body, Social Care Wales or Social Work England, and are provided with details 

of how to also raise a concern separately, should they wish to do so.  

 

Complaints regarding safeguarding concerns 

 

During this reporting period, 4 complaints were raised that highlighted safeguarding 

concerns, which were addressed according to Wales Safeguarding Procedures. Of these 

complaints, 3 related to Children and Family Services, while 1 pertained to Adult Social 

Care.  

 

In Children and Family Services, one complaint prompted a Section 47 investigation. The 

second complaint was referred to the Group Manager of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 

(MASH) for review, and the complainant was advised on how to report any new concerns 

directly to the MASH. The concerns raised in the third complaint were forwarded to the 

allocated social worker for a thorough investigation; however, it was determined that these 

concerns did not meet the threshold for further investigation.  

 

In Adult Services, one complaint was received regarding safeguarding concerns. This 

concern involved an allegation that a Support at Home carer had used a ‘Steddy’ aid with 

excessive force, resulting in injury to the service user’s feet. In accordance with Wales 

Safeguarding procedures, the matter was referred to the Adult Safeguarding Team for a 

comprehensive investigation. 

 

8.  HOW COMPLAINTS WERE RESOLVED and LESSONS LEARNED 

 

A variety of methods were used to resolve complaints, including: 

 

Liaison between Complaints Officers, Management and Complainants. 

• Work with complaints officers and relevant managers to identify and agree on a swift 

and informal resolution to issues raised. 

• Facilitate meetings between managers and complainants to encourage honest and 

open communication, allowing for a better understanding of the complainants' 

concerns and desired outcomes. 

 
Page 113



APPENDIX 1 
Collaboration and Best Practices. 

• Fostering positive working relationships with Social Services Complaints 

Departments across other Local Authorities in Wales to share best practice and 

ensure consistency in handling complaints. This collaboration helps ensure that 

complainants receive fair and equitable treatment. For particularly complex cases, 

we may engage in collaborative problem-solving while always maintaining 

confidentiality. 

 

Communication with Complainants. 

• Provide complainants with a clear explanation of the reasons behind decisions (both 

verbally and in writing). 

• Maintain openness and honesty by offering apologies to complainants when 

necessary. 

• Identify areas where services can be improved and ensure that corrective actions are 

recorded and followed up on. 

• Offer reassessments where appropriate. 

 

Advocacy Advice/Support and Independent Consideration. 

• Direct complainants to advocacy services such as Llais, TGP Cymru, and BVC for 

additional support. 

• Refer complaints to Stage 2 of the Social Services Complaints Procedure for 

independent review and consideration. 

 

Quality Assurance and Improvement. 

• Collaborate with the Quality Assurance Officer to discuss recurring issues and trends 

in complaints. This dialogue allows for a targeted focus on areas needing service 

quality improvement. The Quality Assurance Officer considers how identified learning 

outcomes align with broader service improvement plans. 

 

A summary of key lessons learned during 2024/25 were as follows: 

 

Table 5 

 
Team  

 
Lessons Learned / Actions Implemented 
  

Adult 
Social Care 

Even though the complaint was 'Not Upheld', the IIO recommended 
that we ensure families new to social services are clearly informed 
about the role of social workers and expectations. 
 
The Local Authority is reviewing the documentation for first-time service 
users to ensure they fully understand the role of social services. 

Care 
Experienced 
Childrens 
Team 

Ensure Section 47 outcomes are referenced in Reviews of care 
experienced children  and care plans are rationalised. 
 
A note was placed on the children’s records to reflect the outcomes and 
actions taken, ensuring an accurate record of the Local Authority’s 
interventions.  

Page 114



APPENDIX 1 

Child 
Disability & 
Transition 

Group Manager to try and improve relations between complainant 
and the service to encourage a robust needs assessment. 
 
The Local Authority offered this as a potential way forward with the Group 
Manager intervening to broker a relationship with the complainant, 
provided that the complainant agrees. If complainant agrees, a robust 
needs assessment will be  
undertaken with corresponding Care and Support Plans.  

Child 
Disability & 
Transition 

Social workers to read previous assessments and care plans before 
visits. 
 
Social workers have been reminded of the importance of reviewing 
previous assessments and care plans as part of the current assessment 
process.  

Child 
Disability & 
Transition 

Clearly communicate the rationale behind considering in-house 
care provision as the first option. 
 
The Local Authority clarified that under the Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014, resources must be allocated fairly and sustainably. 
This is now being communicated more clearly to families.  

Child 
Disability & 
Transition 

Decisions about funding for placements are evidence-based. 
 
Outcome Surgery ensures decisions with financial implications are made 
based on evidence of assessed and agreed care and support needs. 

Child 
Disability & 
Transition 

Engage families actively in assessments and decision-making 
processes. 
 
Social workers have been reminded of their responsibility to actively 
involve families during the assessment process. Learning from this case 
has been integrated into training, supervision, and quality assurance 
processes.  

Community 
Learning 
Disability 
Team 

Reassess care packages and consider reinstating additional care 
hours if necessary. 
 
The Local Authority agreed to consider if additional care hours are 
warranted, however this decision is based on the outcome of the social 
worker’s assessment.  

Community 
Learning 
Disability 
Team 

Make decisions on funding quickly, based on individual care needs. 
 
The Local Authority has implemented a more efficient decision-making 
process at Outcomes Surgery for care plans with financial implications.  

Page 115



APPENDIX 1 

Community 
Learning 
Disability 
Team 

Engage families in the assessment process and consider 
placements holistically. 
 
This practice is in place and has been reinforced through ongoing 
training, supervision, and quality assurance processes. 

Community 
Learning 
Disability 
Team 

Allocate cases with complexity to more experienced social workers. 
 
The Local Authority is reviewing its allocation process to ensure cases 
are assigned to social workers with appropriate experience and 
expertise.  

Community 
Learning 
Disability 
Team / Day 
Services 

Ensure clear communication with day services about placements 
and assessments. 
 
Social workers are required to proactively engage with day services 
management to confirm service availability before offering or agreeing to 
services.  

Complaints 
Department 

Ensure consent is obtained at the outset when a representative files 
a complaint. 
 
Consent is obtained promptly in all cases where someone other than a 
parent or legal guardian is making a representation on behalf of a child.  

Complaints 
Department 

Improve communication between the Complaints Team and 
complainants. 
 
The Complaints Team has reflected on how to improve communication, 
especially during staff absences, by ensuring detailed handovers and 
using file notes to ensure all team members are aware of the complaint 
status.  

Complaints 
Department 

Provide guidance on the complaints process to Social Work Teams, 
ensuring timely responses. 
 
The Local Authority has updated training materials, provided refresher 
training, and reminded staff of the eLearning module for staff on the 
complaints process.  

Complaints 
Department 

Develop a Quick Reference Guide for Social Workers on their 
responsibilities within the complaints process. 
 
The Quick Reference Guide been developed and will be made available 
to all staff to ensure clarity on their roles and the statutory timescales for 
responses.  

East Locality 
Safeguarding 
Hub 

Even though the complaint was 'Not Upheld', the IIO recommended 
reflection on whether earlier action should have been taken 
regarding the removal of children from the complainant. 
 
The Local Authority reflected on the timeliness of intervention in the 
response letter to the complainant.  

Page 116



APPENDIX 1 

Fostering 

Strengthen training and support for foster carers, especially for 
those with children who have challenging behaviours. 
 
The Local Authority is currently reviewing the training and support 
provided to foster carers, including developing targeted training for those 
caring for children with challenging or complex needs.  

Fostering 

 
Revisit record-keeping policies and ensure staff and Foster carers 
are clear about the importance of accurate, timely records. 
 
The Local Authority has updated practice guidance, conducted 
workshops, and increased monitoring to ensure compliance with record-
keeping standards. 
  

Fostering 

 
Ensure foster carer records are accurate, signed off, and located in 
the appropriate systems. 
 
A new Recording Policy has been implemented and staff have been 
trained on proper record-keeping procedures. Foster carer records are 
now regularly reviewed as part of annual reviews. 
  

Fostering 

 
Address issues of concern with foster carers during supervision 
sessions and maintain detailed incident records. 
 
The Local Authority is reviewing its placement stability approach to 
identify early interventions that could prevent potential breakdowns. Staff 
and Foster carers are encouraged to maintain detailed incident records. 
  

Fostering / 
Care 
Experienced 
Childrens 
Team 

 
Introduce case consultations for early intervention and to reduce 
escalation. 
 
A new case consultation model has been introduced, allowing teams to 
book consultations with senior managers for advice and guidance on next 
steps. 
  

Fostering / 
Care 
Experienced 
Childrens 
Team 

 
Ensure that allegations against foster carers are properly tracked 
and handled, with staff aware of their roles and responsibilities. 
 
The Local Authority has updated its Quality Assurance framework, 
embedded the Signs of Safety model, and created a Local Authority 
Designated Officer (LADO) post to oversee allegations against 
professionals, providing training and advice. 

Page 117



APPENDIX 1 

Fostering / 
Care 
Experienced 
Childrens 
Team / LADO 

Managers should review how the case that led to a complaint could 
have been handled differently to improve communication and 
information sharing. 
 
A comprehensive learning event was held to discuss how communication 
breakdowns occurred and ways to improve communication between 
teams and foster carers.   

Older People 
Mental 
Health 

Even though the complaint was 'Not Upheld', the IIO recommended 
that we ensure families receive written records of reviews and care 
plans, especially in cases where there may be misunderstanding. 
 
The Local Authority will provide written records of care plans and reviews 
to families, where the individual’s consent is obtained.  

Outcomes 
Surgery 

Make swift decisions when in-house services cannot meet an 
individual's needs, and ensure transparency in decision-making. 
 
The Local Authority has updated its practice in the Outcomes Surgery to 
ensure swift decisions on external providers and clear communication on 
how decisions are made.  

 

In order to ensure that the directorate   

learns from complaints, and improvements 

are embedded effectively, the complaints 

department record, analyse and report on 

the learning from complaints. Improvements 

are monitored using an ‘Outcomes Tracker’ 

spreadsheet, which is reviewed periodically 

by the Complaints Manager to ensure that 

all outcomes and agreed actions have been 

completed. While some actions are 

straightforward and can be implemented 

quickly, others may require a period of 

work, time and commitment from the 

service to embed. The Complaints Manager 

also follows up on any outstanding actions 

during the ‘Continuous Improvement Group’ 

meetings in both Adult and Children and 

Family Services. This group, attended by 

team managers and senior managers within 

the service, ensures that all areas of 

improvements are being addressed. The 

flowchart to the right demonstrates the 

process we follow from the recomendations 

being made, to ensuring they are 

completed. 

 

 

 
Page 118



APPENDIX 1 
Welsh Language Standards 

 

There have been no complaints received during this reporting period that have been 

communicated via the medium of Welsh.  

 

To ensure compliance with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards all 

complaints publicity material, including leaflets and the complaints section of the Council’s 

website have been translated and are readily available in Welsh and English.  

 

Compliments 

 

Compliments are regarded as important information which can be used to identify and learn 

from good practice. All compliments are therefore recorded centrally, and details provided 

in management reports.  As shown in Table 2 (page 12), 374 compliments were received 

during 2024/25 compared to 362 the previous year, a welcome increase of 3%. Please see 

a cross selection of the compliments received for 2024/25 in the table below: 

 

Table 6. 

Compliments - Adult Social Care: 

I wanted to say, my nan moved in earlier in the year and the reception and service received 

has been fantastic.  

 

Her moving in has given my family peace of mind that she is safe, secure and in a friendly, 

homely environment. Since her moving in, she has been having her medication regularly 

and eating set meals and can see the improvement from this in her.  

 

We had one incident where she fell and had to go to hospital, we were contacted straight 

away and everything was dealt with seamlessly.  

 

The staff have all been excellent and very friendly and welcoming when I come to visit. 

They have been very kind to us, while we have been going through some personal issues 

and when visiting have made us feel welcome. 

 

I would like to thank everyone for their care for my nan in the last year. 

I would like to thank Z and his team C.D.A.T. they've been absolutely brilliant with me.. 

looked after me in a way.. never judge me at all. But without Z I'd be dead and his 

support..... they have been nothing but outstanding with me and how and how my life is 

changing for the better. I think all the team, but Z's been by the side off me or whenever I 

needed someone to talk to when I was down at any time. Don't know what else to say 

other than thank you                      Legends!! 

A sadly passed away last week, and B has worked with her and her family for many years 

and has built a very positive and trusting relationship with them, providing vast amounts 

of support over the years. The family thanked her for her support and ‘for being there when 

we needed you most and for caring’. 

I was speaking to one of the social workers in CMHT who are helping us out with some of 

our referrals and she said she takes her hat off to you all for the work that you do in the 

hospital, she has realised since helping how hard you all work and the processes you 

complete, thought that it was nice for her to appreciate what you do. Page 119

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/social-services-complaints/


APPENDIX 1 
Glyn Cynffig is a clean and well run place with excellent staff, thank you. All of the staff 

have always been helpful. Thank you for all the help and support I have had while in Glyn 

Cynffig . It has changed my life for the better. 

Not everyone will be lucky enough to have you as a social worker and my dysfunctional - 

but not overly traumatic background. It would be so much worse for someone else. 

 

I will sing your praises throughout, of course. 

 

If I never speak to you again, I need you to know that you made a real difference in mine 

and my mums life. I genuinely believe you were chosen to oversee her transition and that 

no one on the planet would’ve cared more than you.  

 

That call you facilitated for the kids, my mum and me was literally the act of an angel. 

Lovely to see you and C again today. 

 

I’m literally blown away by my new hearing gadget. 

I was excited to get it for the TV.  Being able to wear it out is on another level. 

I’m pleased and grateful with my NHS hearing aids, they’re brilliant.  

To have my hearing enhanced even more, too another level is absolutely amazing.  The 

sound is so much clearer.  

It’s going to make so much difference to me, I cannot begin to tell you how much that 

means.   

I feel confident that I won’t have to concentrate as much wearing it out as I do with my 

hearing aids.  I feel I’ll be able to hear people talking normally without asking them to 

repeat themselves. 

I feel like a kid at Christmas, with the best gift ever of superpower hearing!  I could hear 

you clearly the other side of the street!!!! 

There were tears after you both left.  Happy, grateful tears…. they haven’t stopped just 

yet. 

I’m so excited and grateful to have it.  I feel so lucky.  It’s blown my mind.  It’s flipping 

genius, and my new best friend. 

It’s going to make so much difference for me.  

I cannot put into words how much it means. 

 

Thank you both from the bottom of my heart. 

I just wanted to share some lovely feedback I received this afternoon regarding yourself 

and a male colleague. I spoke to a senior manager in the Health Board today, who’s 

mother receives Telecare and the Mobile Response service, her mother lives with MND. 

She described yourself and a male colleague as attending her mother and said how 

sympathetic and respectful you both were to her mother. She said she had set up a similar 

type of service down West Wales but said, “when you see a service in action for your own 

family members and they were so professional and amazing, you feel so grateful.” She 

was saying how her mother has communication problems but you both took your time and 

were so respectful, that she was so impressed. 

Dear D, E and all the team at Ty Cwm Ogwr, I just wanted to say a huge thank you to the 

care and support that you provided to my mum but also my dad. Living so far away, it was 

comforting to know that mum was in safe hands and being cared for by a team of such 

wonderfully kind and thoughtful people. Keep doing what you do - you are all amazing. Page 120



APPENDIX 1 
 

Compliments – Children and Family Services: 

Thank you for working with me. I'm sad it's come to an end but thank you so much being 

there for me when I had no one. I'm going to miss you so much. 

I can only attribute the change being a result of the commitment and hard work of the 

Social Worker who managed to develop a positive working relationship with F and her 

father. Additionally, professionals involved have shared nothing but positive praise about 

the way in which Social Worker, G progressed this case. 

To H, Thank you so much everything you have done for me + my family. We would still be 

hitting a brick wall if it wasn't for all your hard work, support, determination + not giving up 

on us. 

Thank you so much for all the help and encouragement over our time together. You 

don't know what difference it made to us. 

Myself and my son have recently had the pleasure of working alongside social worker H 

from assessment team. I'd just like to thank her massively from the bottom of our hearts 

for all the guidance and support she has given myself and I over these last few weeks. 

Thank you for being there for I and always putting his needs first. He really opened up to 

H because he gained her trust instantly. Please could you forward this email on. We will 

be forever grateful, keep doing an amazing job you really are one in a million. We will 

always remember H thanks to all she's done. Thanks again. 

Thank you so much for all your help, support, understanding and your dedication to 

helping our family. It is hugely appreciated. I feel truly blessed you were the social worker 

allocated to us. I wish you good luck for your future. You truly do make a difference. 

I've just read through the report which was really good to read through.  We're so 

pleased with all the positive feedback and that is testament to your support throughout 

our first steps in foster care over the last 18months / 2 years. You're a fabulous 

[supervising social worker] that continues to support and encourage us, reading what 

you have said about us shows just how well you know us all, this is so important to us 

and gives us the confidence to continue our journey supporting the children that come 

into our care. 

Just a big thank you for getting who I am and who I could be and for being patient. I’m 

really grateful and thankful for all your help. All I can say is I got a house, my son, my life 

back and I just need my grandchildren back and I be completely happy. But again thank 

you J, I don’t know how you do a job like you do. 

  

 

9. ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2024/25 

 

Overall Reduction in Complaints  

There has been a 6.5% decrease in the total number of complaints received compared to 

the previous year. This decline reflects ongoing efforts to improve service delivery and 

communication and may indicate an increase in customer satisfaction with the quality of 

services provided by Social Services.  

 

Early Resolution of Complaints 

A notable achievement this year is the high proportion of complaints resolved at an early, 

local level. The majority of concerns were successfully addressed informally or at Stage 1 

of the Social Services Complaints Procedure, with only 5% advancing to a formal Page 121



APPENDIX 1 
independent investigation (Stage 2). This emphasises the effectiveness of early resolution 

approaches and highlights the commitment of teams to respond promptly and constructively 

to concerns. 

 

Implementation of the Most Significant Change (MSC) Approach  

This year marked the beginning of implementing the Most Significant Change (MSC) 

methodology as a tool for learning from complaints. MSC enables the collection of 

compelling narratives that illustrate meaningful change and service impact. By providing 

qualitative insights that may not be evident through traditional complaint analysis, MSC will 

enhance our understanding of service effectiveness and support more reflective, person-

centred service development.  

 

Service Improvement Through Complaint Outcomes  

During the reporting period, independent complaints investigators at Stage 2 of the 

complaints procedure issued a significant number of service improvement 

recommendations; 49 in total. This process has required closer collaboration between the 

complaints manager, operational managers, and the quality assurance officer to ensure 

these insights inform service planning and development. Additionally, quarterly thematic 

reviews of complaint trends are shared with senior leaders and service managers through 

directorate management team meetings, team managers meetings, and continuous 

improvement groups. This helps to identify recurring issues, drive targeted improvements, 

and reinforce the role of complaints as a critical mechanism for learning and continuous 

improvement. 

 

10.    OBJECTIVES FOR 2025/26 

 

Strengthening the Culture of Learning and Improvement using the Most Significant 

Change (MSC) Model 

The first objective for the year ahead is to regularly capture and reflect on the experiences 

of the people we support, as well as the outcomes of interventions and the impact of 

complaint resolutions using the MSC model. This approach fosters a culture of continuous 

learning, helps identify patterns and best practices, and enables us to adapt our services to 

reflect service users’ lived experiences, thereby improving the quality of service delivery. 

 

 

Further Develop Accessible Complaints Information 

Create complaint information in formats that are accessible to young people, individuals with 

learning difficulties, and those with hearing or visual impairments. All complaints materials 

to be available in easy read, audio, braille and child-friendly formats. Ensuring this 

information is accessible promotes inclusivity, allowing all individuals to engage fully with 

the complaints process. This builds trust and empowers a wider range of service users to 

voice their concerns, ultimately enriching the department’s understanding of diverse 

perspectives. 

 

Collaborate with the Social Care Workforce Development Programme (SCWDP) 

Link with SCWDP to ensure that training materials are readily accessible to all staff 

members. Collaborate to keep training resources current, inclusive, and available in formats 

that cater to different learning styles and roles within the department. Regularly reviewing 

and refining these materials will facilitate a consistent understanding of procedures and 
Page 122



APPENDIX 1 
responsibilities across teams, improve adherence to timescales, boost staff confidence, and 

enhance complaint handling standards and outcomes for complainants. 

 

Further Expand the Pool of Independent Investigators 

We currently share information about high-quality Investigating Officers with neighbouring 

local authorities on a reciprocal basis. This year, one of our objectives is to explore additional 

opportunities to attract qualified candidates to this role. Increasing our pool of independent 

investigators will help alleviate pressure on existing resources, support adherence to 

timelines, and ensure the provision of high-quality investigations. Enhanced investigative 

capacity will contribute to timely and consistent complaint resolutions and ensure 

investigations remain impartial. 

 

Promote a Positive Complaints Culture 

In the coming year, we aim to conduct a feedback survey to identify areas for improvement, 

streamline processes, and foster a positive attitude toward complaints as opportunities for 

learning and development. This initiative will help clarify the complaints process and the 

roles within the complaints department, reduce defensiveness, and position complaints as 

valuable opportunities for growth and service excellence, thereby improving overall morale 

and attitudes toward complaints. 

 

11.   EQUALITIES 

 

A screening for equality impact has been carried out in relation to the representation and 

complaints procedure.  There is no negative impact on the protected equality characteristics. 

 

There have been no complaints in relation to equality impacts received during the reporting 

period in relation to the Social Services Representations and Complaints Procedure.  

 

We do not currently request or record equalities information from complainants. As a result, 

we are unable to report on the proportion of complaints received from individuals with 

protected characteristics as defined under the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Report prepared for Claire Marchant  

Statutory Director of Social Services 

By the Compliments and Complaints Resolution Manager 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Meeting of:  

 
SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
11 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE  

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL & REGULATORY SERVICES, HR 

& CORPORATE POLICY 
 

 
Responsible 
Officer:  

 
MERYL LAWRENCE 

SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER – SCRUTINY 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

The work of the Overview & Scrutiny Committees relates to 
the review and development of plans, policy or strategy that 
form part of the Council’s Policy Framework and 
consideration of plans, policy or strategy relating to the 
power to promote or improve economic, social or 
environmental wellbeing in the County Borough of 
Bridgend.  

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The Council’s Constitution requires each Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to develop and implement a Forward 
Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
The Committee is asked to consider and agree its Forward 
Work Programme, identify any specific information it 
wishes to be included in and any invitees they wish to 
attend for the reports for the next two Committee meetings, 
identify any further items for consideration on the Forward 
Work Programme having regard to the criteria set out in the 
report, and consider the Recommendations Monitoring 
Action Sheet for this Committee. 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 
a) Present the Committee with the Forward Work Programme attached  as  

(Appendix A) for consideration and approval; 
 

b) Request any specific information the Committee identifies to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Request the Committee to identify whether there are presently any further items 
for consideration on the Forward Work Programme having regard to the 
selection criteria in paragraph 3.5 of this report; 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 7



 

d) Present the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet (Appendix B) to track 
responses to the Committee’s recommendations made at previous meetings; 

 

e) Advise that the Committee’s Forward Work Programme as approved will be 
reported to the next meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(COSC) for information, together with those from the other Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, following their consideration in this cycle of Committee 
meetings. 

 

2. Background  
 
2.1 The Council’s Constitution requires each Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

develop and implement a Forward Work Programme for the Committee. 
 
2.2  It also provides for the Committee to propose items for the Forward Work 

Programme having regard for the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Risk 
Management framework. Where a matter for consideration by an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee also falls within the remit of one or more other Committees, the 
decision as to which Committee will consider it will be resolved by the respective 
Chairs or, if they fail to agree, the Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
 Best Practice / Guidance 
 
2.3 The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Good Scrutiny Guide recognises 

the importance of the Forward Work Programme. In order to ‘lead and own the 
process’, it states that Councillors should have ownership of their Committee’s work 
programme, and be involved in developing, monitoring and evaluating it. The Good 
Scrutiny Guide also states that, in order to make an impact, the scrutiny workload 
should be coordinated and integrated into corporate processes, to ensure that it 
contributes to the delivery of corporate objectives, and that work can be undertaken 
in a timely and well-planned manner.  

 
2.4 Forward Work Programmes need to be manageable to maximize the effective use 

of the limited time and resources of Scrutiny Committees.  It is not possible to 
include every topic proposed.  Successful Scrutiny is about looking at the right topic 
in the right way and Members need to be selective, while also being able to 
demonstrate clear arguments for including or excluding topics.  

 
2.5    The CfGS’s guide to effective work programming ‘A Cunning Plan?’ makes the 

following reference to the importance of good work programming: 
 

‘Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. 
Done well it can help lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely 
work on issues of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done 
badly, scrutiny can end up wasting time and resources on issues where the 
impact of any work done is likely to be minimal.’ 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 126



 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 Following the approval of the schedule of Scrutiny Committee meeting dates at the 

Annual Meeting of Council on 14 May 2025, the standing statutory reports to 
Scrutiny Committees of: the Corporate Plan, the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) and Budget, Performance and Budget Monitoring, etc. have been mapped 
to the appropriate timely meeting dates into a Forward Work Programme. 

 
3.2  The Forward Work Programmes for each Scrutiny Committee have been prepared 

using a number of difference sources, including:  
 

• Corporate Risk Assessment;  

• Directorate Business Plans; 

• Previous Scrutiny Committee Forward Work Programme report topics / minutes; 

• Committee / Member proposed topics; 

• Policy Framework; 

• Cabinet Work Programme; 

• Discussions with Corporate Directors; 

• Performance Team regarding the timing of performance information.  
 

3.3 There are items where there is a statutory duty for Policy Framework documents to 
be considered by Scrutiny, e.g., the MTFS including draft budget proposals 
scheduled for consideration in January 2026, following which COSC will make 
conclusions and recommendations in a report on the overall strategic overview of 
Cabinet’s draft Budget proposals to the meeting of Cabinet in February 2026. 
 

3.4  An effective Forward Work Programme will identify the issues that the Committee 
wishes to focus on during the year and provide a clear plan.  However, at each 
meeting the Committee will have an opportunity to review this as the Forward Work 
Programme Update will be a standing item on the Agenda, detailing which items are 
scheduled for future meetings and be requested to clarify any information to be 
included in reports and the list of invitees.  The Forward Work Programme will 
remain flexible and will be reported to each COSC meeting for information. 

 
 Identification of Further Items 
 
3.5 The Committee are reminded that the Scrutiny selection criteria used by Scrutiny 

Committee Members to consider, select and prioritise items emphasises the need to 
consider issues such as impact, risk, performance, budget and community 
perception when identifying topics for investigation to maximise the impact scrutiny 
can have on a topic and the outcomes for people. The criteria which can help the 
Committee come to a decision on whether to include a referred topic, are set out 
below:  

 
 Recommended Criteria for Selecting Scrutiny Topics: 
 
 PUBLIC INTEREST:  The concerns of local people should influence the issues 

chosen for scrutiny;  
 
 ABILITY TO CHANGE:  Priority should be given to issues that the Committee 

can realistically influence, and add value to;  
 

Page 127



 

 PERFORMANCE:  Priority should be given to the areas in which the Council 
is not performing well;  

 
 EXTENT:  Priority should be given to issues that are relevant to all 

or large parts of the County Borough, or a large number 
of the Authority’s service users or its population; 

 
 REPLICATION:  Work programmes must take account of what else is 

happening in the areas being considered to avoid 
duplication or wasted effort.  

 

 Reasons to Reject Scrutiny Topics: 
 

 • The issue is already being addressed / being examined elsewhere and change is   
              imminent.  

 • The topic would be better addressed elsewhere (and can be referred there).  

 • Scrutiny involvement would have limited / no impact upon outcomes. 

 • The topic may be sub-judice or prejudicial. 

 • The topic is too broad to make a review realistic and needs refining / scoping. 

 • New legislation or guidance relating to the topic is expected within the next year.  

 • The topic area is currently subject to inspection or has recently undergone  
    substantial change / reconfiguration. 
 

Corporate Parenting 
 

3.6 Corporate Parenting is the term used to describe the responsibility of a local 
authority towards care experienced children and young people. This is a legal 
responsibility given to local authorities by the Children Act 1989 and the Children 
Act 2004. The role of the Corporate Parent is to seek for children in public care the 
outcomes every good parent would want for their own children. The Council as a 
whole is the ‘Corporate Parent’, therefore all Members have a level of responsibility 
for care experienced children and young people in Bridgend. 

 
37 In this role, it is suggested that Members consider how each item they consider 

affects care experienced children and young people, and in what way can the 
Committee assist in these areas. 
 

3.8 Scrutiny Champions can greatly support the Committee in this by advising them of 
the ongoing work of the Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting and particularly 
any decisions or changes which they should be aware of as Corporate Parents. 

 
3.9 The Forward Work Programme for the Committee is attached as Appendix A for 

the Committee’s consideration. 
 
3.10 The Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet to track responses to the 

Committee’s recommendations made at previous meetings is attached as 
Appendix B. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
    
4.1  The Protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 

Page 128



 

the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
 
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales,  

with 5 Ways of Working to guide how public services should work to deliver for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the 5 Ways of Working to achieve 
the well-being goals have been used to formulate the recommendations within this 
report: 

 

• Long-term - The approval of this report will assist in the planning of Scrutiny 
business in both the short-term and in the long-term on its policies, budget and 
service delivery. 
 

• Prevention - The early preparation of the Forward Work Programme allows for 
the advance planning of Scrutiny business where Members are provided an 
opportunity to influence and improve decisions before they are made by 
Cabinet. 

 

• Integration - The report supports all the wellbeing objectives. 
 

• Collaboration - Consultation on the content of the Forward Work Programme 
has taken place with the Corporate Management Board, Heads of Service and 
Elected Members. 

 

• Involvement - Advanced publication of the Forward Work Programme ensures 
that stakeholders can view topics that will be discussed in Committee meetings 
and are provided with the opportunity to engage. 

 

5.2  When setting its Forward Work Programme, the Committee should consider how 
each item they propose to scrutinise assists in the achievement of the Council’s 4 
Wellbeing Objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 as follows: 

 
1. A prosperous place with thriving communities 
2. Creating modern, seamless public services 
3. Enabling people to meet their potential 
4. Supporting our most vulnerable 
 
 

6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 The Committee should consider how each item they scrutinise affects climate 

change, the Council’s Net Zero Carbon 2030 target and how it meets the Council’s 
commitments to protect and sustain the environment over the long term. There are 
no Climate Change or Nature Implications arising from this report.    
 
 

Page 129



 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 The Committee should consider how each item they scrutinise affects care 

experienced children and young people, and in what way the Committee can assist 
in these areas. Safeguarding is everyone’s business and means protecting peoples’ 
health, wellbeing and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse 
and neglect. There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications arising 
from this report.    

 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1   The Committee is recommended to: 

 
a) Consider and approve the Forward Work Programme for the Committee in 

Appendix A.  
 

b) Identify any specific information the Committee wishes to be included in the 
items for the next two meetings, including invitees they wish to attend; 
 

c) Identify whether there are presently any further items for consideration on the 
Forward Work Programme having regard to the selection criteria in paragraph 
3.5 of this report. 
 

d) Note the Recommendations Monitoring Action Sheet in Appendix B to track 
outstanding responses to the Committee’s recommendations made at previous 
meetings; 
 

e) Note that the Committee’s Forward Work Programme as approved will be 
reported to the next meeting of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
information, together with those from the other Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, following their consideration in this cycle of Committee meetings. 

 
 

Background documents 
 
None.  

Page 130



APPENDIX A 
 

 

Social Services, Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
2025-26 Forward Work Programme 

 
 

Wednesday, 9 July 2025 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Regional Partnership 
Agreement 
 

Pre-Decision Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Adult Social Care; 
Group Manager – Integrated Community 
Services Manager; and 
 
External 
Regional Integrated Services Director for 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg; and  
Director, Primary Care, Community & Mental 
Health – Cwm Taf Morgannwg University 
Health Board 

 
 

Thursday 11 September 2025 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topics Any Specific Information 
Requested 

Invitees 

Social Services Annual 
Report 2024-25  
 

Pre-Decision Cabinet Member 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Social Services, Health and 
Wellbeing; 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director - Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Adult Social Care; 
Head of Children and Family Services. 
Group Manager - Prevention and Wellbeing; 
Group Manager – Commissioning; and 
Group Manager - Business Strategy, 
Performance & Improvement. 

Social Services 
Representations and 
Complaints 2024-25 

Pre-Decision Cabinet Member 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Social Services, Health and 
Wellbeing; 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director - Social Services and 
Wellbeing. 

 

Page 131



APPENDIX A 
 

 

Thursday, 25 September 2025 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Care Inspectorate 
Wales Fostering 
Service Inspection - 
June 2025  
 
and  
 
Care Inspectorate 
Wales Improvement 
Check of Children and 
Family Services - June 
2025  
 

CIW to present the Improvement 
Check report to the Committee. 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Children and Family Services; 
Deputy Head of Children and Family 
Services; 
 
External 
Representatives from Care Inspectorate 
Wales 

 
 

Thursday, 6 November 2025 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Annual Corporate 
Safeguarding Report 
2024-25 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Adult Social Care; 
Head of Children and Family Services; 
Group Manager – Information, Advice and 
Assistance and Safeguarding;  
Team Manager – Older People Mental 
Health; and 
Education and Community Safety Leads 

Community Hubs 
Strategy  
 
 
 
 

Including Libraries post 
consultation. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Group Manager – Prevention and Wellbeing;  
 
External 
Chief Executive – Awen 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 132



APPENDIX A 
 

 

Thursday, 4 December 2025 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Halo, Leisure 
Arrangements and 
Wellbeing 
 

Including plans and various 
programmes provided e.g. 
carer’s offer. 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Group Manager – Prevention and Wellbeing;  
 
External 
Active Communities Manager – Halo Leisure  

 
 

Thursday, 12 March 2026 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Assisted Transport 
Policy Implementation 
Progress 
 
 
Learning Disability 
Transformation 
Programme Progress 
 
 

Post implementation progress 
report 
 
 
 
Post implementation progress 
report 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Adult Social Care; 
Policy Officer – Social Care; 
 
External 
Representatives from People First 

 
 

Monday, 27 April 2026 at 10.00am 
 

Report Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Provision of 
Accommodation Based 
Regulated Support 
Services in Bridgend 

Post implementation progress 
report 
 
To include information setting out 
the provision of accommodation 
based regulated support services 
in Bridgend to include the 
following: 
 
a. whether they are private, 

public or charity sector;  
b. how staff are contracted; and  
c. the ownership of the 

buildings. 
 

Cabinet Member  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 
 
Officers  
Corporate Director – Social Services and 
Wellbeing;  
Head of Adult Social Care. 

Page 133



APPENDIX A 
 

 

 
Briefings and Workshops: 

 

Topic Information Required / 
Committee’s Role 

Invitees 

Overview – Social 
Services & Wellbeing 
Directorate / Social 
Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 

Attendance from:  
Corporate Director – Social 
Services and Wellbeing 
Head of Adult Social Care 
Head of Children and Family 
Services 
Group Manager – Prevention 
and Wellbeing 

To be scheduled.  

The Replacement 
System for 
CareDirector (WCCIS) 
 

The Committee requested a 
briefing on COR-2024-01 on the 
Corporate Risk Assessment: The 
threat to business continuity if 
the Council is unable to procure 
and implement major ICT 
systems which support critical 
services such as a replacement 
system for CareDirector 
(WCCIS). CareDirector is a 
Cloud-based case management 
solution for social care 
organisations that supports 
integrated working across health 
and social care. 

Members and officers for the Briefing and 
Workshop – TBD.   
 
To be scheduled in early 2026 in 
partnership with IT.  

Use of Artificial 
Intelligence within 
Social Services and 
Wellbeing Directorate 

The Committee recommended 
that there be an all Member 
briefing on the use of artificial 
intelligence within the Social 
Services and Wellbeing 
Directorate and how it is 
envisaged it could safely aid a 
reduction in staff numbers. 

This will form part of the Digital Strategy 
which will be reported to the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Pre-
Decision.  
 
To be scheduled after the Digital Strategy 
has been considered at COSC.  

 
Items to be Scheduled to the Committee’s Forward Work Programme 

 
• Support for Care Leavers (including input from Employability and Housing)  

 

(Will be a joint report between Social Services, Health and Wellbeing and the 

Communities and Housing Directorates) 

 

• Regional Partnership Agreement Progress Update (12 months from July 2025) 

Page 134



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Social Services, Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS MONITORING ACTION SHEET 2025-2026 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee reiterated their 
recommendation made on 1 May 2025, 
expressing concern at the number of 
acronyms being used within reports 
causing a barrier to full understanding of 
reports and terms included. and   
recommended that future reports 
contain a glossary of abbreviations to 
assist the Committee and the public. In 
addition, the Committee recommended 
that reports should be written in plain 
English avoiding unnecessarily complex 
language. 

Scrutiny / 
Corporate 
Director -Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee expressed concern 
regarding the number of levels of 
governance set out in Figure 2 of the 
Agreement highlighting how it would 
involve multiple meetings of the same 
people and recommended that 
consideration be given to reducing the 
levels and, in particular, the removal of 
the Integrated Leadership Board.  
 
However, given that the service user 
voice could be lost if the Integrated 
Leadership Board level of governance 

Regional 
Integrated 
Services 
Director for Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg 
 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

P
age 135

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf


APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

was removed, the Committee 
recommended that this be picked up in 
another level of governance. 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee expressed concern that 
despite reliance on other stakeholders, 
there appeared to be little reference to 
third sector and voluntary organisations 
in the Agreement and were advised of 
the possible challenges of obtaining 
funding without reference being made to 
them. The Committee therefore 
recommended that third sector and 
voluntary organisations be fully 
described in the Agreement. 

Regional 
Integrated 
Services 
Director for Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg 
 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee expressed concern that 
‘Outcomes’ had been replaced with 
‘Output’ in the Outcomes and 
Performance and Measurement 
Framework (Appendix 1) and 
recommended that this be addressed 
to provide clearer understanding. 

Regional 
Integrated 
Services 
Director for Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg 
 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee acknowledged the 
innovative and transformational work 
taking place in the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Directorate and that the 
Community Resource Team’s delivery 
model was being replicated as best 
practice across the other local 
authorities within the region and 
recommended that correspondence be 

Scrutiny/Chair ACTIONED -  
 
Letter sent on 2 
September 2025.  

Complete 

P
age 136

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf


APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

sent to the Corporate Director 
recognising the work thanking her and 
her team. 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee requested that 
information regarding the Members 
information day being arranged by the 
Regional Partnership highlighting the 
regional working arrangements be 
shared with Members once arranged. 

Corporate 
Director -Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

Members requested that the 
PowerPoint slides and the video shared 
with the Committee during the meeting 
be shared with Members. 

Corporate 
Director -Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Complete 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee requested the case 
studies demonstrating hospital 
avoidance in cases of complex needs 
and safeguarding concerns referred to 
by the Group Manager – Integrated 
Community Services – Community 
Networks. 

Group Manager 
– Integrated 
Community 
Services – 
Community 
Networks 
 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Regional Partnership 
Agreement 

The Committee requested detail of the 
membership of the Integrated 
Leadership Board. 

Regional 
Integrated 
Services 
Director for Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg 

ACTIONED – 
response and 
information 
circulated 4 
September 2025. 
 

Follow link here 

9 Jul 25 Forward Work 
Programme Update  

The Committee requested that the 
Regional Partnership Agreement be 

Scrutiny/Chair 
of Committee 

Scrutiny to action in 
Work Planning 

Complete 

P
age 137

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s35930/SSHWBOSC9JulyResponsestoRecommendationsandRequestsforInformation.docx.pdf


APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

added to their Forward Work 
Programme for review after 12 months. 

Meetings with the 
Chair and Corporate 
Director. Item added 
to the Committee’s 
Forward Work 
Programme. 

 

P
age 138



APPENDIX B 

 
 

Social Services, Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS MONITORING ACTION SHEET 2024-2025 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

8 Jul 24 Building on Strengths, 
Improving Lives - A 
Three- Year Plan for 
Sustainable Care and 
Support for Adults in 
Bridgend County 
Borough Council 

The Committee requested that Members 
receive information about the BAVO 
consultation exercise by email. 

Scrutiny / 
Corporate 
Director -Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

The Head of Adult 
Social Care met 
with the Chief 
Executive Officer of 
BAVO as part of his 
induction on 22nd 
July.  Particular 
areas of focus will 
be to ensure an 
effective interface 
between BCBC’s 
prevention and 
wellbeing offer and 
third sector 
community services.   
 

Complete 

1 May 25 Early Help, Prevention 
and Edge of Care 

The Committee expressed concern that 
early intervention services may not be 
prioritised as they are non-statutory and 
recommended that a letter be written to 
the Welsh Government (and copied to 
the local Senedd Members) setting out 
the following: 
 
a. that Early Help and prevention are 
central to the Council’s strategy of 

Scrutiny/Chair 
of SOSC 2 

ACTIONED: 
 
Response and 
information 
circulated 22 August 
2025. 
 

Follow link here 

P
age 139

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1005&ID=1005&RPID=62370995


APPENDIX B 

 
 

Date of 

Meeting 

Agenda Item Action Responsibility Outcome Response 

supporting and protecting the most 
vulnerable in our community; 
b. that it would present a corporate risk 
to the Authority if such services are not 
sufficiently funded; and 
c. highlighting the impact: 
i) of late notification and retrospective 
grant funding on financial and workforce 
planning;  
ii) on grant funded staff on rolling annual 
contracts; and  
iii) of the lack of inflationary uplift on 
budgetary pressures and workforce 
funding. 

1 May 25 Care Inspectorate 
Wales Inspection of 
Bridgend County 
Borough Council’s 
Regulated Services in 
Adult Social Care 

The Committee expressed concern 
about the lack of clarity regarding the 
responsibility for meeting the cost of 
national insurance contributions for 
employees of commissioned services 
and recommended that a letter be 
written to the Welsh Government to 
request a clear indication of whether or 
not these contributions will be met by 
additional funding in the Authority’s 
settlement or whether this will be an 
additional cost pressure to Bridgend. 

Scrutiny ACTIONED: 
 
Response and 
information 
circulated 22 August 
2025. 
 

Follow link here 

 

P
age 140

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1005&ID=1005&RPID=62370995

	Agenda
	ourref1
	yourref1

	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Adroddiad Blynyddol Drafft y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 2024-25
	4a - Appendix 1 - Social Services Annual Report 2024-25

	5 Adroddiad Blynyddol Sylwadau a Chwynion Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 2024-25
	5a - Social Services Representations and Complaints Annual Report 2024-25

	7 Diweddariad ar Raglen Waith
	7a - Appendix A - FWP SSHWB OSC
	7bi - Appendix B - Action Sheet SSHWB OSC 2025-2026
	7bii - Appendix B - Action Sheet SSHWB OSC - 2024-25




